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Letter from the CEO

Ola Killenius
Chairman of the Board of Management
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG

Dear Shareholders,

the year 2023 was characterized by challenging geo-
political developments and volatile markets. We were
able to assert ourselves strongly in this environment.
This is also reflected in our balance sheet. We also
continued to make progress in the implementation of
our strategy.

Our company has shown that we can achieve solid
financial results even under difficult conditions. In 2023
sales of all-electric cars of the Mercedes-Benz brand
increased by 73%. The proportion of electrified vehicles
in total car sales was 20%. Mercedes-Benz Group AG
has also initiated important projects to expand the
charging infrastructure in our core markets. The direct
sales model was rolled out in additional markets. Fol-
lowing the introduction of our conditionally automated
driver assistance system in the United States, we also
received approval to test the technology for motorway
use in Beijing. Moreover, we were able to achieve
another significant part of our targeted reduction in
fixed costs.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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These successful developments are also reflected in our
annual results. Our revenue amounted to €153 billion.
However, EBIT fell by 4% to €19.7 billion. Our net
liquidity in the industrial business was €31.7 billion.

The bottom line was a net profit of €14.5 billion.

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board
will recommend a dividend of €5.30 per share to the
Annual General Meeting.

These figures are the result of the exceptional commit-
ment of our employees. Without their dedication and
ability the successes of the year 2023 would not have
been possible. The thanks of the entire Board of Man-
agement goes to all of our colleagues.

Looking ahead, what topics are on our agenda?

We want to take our customers’ brand experience to
the next level. To this end, we are redesigning our
showrooms all over the world. We are also expanding
our global network of exclusive locations, through
which we want to make our brands even more tangible.
To ensure maximum convenience and full transparency
for car purchasing, we are continuing to roll out our
direct sales model. For an outstanding product
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experience with electric vehicles, the charging infra-
structure is crucial. That’s why we are building our own
fast-charging network. We want to install more than
10,000 charging points in our core markets by the end
of the decade. The aim of all these measures is to fulfil
our brand promise at all points of contact with our
customers and create special Mercedes moments.

In our view, our most important task is to build the
world’s most desirable vehicles. The focus is on the

upper end of the segments in which we are represented.

That’s why we are taking targeted steps to strengthen
our portfolio in 2024. The premiere of our electric
G-Class will be a highlight. We are also launching the
Maybach version of the EQS SUV in key markets. At
AMG, we are presenting further variants of our new top-
of-the-line AMG GT model. And at Mercedes-Benz, we
are further enhancing the substance of our electric cars
in the luxury segment in areas ranging from efficiency
and comfort to design.

The pace of the transformation to electric mobility is
determined by market conditions and our customers’
requirements. We will be prepared for every kind of
market scenario. The motto for the production of our
vehicles with combustion engines is “tactical flexibility”.
When it comes to electric mobility, our strategic course
is to create the preconditions for becoming all-electric.

Combined Management Report
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We have laid the foundations for this course. The devel-
opment of multiple new vehicle platforms is in full
swing. This will take our electric cars and vans to the
next level. We will start in the entry-level segment in
2025 with the new electric CLA. This will set new stand-
ards in terms of range, efficiency and charging speed.
At the same time, our own operating system MB.OS will
celebrate its premiere. Thus we will also reach an
important milestone in terms of software. Our custom-
ers can now look forward to an even more natural, more
personal and more extensive interaction with their
Mercedes-Benz.

In 2023 we made our company even more resilient and
achieved significant strategic progress. In addition,

we can build on an outstanding brand and a powerful
team. All of these are excellent prerequisites for our
ongoing promotion of the profitable, all-electric and
software-driven future of Mercedes-Benz. We would be
delighted to have you accompany us on this journey.

Sincerely yours,

Ola Kallenius
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The Board of Management

Ola Kallenius Dr Jorg Burzer Renata Jungo Briingger Sabine Kohleisen
Chairman of the Board of Management Production, Quality & Integrity, Governance & Sustainability Human Relations & Labour Director
Appointed until May 2029 Supply Chain Management Appointed until December 2025 Appointed until November 2025

Appointed until November 2029

Markus Schafer Britta Seeger Hubertus Troska Harald Wilhelm
Chief Technology Officer, Marketing & Sales Greater China Finance & Controlling/
Development & Procurement Appointed until December 2029 Appointed until December 2025 Mercedes-Benz Mobility
Appointed until May 2026 Appointed until March 2027

@ Further information on the members of the Board of Management of Mercedes-Benz Group AG


https://group.mercedes-benz.com/company/corporate-governance/board-of-management/
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Dr Ing. e.h. Dipl.-Ing. Bernd Pischetsrieder
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG

Dear Shareholders,

2023 was a year full of challenges for Mercedes-Benz
Group and the entire automotive industry. The market
environment was demanding, and a large number of
external factors influenced the economy, presenting
employees with complex tasks.

Against this backdrop, the past year has clearly proven
that the true strength of a team only becomes apparent
when the headwinds increase. The team at Mercedes-
Benz Group has once again proven that it is one of the
best and I would like to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all employees for their out-
standing commitment and dedication.

In 2024, the company will continue to drive the trans-
formation in line with its sustainable business strategy.
Whether equipped with a all-electric drivetrain or a
combustion engine — Mercedes-Benz Group is commit-
ted to offering its customers the most desirable cars

in the world. And I am convinced that such cars will
continue to be recognized by the Mercedes star in the
future.

Consolidated Financial Statements

9

Further Information

Supervisory and advisory activities

of the Supervisory Board

In the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG again performed, in full, the
duties incumbent upon it by law, the articles of associa-
tion and the rules of procedure.

In this context, the Supervisory Board continuously
advised and monitored the Board of Management in
the management of the company and provided support
on strategically important issues for the further devel-
opment of the company.

The Supervisory Board reviewed whether the individual
company and Consolidated Financial Statements,

the Combined Management Report including the Non-

Financial Declaration and the other financial reporting

complied with the applicable requirements.

Furthermore, after careful review and consultation, it
approved numerous business transactions subject to its
consent. This related in particular to the approval of

the establishment of a Europe-wide high-performance
charging network under the Mercedes-Benz brand. It
also included financial and investment planning, product
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projects, cooperation projects and the conclusion of
contracts of particular importance to the company.

The Board of Management informed the Supervisory
Board about a large number of other measures and
business transactions and discussed them intensively
and in detail with the Supervisory Board; for example,
the effects on the company of supply bottlenecks for
certain battery systems as well as the initiated counter-
measures.

The Board of Management regularly informed the
Supervisory Board about all significant business devel-
opments of the Group and the divisions. During the
reporting period, it kept the Supervisory Board continu-
ously informed about all fundamental issues regarding
corporate planning, including financial, investment,
sales and personnel planning; current developments at
Group companies; the development of revenue; the sit-
uation of the company and the divisions; the economic
and political environment; and the current status and
assessment of significant legal proceedings. In addition,
the Board of Management continuously reported to the
Supervisory Board on the profitability and liquidity situ-
ation of the company, the development of sales and
procurement markets, the overall economic situation
and developments on the capital markets and in the
financial services sector. Other topics included the fur-
ther development of the product portfolio, securing
the long-term competitiveness of the company and the
further implementation of measures to ensure sustaina-
ble, future-oriented mobility. The Supervisory Board
also dealt in detail with the political developments and
conflicts in the main sales markets and the reaction to

Combined Management Report
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them in terms of business policy, the shareholder struc-
ture, the share-price development and its background,
as well as the expected effects of the strategic projects
on the share-price development.

Working culture and areas of

Supervisory Board activity

In the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board held
seven meetings. Six meetings were held in person, with
the option of participation in virtual form or via tele-
phone, and one meeting was held as a video confer-
ence. Meeting attendance by the members was at a
very high level, as can be seen in the detailed overview
at the end of this report. The work of the Supervisory
Board was characterized by open and intensive dia-
logue. The members of the Supervisory Board regularly
prepared for upcoming resolutions using documents
provided in advance by the Board of Management. The
employee and shareholder representatives also regu-
larly prepared the meetings in separate discussions,
which were also attended by members of the Board of
Management. In addition, the Supervisory Board was
supported in depth by its Committees. At the meetings
of the Supervisory Board, its members discussed the
measures and transactions to be resolved in detail with
the Board of Management. Executive sessions were
regularly scheduled for the meetings so that topics
could be discussed also in the absence of the Board of
Management.

The Supervisory Board was informed of special events
outside the regular meetings. In addition, some
members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Management held bilateral meetings to exchange views.
The Board of Management also informed the Super-
visory Board of the key indicators of the business
development and of existing risks by means of written
reports.

The members of the Supervisory Board assume respon-
sibility for their training and further education measures
in areas such as changes in the legal framework and
new, forward-looking technologies that are required for
the performance of their tasks and are supported in this
by the company. In the reporting period, for example,
the company held information events on sustainable
corporate governance and sustainability reporting as
well as on the Mercedes-Benz operating system MB.OS.
Both internal and external experts were involved in
these events. In addition, new members of the Supervi-
sory Board have the opportunity to meet the members
of the Board of Management and senior executives with
specialist responsibility in a specifically designated
onboarding programme for a bilateral exchange on fun-
damental and current topics in respect of the relevant
areas of the Board of Management, thus gaining an
overview of the topics relevant to the company and of
the governance structure. ESG (environmental, social
and governance) and sustainability-related thematic
blocks are also an integral part of this programme. Fur-
thermore, the members of the Supervisory Board are
regularly informed about the regulatory environment
relevant to their work on the Supervisory Board and
other legal developments affecting them.
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At its meeting on 16 February 2023, the Supervisory
Board was first informed about the current financial
status, volumes and prices of the vehicle clusters in the
current and future Mercedes-Benz Cars portfolio. In the
presence of representatives of the auditor, the Supervi-
sory Board then discussed the preliminary key figures of
the 2022 company and Consolidated Financial State-
ments as well as the preliminary proposal to the 2023
Annual General Meeting for the appropriation of profits
and noted them with approval. The Supervisory Board
determined that there were no objections to their publi-
cation. The preliminary key figures for the 2022 financial
year and the preliminary proposal for the appropriation
of profits were published at the annual press confer-
ence on 17 February 2023. The Supervisory Board also
passed resolutions relating to a number of other meas-
ures subject to its approval. To optimize the capital
structure, the Supervisory Board approved the Board of
Management’s plan to buy back up to €4 billion worth
of the company’s own shares via the stock exchange
over a period of up to two years and subsequently can-
cel them. This was done on the basis of the authoriza-
tion granted by the Annual General Meeting on 8 July
2020. In addition, the Board of Management provided
information on the status of the fulfilment of the settle-
ment in connection with diesel emissions agreed with
the US authorities. Moreover, the body dealt with the
remuneration of the Board of Management on the basis
of the remuneration system to be approved by the
Annual General Meeting.

At the meeting on 13 March 2023, the Supervisory
Board discussed the Annual Financial Statements, the

Combined Management Report
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Consolidated Financial Statements and the Combined
Management Report, including the Non-Financial Dec-
laration for the 2022 financial year of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG and the Group, each of which had been
issued with an unqualified audit opinion by the auditor,
as well as the Declaration on Corporate Governance,
the Remuneration report, and the proposal for the
appropriation of profits. The members of the Supervi-
sory Board were provided with extensive documenta-
tion for their preparation.

The Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board
reviewed these documents in detail and discussed
them intensively in the presence of the auditors, who
reported on the results of their audit and also
addressed the key audit matters and the relevant audit
procedures, including the conclusions drawn, and were
available for additional questions and information.
Following the final result of the review by the Audit
Committee and its own review, the Supervisory Board
concurred with the result of the audit by the auditor.

It determined that there were no objections to be
raised and adopted the Annual Financial Statements
prepared by the Board of Management and the Com-
bined Management Report, including the Non-Financial
Declaration. The 2022 company financial statements of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG were thus adopted. On this
basis, the Supervisory Board endorsed the proposal of
the Board of Management for the appropriation of dis-
tributable profits. The Supervisory Board also adopted
the Report of the Supervisory Board, the Declaration on
Corporate Governance and the Remuneration Report,
as well as its proposed resolutions on the agenda items

Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the 2023 Annual General Meeting. In order to meet
the expectations of investors to improve shareholder
participation, it was decided, among other things,

to again publish a letter from the Supervisory Board
Chairman to shareholders concerning a number of gov-
ernance issues in the run-up to the Annual General
Meeting.

At its meeting on 28 April 2023, the Supervisory Board
received reports on the supply situation for certain bat-
tery systems and the measures that were taken. The
Board of Management also provided information on the
positive reactions to the company’s ESG conference for
investors and analysts, which was held on 30 March
2023. The Supervisory Board also received a status
update on vehicle IT security and discussed findings
from cyber incidents at other commercial enterprises.
The Chief Officer Corporate Data Protection also
reported on the Data Compliance Management System,
the opportunities and risks of using artificial intelli-
gence and dealing with digital risks. The Supervisory
Board then discussed ESG management within the
company in detail, in particular the further integration
of sustainability into the company’s structures and core
processes. The Supervisory Board subsequently
approved the development of a wind farm project as
part of a power purchase agreement at the test site in
Papenburg in northern Germany. Finally, the Supervi-
sory Board also discussed current legal issues.
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At the virtual Annual General Meeting on 3 May 2023,
the candidate proposed by the Supervisory Board, Ste-
fan Pierer, was elected to the Supervisory Board as a
shareholder representative. At the subsequent Supervi-
sory Board meeting, I proposed to the Supervisory
Board, in the interests of long-term, orderly succession
planning, that Dr Martin Brudermdiller be elected Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board after my term of office
expires at the end of the Annual General Meeting in
2024. Ergun Lumali was confirmed as Deputy Chairman
of the Supervisory Board. This was done in view of the
election of employee representatives that was held
before the 2023 Annual General Meeting. In addition,
elections were held to fill vacancies on the committees
of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board held another meeting at the end
of July 2023. At this meeting, the Supervisory Board and
the Board of Management discussed in detail the
course of business and the results of the first half of
the year. In addition, the body decided to adjust the
remuneration of the Board of Management on the basis
of the remuneration system approved by the Annual
General Meeting. Moreover, the Supervisory Board was
informed about current legal issues and the status of
the fulfilment of the settlement in connection with die-
sel emissions agreed with the US authorities.

Combined Management Report
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Strategy meeting of the Supervisory Board

At the start of the two-day strategy meeting on

27/28 September 2023, the Supervisory Board was
informed about the current situation of the company.
As part of the ESG reporting, the Board of Management
then reported on overarching topics, the latest devel-
opments, objectives and selected key topics related to

wEn o«

E” “S” and “G”. The Supervisory Board also decided on
product projects and an investment project subject to
its approval. The meeting focused on the company’s
strategy and, in particular, its implementation. Topics
discussed included the product and innovation strategy,
offering a holistic customer experience along the entire
customer journey, transforming and empowering the
workforce for the future and securing industrial com-
petitiveness. With the involvement of the responsible
executives, the members of the Supervisory Board and
the Board of Management discussed in a constructive
and open dialogue how the Mercedes-Benz Group will
adapt to new challenges and which opportunities are to
be exploited. Sustainability-related aspects, such as
challenges in the implementation of human rights due
diligence in the supply chains for production materials,
were an integral part of the discussions. The capital
market perspective was also taken into account.

By way of resolution with the aid of other customary
means of communication, on 23 October 2023 the
Supervisory Board approved the Board of Manage-
ment’s plans to establish a Europe-wide high-perfor-
mance charging network under the Mercedes-Benz
brand.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Corporate planning meeting

(Mercedes-Benz business planning)

At the meeting on 13 December 2023, the Supervisory
Board discussed and approved the Mercedes-Benz
business planning on the basis of comprehensive docu-
mentation and discussed existing opportunities and
risks in connection therewith. The agenda also included
the Board of Management’s report on the current finan-
cial status, volumes and prices of the vehicle clusters in
the current and future Mercedes-Benz Cars portfolio
and the Supervisory Board’s resolution on several
measures subject to its approval. The body also dis-
cussed the Board of Management’s report on the devel-
opment of current and completed acquisitions and
collaborations and was informed about the results of
the employee survey conducted in 2023. Other topics
discussed at the meeting included remuneration issues,
corporate governance matters and legal issues.

Corporate governance and declaration

of compliance

During the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board
continuously addressed the standards of good corpo-
rate governance.

In order to take account of the constantly growing com-
plexity and increasing legal relevance of sustainabili-
ty-related issues and to create a central point of con-
tact for all relevant stakeholders, the Supervisory Board
decided in July 2023 to establish a cross-divisional
steering and coordination function for sustainability
management in the company at the Board of Manage-
ment level. Renata Jungo Brliingger took over
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responsibility for this on 1 August 2023, and her division
has since been designated Integrity, Governance & Sus-
tainability (previously: Integrity & Legal). Responsibility
for the management of division-specific sustainability
issues remains with the respective Board of Manage-
ment divisions.

In my function as Chairman of the Supervisory Board,

I held discussions with investors and proxy advisors on
Supervisory Board-specific topics such as Board of
Management remuneration and the work and composi-
tion of the Supervisory Board and its committees as
part of the investor dialogue in the run-up to the Annual
General Meeting.

In December 2023, the Supervisory Board adopted the
regular 2023 declaration of compliance. With the
exceptions explained there, all recommendations of the
Code have been and are being complied with.

In the interests of good corporate governance, the
members of the Supervisory Board of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG are required to disclose to the Supervisory
Board as a whole any conflicts of interest, in particular
those that could arise as a result of an advisory or
board function with customers, suppliers or lenders of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG or other third parties.

There were no indications of actual conflicts of interest
during the 2023 financial year.

The Supervisory Board regularly assesses how effec-
tively the Supervisory Board and its committees

Combined Management Report
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perform their duties. In the reporting period, a compre-
hensive self-assessment of the Supervisory Board and
its committees took place with the involvement of an
external consultant on the basis of an extensive ques-
tionnaire and additional interviews carried out. The
Board of Management’s perspective was also included
in this assessment. The results of the audit, which the
Supervisory Board dealt with extensively at its meeting
on 21 February 2024, confirm that the members of the
Supervisory Board cooperate very effectively and pro-
fessionally with one another and with the Board of
Management and do so on a basis of great trust.

The Audit Committee also conducted a self-evaluation
of its activities on the basis of a comprehensive compa-
ny-specific questionnaire in 2023. The positive results
of this self-assessment were presented and discussed
at the Audit Committee meeting on 21 February 2024.

German Act on the Equal Participation of Women
and Men in Leadership Positions

For supervisory boards of listed companies subject to
codetermination and equal representation of share-
holders and employees on the supervisory board, such
as that of Mercedes-Benz Group AG, the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG) prescribes a mandatory gender
quota of at least 30%. The quota is to be met by the
Supervisory Board as a whole.

As at 31 December 2023, women make up 30% of the
shareholder side of the Supervisory Board of Mercedes-
Benz Group AG (Liz Centoni, Dame Polly Courtice and
Professor Dr Helene Svahn), while the remaining 70%

Consolidated Financial Statements
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are men. On the employee side, Nadine Boguslawski,
Gabriela Neher and Monika Tielsch make up 30%
women and the remaining 70% are men. Thus the
Supervisory Board as a whole also fulfils the statutory
quota.

At its meeting on 13 December 2023, the Supervisory
Board decided on the recommendation of the Nomina-
tion Committee, to propose to the 2024 Annual General
Meeting that Dr Doris Hopke be elected to the Supervi-
sory Board for the first time. If the proposed female
candidate is elected, the proportion of women on the
shareholder side will increase to 40%. The statutory
gender quota would remain fulfilled both on the share-
holder side and for the Supervisory Board as a whole.

On 3 December 2020, the Supervisory Board set a tar-
get for the proportion of women on the Board of Man-
agement of at least 25% by 31 December 2025. Since
August 2022, a legally mandated minimum participation
requirement must be complied with when appointing
members of the Board of Management. This require-
ment stipulates that at least one woman (and at least
one man) must be a member of the Board of Manage-
ment in listed companies with parity participation and
more than three members on the Board of Management.
Companies that are subject to the minimum proportion
requirement are no longer obliged to set a target quota
for the proportion of women on the board of manage-
ment. Nevertheless, within the framework of the overall
requirements profile for appointments to the Board of
Management, the Supervisory Board has decided to go
beyond the stipulations of the minimum proportion
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requirement and maintain the target quota for the pro-
portion of women on the Board of Management that
was set in 2020. As at 31 December 2023, three of the
eight members of the Board of Management are
women: Renata Jungo Briingger, Sabine Kohleisen and
Britta Seeger. The proportion of women on the Board of
Management is now 37.5%, which means it exceeds the
target that was set.

Corporate governance at the Mercedes-Benz Group is
explained in detail in the Declaration on Corporate Gov-
ernance.

Work in the committees

The Presidential Committee held four meetings in the
past financial year. Two of the meetings were held in
person and two meetings were held as video confer-
ences. In particular, the Committee discussed person-
nel matters and succession planning for appointments
to the Board of Management. Furthermore, the Presi-
dential Committee discussed the acceptance by mem-
bers of the Board of Management of board positions at
other companies and institutions, corporate govern-
ance issues, D&O insurance and remuneration issues.

The Audit Committee held six meetings in the year
2023. Five meetings were held in person, with the
option of participation in virtual form or via telephone,
and one meeting was held as a video conference. Fur-
ther details of the Audit Committee’s work can be found
in the Report of the Audit Committee.

Combined Management Report
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The Legal Affairs Committee held four meetings in the
year 2023. One meeting was held in person, with the
option of participation in virtual form or via telephone,
and three meetings were held as video conferences. In
those meetings, the Committee was informed in detail
about legal matters relating to emissions and cartels
and discussed these matters in the presence of the
legal advisers of the Supervisory Board. It discussed
the continuing further development of the technical
compliance management system, also with respect to
future technologies. The Committee received reports on
the progress of the review of potential responsibilities
in connection with diesel emissions and anti-trust mat-
ters from the legal advisers engaged for this purpose by
the Supervisory Board. The Committee regularly
reported to the Supervisory Board on its work and, after
discussing and weighing the relevant aspects, made
recommendations for resolutions to the Supervisory
Board, taking the Group’s best interests into account.
The Committee also discussed the risks of a limitation
of possible liability and took appropriate measures in
the cases in point. As part of the settlement reached
with the US authorities in connection with diesel emis-
sions, the Committee was assigned specific tasks and
decision-making competences with regard to the fulfil-
ment of the obligations assumed in the settlement. The
Committee also fulfilled these tasks in full and with
great care.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings in the

2023 financial year, both of them as video conferences.
The Committee specifically considered the recommen-
dations for the proposals of the Supervisory Board to

Consolidated Financial Statements
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the Annual General Meeting regarding the election of
shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board.
In this context, it was guided by the interests of the
company, taking all circumstances of the individual
case into account, and striving to fulfil the overall pro-
file of requirements, along with the diversity concept
and competence profile for the entire Supervisory
Board.

During the reporting period, there was no reason to
convene the Mediation Committee.

Changes in the Supervisory Board and

the Board of Management

Several members of the Board of Management were
reappointed in the course of the financial year. The
reappointment periods are in line with the Supervisory
Board’s guidelines on the appointment and reappoint-
ment of members of the Board of Management.

At its meeting on 16 February 2023, the Supervisory
Board appointed Renata Jungo Briingger as a member
of the Board of Management of Mercedes-Benz

Group AG with effect from 1 January 2024 for a further
one-year term.

At the virtual Annual General Meeting on 3 May 2023,
the candidate proposed by the Supervisory Board on
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee,
Stefan Pierer, was elected to the Supervisory Board.
Sari Baldauf on the shareholder side and Michael Brecht
and Elke Tonjes-Werner on the employee side left the
Supervisory Board at the end of the Annual General
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Meeting. In the elections of employee representatives
held prior to the Annual General Meeting, Gabriela
Neher and Michael Peters were elected as members of
the Supervisory Board for the first time, in addition to
the re-elected employee representatives, with effect
from the end of the Annual General Meeting. In the
Supervisory Board meeting that followed the Annual
General Meeting, Ergun Limali was confirmed as Dep-
uty Chairman of the Supervisory Board and thus Deputy
Chairman of the Mediation and Presidential Commit-
tees. Elections were also held for other committee
appointments.

At the Supervisory Board meeting on 27 July 2023, Ola
Kallenius was reappointed as Chairman of the Board of
Management for a further five years with effect from

22 May 2024 and Markus Schafer was reappointed as
Chief Technology Officer, Development & Procurement
in line with the Supervisory Board’s guidelines on the
appointment and reappointment of members of the
Board of Management for another two years, also with
effect from 22 May 2024. In December 2023, the
Supervisory Board decided to appoint Sabine Kohleisen
as a member of the Board of Management responsible
for Human Resources and Labour Director in line with
the Supervisory Board’s guidelines on the appointment
and reappointment of members of the Board of Man-
agement for a further year with effect from 1 December
2024 and Dr Jorg Burzer as a member of the Board of
Management responsible for Production, Quality & Sup-
ply Chain Management for a further five years, also with
effect from 1 December 2024. At the meeting of the
Supervisory Board on 21 February 2024, Britta Seeger

Combined Management Report
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was appointed as a member of the Board of Manage-
ment with responsibility for Marketing & Sales with
effect from 1 January 2025 for a further five-year term
and Renata Jungo Briingger as a member of the Board
of Management with responsibility for Integrity, Govern-
ance & Sustainability with effect from 1 January 2025 in
line with the Supervisory Board’s guidelines on the
appointment and reappointment of members of the
Board of Management for a further one-year term.

Audit of the individual company and Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Annual Financial Statements of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG and the Combined Management Report for
Mercedes-Benz Group AG and the Group for 2023 were
duly audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungs-
gesellschaft, Berlin, and issued with an unqualified
audit opinion. This also applies to the 2023 Consoli-
dated Financial Statements compiled in accordance
with IFRS.

In a meeting of the Supervisory Board on 21 February
2024, the preliminary key figures of the 2023 company
and Consolidated Financial Statements as well as the
preliminary proposal to the 2024 Annual General Meet-
ing for the appropriation of profits were discussed and
noted with approval in the presence of representatives
of the auditor. The Supervisory Board determined that
there were no objections to their publication. The pre-
liminary key figures for the 2023 financial year and the
preliminary proposal for the appropriation of profits
were published at the annual press conference on

22 February 2024. In the same meeting, the Supervisory

Consolidated Financial Statements

15

Further Information

Board also approved the further share buyback pro-
gramme proposed by the Board of Management.

In March 2024, the Supervisory Board discussed the
Annual Financial Statements, the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements and the Combined Management Report,
including the Non-Financial Declaration for Mercedes-
Benz Group AG and the Group as well as the Declara-
tion on Corporate Governance, the Remuneration
report, and the proposal for the appropriation of profits.

The members of the Supervisory Board were provided
with extensive documentation for their preparation,
including the Annual Report with the Consolidated
Financial Statements compiled in accordance with IFRS,
the Combined Management Report including the
Non-Financial Declaration for Mercedes-Benz Group AG
and the Group, as well as the Declaration on Corporate
Governance, the Remuneration report, the Annual
Financial Statements of Mercedes-Benz Group AG, the
proposal of the Board of Management for the appropri-
ation of profits, the audit opinions of KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft for the Annual Finan-
cial Statements of Mercedes-Benz Group AG and the
consolidated financial statements, in each case includ-
ing the Combined Management Report and information
on the accounting-related internal control system, as
well as drafts of the reports of the Supervisory Board
and the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board
reviewed these documents in detail and discussed
them intensively in the presence of the auditors, who
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reported on the results of their audit and, in particular,
addressed the key audit matters and the relevant audit
procedures, including the conclusions drawn, and were
available for additional questions and information.

Following the final result of the review by the Audit
Committee and its own review, the Supervisory Board
concurred with the result of the audit by the auditor. It
determined that there were no objections to be raised
and adopted the financial statements prepared by the
Board of Management and the Combined Management
Report, including the Non-Financial Declaration. The
2023 Annual Financial Statements of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG were thus adopted. On this basis, the Super-
visory Board endorsed the proposal of the Board of
Management for the appropriation of distributable prof-
its. The Supervisory Board also adopted the Report of
the Supervisory Board, the Declaration on Corporate
Governance and the Remuneration report, as well as its
proposed resolutions on the agenda items for the 2024
Annual General Meeting.

Appreciation

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Board of
Management members and all employees of the
Mercedes-Benz Group for their dedicated contribution
to the results of the 2023 financial year.

The Supervisory Board would also like to thank Sari
Baldauf, Elke Ténjes-Werner and Michael Brecht, who
closely supported the company through their dedicated
work on the Supervisory Board and left the Supervisory
Board last year.

Stuttgart, March 2024

The Supervisory Board

Dr Bernd Pischetsrieder
Chairman
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Individualized disclosure of attendance at meetings by members of the Supervisory Board of Mercedes-Benz Group AG in the 2023 financial year

Legal Affairs
Plenary Supervisory Board Presidential Committee Audit Committee Nomination Committee Committee

Participation in Participation rate  Participation in Participation rate  Participation in Participation rate  Participation in Participation rate  Participation in Participation rate

meetings (in %) meetings (in %) meetings (in %) meetings (in %) meetings (in %)
Dr Bernd Pischetsrieder! (Chairman) /7 100 4/4 100 2/2 100
Sari Baldauf (until 3 May 2023) 3/3 100 - -
Michael Bettag /7 100
Ben van Beurden /7 100 4/4 100 2/2 100
Nadine Boguslawski 6/7 86
Michael Brecht (until 3 May 2023) 3/3 100 3/3 100
Dr Martin Brudermidiller 7 100 2/2 100
Liz Centoni 6/7 86 3/4 75
Dame Veronica Anne (“Polly”) Courtice /7 100 4/4 100
Marco Gobbetti /7 100
Michael Haberle s 100 4/4 100
Timotheus Hottges /7 100 5/6 83
Olaf Koch? 7 100 6/6 100 4/4 100
Ergun Limali 7/7 100 4/4 100 6/6 100 4/4 100
Gabriela Neher (from 3 May 2023) 4/4 100
Michael Peters (from 3 May 2023) 4/4 100
Stefan Pierer (from 3 May 2023) 4/4 100
Roman Romanowski 6/7 86 3/3 100 4/4 100
Prof. Dr Helene Svahn 77 100
Monika Tielsch 77 100
Elke Tonjes-Werner (until 3 May 2023) 3/3 100
Dr Frank Weber 77 100
Roman Zitzelsberger 5/7 71 4/4 100

1 Chairman of the Presidential Committee and the Nomination Committee
2 Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Legal Affairs Committee
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The Supervisory Board

Dr Bernd Pischetsrieder
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG
Elected until 2024

Ergun Liimali*

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG;

Chairman of the Group Works Council

of Mercedes-Benz Group AG;

Chairman of the General Works Council

of Mercedes-Benz Group AG;

Chairman of the Works Council

of Mercedes-Benz Sindelfingen Plant
Elected until 2028

Michael Bettag*

Chairman of the Works Council of the Mercedes-Benz
Nuremberg Own Retail Branch

Elected until 2028

* Employee representatives

Ben van Beurden
Former Chief Executive Officer Shell plc
Elected until 2025

Nadine Boguslawski*
Head Treasurer of IG Metall
Elected until 2028

Dr Martin Brudermiiller
Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors, BASF SE
Elected until 2025

Liz Centoni

Executive Vice President,
Chief Strategy Officer and GM,
Applications, Cisco, Inc.
Elected until 2025

@ Further information on the members of the Supervisory Board of Mercedes-Benz Group AG

Consolidated Financial Statements

18

Further Information

Dame Veronica Anne (“Polly”) Courtice

Former Director of the University of Cambridge Institute
for Sustainability Leadership

Elected until 2026

Marco Gobbetti
Chief Executive Officer of Salvatore Ferragamo S.p.A.
Elected until 2026

Michael Haberle*

Deputy Chairman of the Group Works Council
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG;

Deputy Chairman of the General Works Council
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG;

Chairman of the Works Council

at the Mercedes-Benz Untertlirkheim Plant
Elected until 2028


https://group.mercedes-benz.com/company/corporate-governance/supervisory-board/
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Timotheus Hottges

Chairman of the Board of Management
of Deutsche Telekom AG

Elected until 2025

Olaf Koch
Partner and Managing Director of Zintinus GmbH
Elected until 2025

Gabriela Neher*

Member of the Works Council at the
Mercedes-Benz Rastatt Plant
Elected until 2028

(since 3 May 2023)

Michael Peters*

Chairman of the Works Council of
Mercedes-Benz Bremen Plant
Elected until 2028

(since 3 May 2023)

Stefan Pierer

Chairman of the Board of Management of
Pierer Industrie AG

Elected until 2027

(since 3 May 2023)

* Employee representatives
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Roman Romanowski*

In-house Legal Conunsel

to the Board of Management of IG Metall
Elected until 2028

Prof. Dr Helene Svahn

Professor in Nanobiotechnology at the
Royal Institute of Technology, Sweden
Elected until 2025

Monika Tielsch*

Member of the Works Council at the
Mercedes-Benz Sindelfingen Plant (RD)
Elected until 2028

Dr Frank Weber*

Center Manager BodyTEC, Mercedes-Benz AG;
Chairman of the Management Representatives
Committee, Mercedes-Benz Group

Elected until 2028

Roman Zitzelsberger*
Former IG Metall District Manager Baden-Wirttemberg
Elected until 2028

@ Further information on the members of the Supervisory Board of Mercedes-Benz Group AG

Consolidated Financial Statements

Retired from the Supervisory Board

Sari Baldauf
Chair of the Board of Directors of Nokia Oyj
Retired on 3 May 2023

Michael Brecht*

Chairman of the Works Council of the Mercedes-Benz
Gaggenau Plant

Retired on 3 May 2023

Elke Tonjes-Werner*

Deputy Chairwoman of the Works Council of the
Mercedes-Benz Bremen Plant

Retired on 3 May 2023
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Objectives and Strategy

As a pioneer in automobile manufacturing, the
Mercedes-Benz Group has set itself the objective of
shaping the future of mobility in a safe and sustainable
manner. In doing so, the company focuses on innovative
and forward-looking technologies and safe high-quality
vehicles that fascinate and excite.

The Mercedes-Benz Group comprises the automotive
business units Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz
Vans as well as Mercedes-Benz Mobility. Each business
unit pursues a strategy that is specifically targeted at
the market and customers it serves. The strategy in
question is based on the principles of sustainability,
integrity and diversity and is supported by a highly qual-
ified and motivated team.

Sustainability, integrity and diversity are the basis
of our conduct at the Mercedes-Benz Group

Sustainability at the Mercedes-Benz Group means
creating permanent value for all of our stakeholders —
for our customers, investors and employees and for our
business partners and society as a whole. In this pro-
cess, economic, environmental and social responsibility
belong together — along the entire value chain. In order
to live up to this responsibility, the Mercedes-Benz

1 Net carbon-neutral means that no CO, emissions are caused or that any CO, emissions
arising are compensated for by certified offset projects.

Group utilizes a holistic ESG (environmental, social and
governance) concept throughout all of its divisions.

One of the company’s goals here is to reduce CO, emis-
sions per passenger car over the entire vehicle life cycle
by the end of this decade by up to 50% as compared to
2020 levels. In addition to the comprehensive use of
recycling materials and renewable energy in production,
the integration of renewable energy sources for charg-
ing the vehicles and electrification of the vehicle fleet is
an important tool for accomplishing this. This is why the
Mercedes-Benz Group is taking the necessary steps to
go all electric. Customers and market conditions will set
the pace of the transformation. The Mercedes-Benz
Group plans to be in a position to cater to different cus-
tomer needs, whether it's an all-electric drivetrain or a
combustion engine, until well into the 2030s. In addi-
tion, the company’s factories are retooled to follow
demand and can capture the tipping point into an
all-electric era. The Mercedes-Benz Group expects its
high power charging network to ease the ramp-up of
electromobility. The Group will expand battery produc-
tion and open a battery recycling factory to close the
loop. The Mercedes-Benz Group’s ambition is to make
the entire new vehicle fleet net carbon-neutral! across
all stages of the value chain by 2039.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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This holistic ESG approach is accompanied by social
and governance aspects such as the transformation of
the workplace and upholding human rights.

The Mercedes-Benz Group is convinced that long-term
success can only be achieved by acting in an ethically
and legally responsible manner. Integrity is therefore
very important to the company. For the Mercedes-Benz
Group, ethical behaviour means doing what is right,
complying with external and internal rules, following our
moral compass and aligning our activities with shared
values.

Diversity is the third foundation of our conduct at the
Mercedes-Benz Group. The Group is convinced that
sustained success can only be achieved with diverse
teams. Through the use of appropriate measures and
activities, the Mercedes-Benz Group seeks to foster a
work environment that offers equal opportunities to all
employees.
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Successful together with a highly qualified and
motivated team

The commitment of the employees plays a key role in
the Mercedes-Benz Group’s global success. Indeed, if
the transformation is to be successfully shaped, a team
that is ready and willing to embrace change and contin-
uously extend its knowledge and skills needs to be in
place. The company therefore puts lifelong learning and
the further education of employees at the centre of its
sustainable personnel development approach. As an
attractive employer, the company also offers flexible
working conditions, varied assignments and a variety of
development opportunities in the context of a culture
of cooperation based on trust. With its People Princi-
ples, the company defines how to communicate, lead
and collaborate.

Combined Management Report
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Mercedes-Benz Cars Strategy

Mercedes-Benz Cars’ goal is to build the world’s most
desirable cars. The division aligns its actions in pursuit
of this goal with six strategic pillars.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Think and act like a luxury brand

Luxury has always been part of Mercedes-Benz’ DNA,
and the company’s thoughts and actions will focus even
more strongly on it in the future. Mercedes-Benz Cars’
claim is to offer the most desirable vehicles on the
basis of a combination of pioneering technologies,
exceptional aesthetics and integrated sustainability.

Mercedes-Benz Cars Strategy

Our goal: we will build the world’s most desirable cars

Think

and act like
a luxury brand

Focus Expand

customer base
by growing
Top-End Luxury

on profitable
growth

Lead

in electric drive
and digital
experience

Embrace Lower

customers and
grow lifetime
revenues

cost base,
improve
industrial
footprint and
increase supply
chain resilience

Driven by a highly qualified and motivated team

Sustainability, integrity and diversity as our foundation
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In this manner, the company also makes a connection
between two essential characteristics — its strong roots
as an automaker that has created numerous style-de-
fining icons, and the pioneering spirit with which
Mercedes-Benz Car is driving the further development
of the automobile. Mercedes-Benz underscores its role
here through its standing as the world’s most valuable
luxury automotive brand in the latest Best Global
Brands ranking from 2023. With the improvement from
eighth to seventh place in the rankings of the world’s
most important brands, the company has once again
boosted the brand value by nine per cent as compared
to the previous year.

Our goal for the future is a brand that embodies the
many facets of the lives of our customers — from life-
style and technology to the digital realm, mobility and
culture — and does this by working together with cul-
tural pioneers in a manner that is as inspired as it is
unexpected. We intend to achieve this goal by creating
an emotional bond with the Mercedes-Benz Cars
brands and getting people excited about them in con-
nection with every product and in every encounter we
have with customers and anyone who is interested in or
is a fan of the brand.

Focus on profitable growth

Mercedes-Benz Cars wants to make the transformation
towards an all-electric future profitable and to continue
its growth in the lucrative market segments. A clear
positioning as a luxury brand helps to maintain higher
profitability across all product categories — Entry, Core
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and Top-End. Along with a clear focus on the customer,
the important ways in which this can be accomplished
are focusing and further developing the portfolio,
achieving strong pricing, and securing the margins.
These means will also be employed for the systematic
electrification of our models throughout the entire
Mercedes-Benz brand portfolio. Further profitable
growth is also being targeted in the highly profitable
product categories in particular. The consistent posi-
tioning as a luxury brand will also be used to achieve
Mercedes-Benz Cars’ goal of sustainable high profitabil-
ity as a division that can rely on its resilient business
system, even in challenging times.

Expand customer base by growing Top-End Luxury

In the Top-End segment, Mercedes-Benz Cars boasts an
extraordinary brand portfolio that goes beyond the
Mercedes-Benz core brand. This portfolio also includes
the Mercedes-AMG and Mercedes-Maybach brands,

as well as the iconic G-Class product brand. The
Mercedes-Benz Cars Strategy will be used to unfold the
full potential of the Mercedes-Benz brand portfolio,
accelerate the development of the Top-End product
category and achieve additional EBIT growth.
Brand-specific formats and customer experiences are
also to be used to address new target groups. At the
same time, even stronger interrelationships are to be
established between the brands, in order to exploit
synergies in customer communications, for example.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Embrace customers and grow lifetime revenues

In order to intensify and further boost customer loyalty,
the division is systematically creating unique customer
experiences along its entire customer journey and
addressing customers in an individualized and data-
driven manner within the Mercedes-Benz ecosystem.
One of the basic preconditions for this is comprehen-
sively digitalized sales and service processes that, for
example, are enabled by the stepwise transformation of
sales to the agency model. In this way, all channels —
online and offline, and from consulting to service — are
to be adapted to the dynamic customer requirements
and flexibly developed further. Moreover, customers
are to be provided with tailored and market-specific
offers that enthuse them about more than just the pur-
chase of vehicles. These offers include such things as
after-sales services and spare parts as well as over-the-
air (OTA) updates and digital extras. In this way,
Mercedes-Benz Cars intends to continuously enhance
the attractiveness of its products, safeguard their value
retention and increase the company’s revenue through-
out the product life cycle.
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Lead in electric drive and digital experience

Mercedes-Benz Cars is endeavouring to become a
leader for electric mobility and the digital experience.
The division is creating the essential preconditions for
becoming all-electric, with ambitious product develop-
ment goals and the market launch of new locally emis-
sion-free and software-driven technologies. The ,elec-
tric-first’ platform MMA which will be launched next
year, marks the next step into the electric future of
Mercedes-Benz Cars. The platforms MB.EA and AMG.EA
will follow. Thus, Mercedes-Benz Cars will offer our
customers an all-electric alternative for each model.

Mercedes-Benz Cars’ expertise in the field of electric
mobility is to be extended, and the vertical integration
will also be increased by insourcing drive-system tech-
nologies for electric vehicles. To ensure efficient pro-
duction and promote the future development of battery
cells and modules, the division plans to work together
with partners to build various battery cell production
plants worldwide. Mercedes-Benz also purchases
battery cells from various partners on the world market
to supply its global production network. The company
thus has access to the latest technologies on the
market.

In order to further underscore the claim to leadership
with regard to the digital experience, and to meet cus-
tomers’ needs even better in future, Mercedes-Benz
Cars plans to introduce its own data-based and updata-
ble Mercedes-Benz Operating System (MB.OS) when it
launches the MMA platform. In this way, the customers
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will be able to access a unique brand experience that
includes special new digital extras and product features
while control of the interface with customers can
remain in the Mercedes-Benz ecosystem. MB.OS will
create the basis for an even faster and more flexible
response to customer requirements in the future,
including during a product’s life cycle. Another aim is to
establish smart connectivity between the vehicle, the
cloud and the IoT world (Internet of Things). Data secu-
rity and data protection play a key role for Mercedes-
Benz Cars here.

Mercedes-Benz Cars is also striving to establish leader-
ship in assistance technologies and customer experi-
ence in conditional driving automation. Customers are
offered not only enhanced ride comfort and safety but
also an increasing reduction of driver stress and the
freedom to carry out certain activities while driving.
Today, with DRIVE PILOT, Mercedes-Benz Cars already
meets the demanding legal requirements for condi-
tional driving automation according to SAE Level 3 (pur-
suant to UN R157) — the first automotive company in
the world to do so. Mercedes-Benz Cars has even gone
one step further where parking is concerned: the
INTELLIGENT PARK PILOT preinstallation is a
series-production system that already enables com-
pletely automatic driverless parking (Automated Valet
Parking) according to SAE Level 4 in Germany.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lower cost base, improve industrial footprint and
increase supply chain resilience

The continued systematic pursuit of our profitability
and cash-flow objectives is a fundamental component
of the successful and sustained transformation of the
company. Mercedes-Benz Cars seeks to further opti-
mize its break-even point and take additional steps
towards reducing the cost base and improving the
industrial footprint. To this end, work is also proceeding
on further reducing fixed and variable costs as well as
on lowering the investments in property, plant and
equipment.

Mercedes-Benz Cars is also shifting its capital alloca-
tion with its sustainable business strategy. The imple-
mentation of further cost reductions by standardizing
battery platforms and creating scalable vehicle archi-
tectures is planned. Mercedes-Benz Cars also aims to
play a more active role along its supply chains in order
to safeguard and increase the resilience of these busi-
ness activities.
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Mercedes-Benz Vans Strategy

The goal of Mercedes-Benz Vans is to offer the most
desirable vans and services worldwide. We want the
vans from Mercedes-Benz to represent far more than

a capital investment and to continue arousing enthusi-
asm. The strategy is based on four pillars:

Target premium segments and focus
on profitable growth

Mercedes-Benz Vans has extensively shaped the van
market worldwide since the very beginning. As part of
the Mercedes-Benz brand family, the division continu-
ously sharpens its profile as a supplier of future-ori-
ented transport solutions for commercial and private
customers. Vans in the private segment are aligned with
the luxury positioning strategy of Mercedes-Benz Cars,
while commercial vans are marketed within the frame-
work of a premium strategy.

In both the commercial and the private segments,
Mercedes-Benz Vans stands for the highest levels of
quality, reliability and sustainability. A key element of
the strategy is the increased focus on high-sales and
high-margin markets and segments. In parallel with the
expansion of its activities in Europe, the division also
intends in future to further intensify its efforts in China
and North America. In addition, Mercedes-Benz Vans
plans to focus more strongly on the growing premium
segments in the most profitable sectors and to enter
into attractive segments at the upper end of the port-
folio through partnerships with body manufacturers.

Combined Management Report

Corporate Governance

Embrace customers and grow lifetime revenues

Mercedes-Benz Vans plans to ensure a high level of
profitability by means of a modified business model for
sales and a customer-focused service portfolio. The
focus here will be on pushing direct sales in order to
reduce selling expenses. With regard to the new-vehicle
business, Mercedes-Benz Vans is increasingly making
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use of online sales channels. This involves using the
existing Mercedes-Benz Cars Online Store platform and
expanding it to include van-specific features. One
measure here will make it possible for customers to
place follow-up orders quickly and easily directly online.
Another goal is to generate additional revenue poten-
tials at all points of customer contact: from advice to
sales and after-sales services.

Mercedes-Benz Vans Strategy

Our Goal: we offer the world’s most desirable vans and services

Target Embrace

premium segments and
focus on profitable growth

customers and grow
lifetime revenues

Lead

in electric drive and
digital experience

Lower

the total cost base
and improve the industrial
footprint

Guided by economic, environmental and social sustainability

Accelerated by digitalization and data-driven business

Driven by a highly qualified and motivated team
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Lead in electric drive and the digital experience

With the eCitan, EQT (WLTP: combined energy con-
sumption 100 kWh/km: 20,7-19,3; combined CO, emis-
sions: 0 g/km; CO, class: A), eVito, eVito Tourer, EQV
and eSprinter, Mercedes-Benz Vans offers each model
also as an all-electric version since 2023. Starting in
2026, the VAN.EA is a new, electric-only architecture
which is intended to provide the basis for all future
mid-size and large vans for both private and commer-
cial use.

Mercedes-Benz is currently developing its own operat-
ing system MB.OS — a flexible, modular and ser-
vice-based chip-to-cloud architecture that will enable
B2B-specific software solutions. Mercedes-Benz Vans
expects that MB.OS will also enable it to quickly expand
and optimize its digital extras and services. In addition,
the operating system will serve as the foundation for
the development of automated driving functions for
Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) Level 2 and up.
On the basis of MB.OS and the technical possibilities it
offers, the division plans to achieve conditional driving
automation for private customers in accordance with
SAE Level 3 by the end of the decade. The objective is
to be able to offer partially automated driving in
accordance with SAE Level 2 with the introduction of
vehicles based on VAN.EA. With regard to the commer-
cial segment, Mercedes-Benz Vans is looking to achieve
highly automated driving in accordance with SAE Level
4 by the end of the decade in order to exploit the busi-
ness potential of fully automated (driverless) transport.
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Lower the total cost base and improve
the industrial footprint

Mercedes-Benz Vans has launched a comprehensive
cost initiative at company, production and product level
in order to maintain profitability at a high level and to
improve competitiveness. The goals here include signif-
icantly optimizing production processes and lowering
production costs. This is to be achieved mainly by
reducing the complexity of the product portfolio and
focusing on efficiency in core production processes.

Mercedes-Benz Vans is also reorganizing its production
network in order to become more efficient and flexible
and to prepare the network for an electric future. The
first manufacturing plant solely for all-electric vans in
Jawor, Poland, will set new standards worldwide for
productivity, lean processes and sustainability. The
reorganization of the production network will enable
Mercedes-Benz Vans to react quickly to changing mar-
ket conditions in the future while at the same time opti-
mizing its cost structure.

Consolidated Financial Statements

25

Further Information

The strategic actions follow three principles:

Guided by economic, environmental

and social sustainability

Mercedes-Benz Vans has also made sustainability an
integral part of its strategy. One of the main goals for-
mulated in Ambition 2039 is to make the fleet of new
private and commercial vans net carbon-neutral over
the entire life cycle by 2039.

Accelerated by digitalization and

data-driven business

Mercedes-Benz Vans intends to use the comprehensive
digital strategy to exploit the potential of the digital
transformation as effectively as possible. Among other
things, this includes the optimal design of the digital
customer experience, the expansion of the digital prod-
uct and service portfolio as well as the digitalization of
internal business processes — all while ensuring that
data is used responsibly. In all of its activities,
Mercedes-Benz Vans aims for the maximum networking
and synergy effects with Mercedes-Benz Cars.

We are the key to our success

The Mercedes-Benz Vans People Principles place peo-
ple and the team at the centre of our transformation.
These principles create the framework for communica-
tion, leadership and collaboration and require the com-
mitment and the innovative power of our employees. In
addition, Mercedes-Benz Vans offers its employees
qualification measures for future-oriented topics.
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Mercedes-Benz Mobility Strategy

Mercedes-Benz Mobility has a clear ambition: we are
the number one financial and mobility service provider
for luxurious driving in the all-electric era. The contri-
bution that Mercedes-Benz Mobility makes to the
success of the Mercedes-Benz Group is not only finan-
cial. Mercedes-Benz Mobility also helps to increase
brand loyalty, improve the customer experience, sup-
port the Group’s strategic transformation and boost
sales figures.

The basis for this success lies in the fact that Mercedes-
Benz Mobility is present in every phase of the customer

journey and puts customers at the centre of its strategy.

It all begins with the bundling of products such as
financing and leasing contracts including insurance and
extends to offering systems for seamless payment
methods, and the planned expansion of its charging
infrastructure to include more than 10,000 new charg-
ing points by 2030. The goal here is to offer customers
an extraordinary and luxurious brand experience and
to keep them in the Mercedes-Benz ecosystem by
offering customized follow-up contracts and solutions.
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Mercedes-Benz Mobility has defined five key areas

within its strategy. These make it possible for the com-
pany to continuously improve its products and services
and remain an attractive employer.

Mercedes-Benz Mobility Strategy
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Our goal: by 2025, we will be the number one financial and mobility service provider
for luxurious driving in the electric era

Electrify our

future

We support

the sustainable
transformation to
electric mobility

with tailored prod-

ucts and services

Excite our
customers

Our services are
100% digital and
seamlessly inte-
grated into the world
of Mercedes-Benz

Power up our
business

We are digitalising
our processes end-
to-end, supported

by strategic partner-

ships in technology
and operations

Go for data

We are developing
into a data-driven
company

Imagine it,
do it, live it
We are strengthening

our high-perfor-
mance culture
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Electrify our future: Mercedes-Benz Mobility is
supporting the transformation to electric mobility
with tailored products and services

Mercedes-Benz Mobility makes it as easy and conven-
ient as possible for customers to switch to electric
mobility. Various rental and subscription services make
it possible for people to use electric vehicles without
committing to long-term ownership. When a leasing
contract expires, Mercedes-Benz Mobility supports cus-
tomers who decide to switch to an electric vehicle.
Using the existing charging infrastructure as a basis,
Mercedes-Benz Mobility is setting up a high-power
charging network that will provide fast and easy charg-
ing. The high-power charging network will enable cus-
tomers to charge using green electricity. Wherever pos-
sible, the preference is to use power purchase
contracts for green electricity, or to use accredited pro-
viders’ green power certificates for charging. Charging
in public areas, at home and for business purposes will
be transformed into a convenient, reliable and seam-
less experience.

Excite our customers: Mercedes-Benz Mobility is
seamlessly integrating itself into the Mercedes-Benz
ecosystem

At Mercedes-Benz Mobility our customers are our focus.
Mercedes-Benz Mobility supports its customers by
helping them to simply choose their preferred product
and service options with seamlessly integrated prod-
ucts and services. Mercedes-Benz Mobility does all this
by providing an excellent service experience that is

Combined Management Report
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seamless and digital and includes rapid personal con-
sultation in those areas where digital solutions reach
their limits. The goal here is to not merely meet expec-
tations but to exceed them — both online and offline.

Power up our business: Mercedes-Benz Mobility is
automating and digitalizing internal processes in
order to increase efficiency

Mercedes-Benz Mobility is harmonizing internal pro-
cesses and system landscapes to deliver fast and relia-
ble contact with customers in a manner that focuses on
their specific requirements. Here Mercedes-Benz Mobil-
ity also relies on technology partnerships that enable it
to continuously develop its digital services and solu-
tions. Efficient processes and a highly motivated team
form the foundation of the excellent service that
Mercedes-Benz Mobility offers.

Go for data: Mercedes-Benz Mobility is evolving into
a data-driven company

Mercedes-Benz Mobility is constantly optimizing its
own products and services with the aim of being able
to offer tailored customer solutions at all times.
Mercedes-Benz Mobility uses data analysis and artificial
intelligence to achieve this goal. The top-of-the-line
financial and mobility products and services the com-
pany offers are based on data, because data reflects
the lifestyles and preferences of its customers. Data
security and customer consent for the usage of the data
are paramount for Mercedes-Benz Mobility. Mercedes-
Benz Mobility develops and promotes teams and skills

Consolidated Financial Statements
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that are needed to establish a data-driven way of think-
ing throughout the entire organization.

Imagine it, do it, live it: Mercedes-Benz Mobility is
strengthening a high-performance culture

The employees at the Mercedes-Benz Group achieve
success together as a highly qualified and motivated
team. Mercedes-Benz Mobility has a high-performance
culture in which the employees speak up, empower
each other, hold each other accountable and continu-
ally learn. All of these aspects are based on an impor-
tant foundation: trust. To enable all employees to iden-
tify with the company, Mercedes-Benz Mobility also
focuses on emotionalizing its strategy through targeted
communication measures.
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Business model

Overview

The Mercedes-Benz Group can look back on a tradition
covering more than 135 years — a tradition that goes
back to Gottlieb Daimler and Karl Benz, the inventors of
the automobile — and features pioneering achieve-
ments in automotive engineering. Today, the company
is a car manufacturer that operates globally and is one
of the largest suppliers of luxury vehicles and commer-
cial vans in the premium segment. The Group’s range of
products and services is supplemented by financing
and leasing products for end customers and dealers,
fleet management services, insurance brokerage, inno-
vative and digital mobility services, charging infrastruc-
ture and systems for seamless payment.

The Mercedes-Benz Cars, Mercedes-Benz Vans and

Mercedes-Benz Mobility divisions manage the business
operations of the Mercedes-Benz Group.

1 Study by the US brand consulting company Interbrand in November 2023.

The reconciliation of the segments to the Group (recon-
ciliation) presents the functions and services provided
by the Group’s headquarters. In addition, the reconcilia-
tion includes equity investments that are not allocated
to the segments, gains and/or losses at the corporate
level and the effects of eliminating intra-Group transac-
tions between the segments.

Mercedes-Benz Group AG is the parent company of the
Mercedes-Benz Group and has its headquarters in
Stuttgart. Along with Mercedes-Benz Group AG, the
Mercedes-Benz Group comprises all subsidiaries over
which Mercedes-Benz Group AG can exercise a con-
trolling influence either directly or indirectly. Detailed
information on this topic can be found in the statement
of investments pursuant to Section 313 of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) in the Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. Mercedes-Benz Group AG
defines the Group strategy, manages the Group and, as
the Group parent company, ensures the effectiveness
of legal, organizational and compliance-related func-
tions throughout the Group.

The management reports for Mercedes-Benz Group AG
and for the Group are combined within this annual
report. The Combined Management Report includes the
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combined Non-Financial Declaration of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG and of the Group.

The Mercedes-Benz brand is one of the most valuable
brands in the world!. The diagram below provides an
overview of the Group’s brand world.

The brand world of the Mercedes-Benz Group

Mercedes-Benz Group

Mercedes-Benz Mercedes-Benz
[of: 14 Vans

D D

Mercedes-Benz Mercedes-Benz

Mercedes-Benz
Mobility

Mercedes-Benz Bank

Mercedes-Benz
Financial Services

MAYBACH

JKTHLON

AAMES

Mercedesvwae
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The Mercedes-Benz Group sells vehicles and provides

services in nearly every country in the world and has Global production network of the Mercedes-Benz Group*
over 30 production facilities in Europe, North America
and South America, Asia and Africa. © GERMANY @ POLAND @ CZECH REP. @ HUNGARY @ SLOVENIA

Bremen Rastatt Jawor . Kecskemét Maribor

= e}
The Group is continuously further developing its global Sindelfingen  Dilsseldorf B
N ~ ~

production network on those continents and is aligning o . ® ROMANIA

Ludwigsfelde Untertilirkheim Sebes Cugir
it to manufacture the portfolio of all-electric vehicles. : = ’
A total of 12 electric vehicle models from Mercedes- Hamburg Berlin
Benz have been rolling off the assembly lines on three Colloda/Amstadt  Kamens F ® spamn : © china
continents since 2023. The Group is also simultane- 8 vitoria Beiing ———

Kuppenheim Affalterbach  J

ously building up a global battery production network

on three continents. The “Mercedes-Benz Group Global

Production Network” graphic shows the Mercedes-Benz

Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans production sites around

the world as of 31 December 2023. NI Pean
_—e e

© ARGENTINIA @ SOUTH AFRICA

Buenos Aires East London

/

EGYPT INDIA \ © @ THAILAND/VIETNAM/
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As part of the gradual realignment of sales operations
through the implementation of an agency model, the e ncluiog o corsalmud il S
Retail of the Future concept was launched in Germany e RO = s =
and the UK in 2023. The new system has already been

implemented in Sweden and Austria, which means that

the new sales model is now being used for approxi-

mately 50% of total unit sales generated in Europe.

Plans call for the agency model to be introduced in

other regions as well over the next few years. As of the

reporting date, six other countries, including Turkey,

India and Australia, had switched over to direct sales.

In addition, within the framework of the optimization

of the sales model, it was possible to sell off retail

activities in certain countries and regions during the

reporting year.

Cars plant Vans plant Powertrain plant Battery plant
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Mercedes-Benz Cars

As a luxury automobile manufacturer, Mercedes-Benz
Cars seeks to produce the most desirable vehicles in
the world. Sustainability is a fundamental principle and
a firm component of the Mercedes-Benz Cars business
strategy — a principle that characterizes all of our busi-
ness activities. The Mercedes-Benz Group believes that
the complete electrification of its product range is the
most important means of making its entire new vehicle
fleet net carbon-neutral! across all stages of the value
chain by 2039. Mercedes-Benz Cars is creating the
essential preconditions for complete electrification and
accelerating the transformation into a software-driven
and all-electric future.

To this end, the electric platform Electric Vehicle Archi-
tecture (EVA) was introduced in 2021. Beginning in the
middle of the decade, the Mercedes Modular Architec-
ture (MMA) platform, which is primarily focussed on
electric mobility with vehicles starting with the Entry
segment, is to follow. In 2026, Mercedes-Benz Cars
plans to introduce two more all-electric platforms (BEV
platform generations) in the Top-End and Core seg-
ments: the Mercedes-Benz Electronic Architecture
(MB.EA) and the AMG Electronic Architecture (AMG.EA).

Mercedes-Benz Cars offers a broad range of products
that are spread out among the three product categories
of Top-End, Core and Entry. The Top-End? portfolio

1 Net carbon-neutral means that no CO, emissions are caused or that any CO, emissions
arising are compensated for by certified offset projects.

2 The Top-End category comprises all AMG models, including the AMG models of the
various class model ranges and their derivatives in the Core and Entry segments.

encompasses Mercedes-AMG, Mercedes-Maybach, the
G-Class, the S-Class, the EQS Sedan, the GLS and the
EQS SUV. Core represents the heart of the brand and
comprises the Mercedes-Benz C-Class and E-Class
model ranges and their derivatives. The Entry A-Class
and B-Class models and their derivatives offer custom-
ers a point of entry into the compact vehicle portfolio.

In addition to the Mercedes-Benz brand, the brand
portfolio encompasses the brands Mercedes-AMG and
Mercedes-Maybach, as well as the G-Class product
brand. Mercedes me provides access to the digital ser-
vices of Mercedes-Benz Cars.

The division also continues to move ahead at a fast
pace with the intelligent networking of its vehicles and
the development of autonomous driving systems. In
order to further underscore the claim to leadership with
regard to the digital experience, Mercedes-Benz Cars
plans to introduce its own data-based and updatable
Mercedes-Benz Operating System (MB.OS) when it
launches the MMA platform.

Along with its production sites in Germany, Mercedes-
Benz Cars also operates major manufacturing facilities
in the United States, Hungary, Mexico and South Africa.
Production operations in China are carried out by the

associated company Beijing Benz Automotive Co., Ltd.
(BBAC).
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The most important markets for Mercedes-Benz Cars in
2023 were China with 36% of unit sales, the United
States with 15%, Germany with 11% and the other Euro-
pean markets (European Union, United Kingdom, Swit-
zerland and Norway) with 21%.

Mercedes-Benz Vans

Mercedes-Benz Vans is a global manufacturer of a com-
prehensive van portfolio. The models offered in the
commercial segment comprise the large van Sprinter,
the mid-size van Vito and the small van Citan. The range
of Mercedes-Benz’ vans in the private segment consists
of the V-Class full-size multi-purpose vehicle, the
V-Class Marco Polo camper and the T-Class. The small
vans are offered in Europe (European Union, the UK,
Switzerland, Norway), while the mid-size vans are
offered in Europe and China and the large vans are sold
in Europe and the United States. Vans are also offered
in specific segments in other markets.

Mercedes-Benz Vans has anchored its aim to lead in
electric drive in its strategy and has systematically elec-
trified the complete product portfolio. Mercedes-Benz
Vans already offers an electric version of each model
today — i.e. the eSprinter, the eVito and the eCitan in
the commercial van segment. In addition, the EQV full-
size multi-purpose vehicle and the all-electric EQT
(WLTP: combined energy consumption 100 kWh/km:
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20,7-19,3; combined CO, emissions: 0 g/km; CO, class:
A) are now available for the private segment.

Starting in 2026, all newly developed vans from
Mercedes-Benz will be based on just one all-electric
architecture: the innovative, modular and scalable Van
Electric Architecture (VAN.EA).

Like Mercedes-Benz Cars, Mercedes-Benz Vans also
uses the modular MB.OS architecture in order to further
develop and connect its digital services.

The Mercedes-Benz Vans business unit has manufactur-
ing facilities in Germany, Spain, the United States and
Argentina. Production in China is managed via the
Fujian Benz Automotive Co., Ltd joint venture. The Citan
and T-Class with the respective electric variants are
produced in France through an alliance with
Renault-Nissan-Mitsubishi. The planned facility in Jawor,
Poland, will be Mercedes-Benz Vans’ first purely electric
vehicle plant in the world.

The most important markets for Mercedes-Benz Vans in
2023 were Germany with 25% of unit sales, the other
European markets (European Union, United Kingdom,
Switzerland and Norway) with 37%, the United States
with 17% and China with 7%.

Mercedes-Benz Mobility

The Mercedes-Benz Mobility division supports the sales
of the Mercedes-Benz Group’s vehicle brands world-
wide with custom financial and mobility services.

These services range from leasing and financing con-
tracts for end customers and dealers to insurance
solutions and fleet management services for business
customers, with the latter primarily offered via the
Athlon brand. Mercedes-Benz Mobility has around

4.3 million leased and financed vehicles in 34 markets,
which is clear proof of its ability to offer outstanding
services that meet a wide range of requirements.

Mercedes-Benz Mobility also brings together all activi-
ties relating to electric vehicle charging. The Group’s
own charging service Mercedes me Charge enables
easy and convenient access to more than 1.5 million
public charging points within the Mercedes me Charge
network. In addition, the Mercedes-Benz Group is
continuing to extend the existing range of charging pos-
sibilities by building its own global Mercedes-Benz
charging network and expanding high-power charging
networks that are operated jointly with different con-
tractual partners.
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Mercedes-Benz Mobility is also integrating its
Mercedes pay digital electronic payment platform into
numerous applications at the Mercedes-Benz Group.
The product range is rounded out by flexible subscrip-
tion and rental models such as Mercedes-Benz Rent as
well as investments in companies that offer mobility
services, for example the premium chauffeur services
platform Blacklane.
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Important events

Launch of a Mercedes-Benz high-power

charging network

On 5 January 2023, the Mercedes-Benz Group
announced far-reaching plans to build its own global
high-power charging network in China, North America,
Europe and other core markets.

The first Mercedes-Benz charging hub was opened in
Chengdu, China, in October 2023. It was followed by
the opening of a further Mercedes-Benz charging hub at
the headquarters of Mercedes-Benz USA in Atlanta,
Georgia in November 2023. The first German charging
hub started operation at the Mercedes-Benz dealership
in Mannheim at the end of November 2023. Plans call
for more than 2,000 charging stations with over 10,000
high-power charging points to be built worldwide by
the end of the decade.

With its own charging network, the Mercedes-Benz
Group is seeking to establish new standards for the fast,
convenient and reliable charging of electric vehicles.

1 Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE).
The automated driving system takes over certain driving tasks. Nevertheless, a driver is
still necessary. The driver must be ready to take control of the vehicle at any time when
prompted by the vehicle to intervene.

Certification for the SAE Level 3 system and sales
approval for DRIVE PILOT

On 26 January 2023, the Mercedes-Benz Group became
the world's first automaker to receive SAE Level 3!
certification for conditionally automated driving on

US roads in the state of Nevada. In June 2023, it also
received the certification for the state of California.

The Mercedes-Benz Group subsequently introduced the
production-ready version of DRIVE PILOT with a small
fleet of SAE Level 3! EQS Sedans in the states of Cali-
fornia and Nevada in late 2023.

DRIVE PILOT was released for sale in Germany in May
2022 after the German Federal Motor Transport Author-
ity issued the SAE Level 3 system a licence to operate
on the basis of the internationally valid regulation
UN-R157.

Share buyback programme at

Mercedes-Benz Group AG

On 16 February 2023, the Board of Management, with
the approval of the Supervisory Board, resolved a share
buyback programme on the basis of the authorization
given by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 8 July
2020. The acquisition of treasury shares on the stock
exchange began on 3 March 2023. Treasury shares
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worth up to €4 billion (excluding incidental costs) are to
be purchased over a period of up to two years and sub-
sequently cancelled.

Further information on this is provided in Note 20 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Partnership for vehicle navigation between
Mercedes-Benz and Google

As announced on 22 February 2023, the Mercedes-Benz
Group plans to integrate innovative vehicle-related geo-
spatial data and route planning capabilities from the
Google Maps platform into the Mercedes-Benz Operat-
ing System (MB.OS).

With this partnership, the Group plans to become the
first automaker to develop its own navigation experi-
ence based on a new concept that combines new in-ve-
hicle geospatial data and navigation features from the
Google Maps platform.

The system is to be introduced in the middle of the dec-
ade. MB.OS was designed and developed in-house at
Mercedes-Benz. The company’s objective here is to
retain complete control over the customer relationship
while also ensuring data privacy and the unparalleled
integration of all vehicle functions.
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Foundation laid for sustainable battery

recycling factory

On 3 March 2023, the Mercedes-Benz Group laid the
symbolic foundation stone for a battery recycling fac-
tory at the Kuppenheim site. The company is thus
underpinning the goal of ensuring a sustainable closure
of the recycling loop for batteries and significantly
reducing resource consumption.

The Group plans to invest an eight-digit euro sum in the
construction of the net carbon-neutral! plant. Construc-
tion of the plant sections for mechanical dismantling
has already begun and preparations for commissioning
are under way. Once the sections for hydrometallurgical
processing have been completed, the entire recycling
facility will go into operation in mid-2024.

Confirmation of the ESG commitment

at the ESG Conference

At the ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance)
Conference on 30 March 2023, the Board of Manage-
ment of the Mercedes-Benz Group emphasized to
investors and analysts its measures for reducing its
CO, footprint and creating sustainable value for all
stakeholders.

—

Net carbon-neutral means that no CO, emissions are created or any resulting

CO, emissions are offset by certified compensation projects.

Scope 1 emissions are direct CO, emissions from sources for which the company is
directly responsible or that it directly controls.

3 Scope 2 emissions are indirect CO, emissions from purchased energy such as electricity
and district heating that are generated externally but consumed by the company.

In comparison to 2018.

N

IS

The key measures are to accelerate electrification with
a growing portfolio and Mercedes-Benz’ high-power
charging network, to promote supply chain decarboni-
zation and resource conservation through the use of
renewable energy sources and responsible sourcing of
raw materials, and to forge ahead with the creation of a
circular economy and the direct sourcing of raw materi-
als. The company also aims to reduce CO, emissions in
production (scope 12 and 23) by 80% by 2030%.

Alongside other measures such as investments in social
commitment and the environment, the company has
added additional ESG metrics to the variable compo-
nent of executive compensation and indicated the gov-
ernance structures that were implemented.

The participation of Supervisory Board member Dame
Veronica Anne (“Polly”) Courtice reinforces the embed-
ding of sustainability in the company’s strategy, busi-
ness processes and remuneration system.

The Mercedes-Benz Group engaged CICERO Shades of
Green, now part of S&P Global, an assessor, to review
the Mercedes-Benz Group Green Finance Framework.
The Mercedes-Benz Group framework received the
highest rating of “Dark Green” from CICERO.
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Sale of shares in the Russian subsidiaries

The Group’s intention to withdraw from the Russian
market and sell its shares in the Russian subsidiaries to
the local investor Avtodom AO was reported in the
Annual Report 2022. In March 2022, the Mercedes-Benz
Group had already stopped exporting cars and vans to
Russia and ceased local production in Russia.

As of 31 December 2022, completion of the transaction
was still subject to authorities’ approval and the imple-
mentation of the contractually agreed conditions. With
the closing of the transaction on 19 April 2023, the
shares of Russian subsidiaries were deconsolidated.

Further information on this is provided in Note 3 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Annual General Meeting of Mercedes-Benz Group AG
At the Annual General Meeting of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG on 3 May 2023, the shareholders approved a
dividend of €5.20 per share for the 2022 year (2021:
€5.00). The total payout for 2022 was €5.6 billion (2021:
€5.3 billion).

At Mercedes-Benz Group AG, a position on the Supervi-
sory Board was also newly filled: Sari Baldauf stepped
down from the Board after 15 years at the end of the
Annual General Meeting of Mercedes-Benz Group AG on
3 May 2023. Stefan Pierer was elected as Baldauf’s suc-
cessor on the Supervisory Board.

CO, reduction in the aluminium supply chain

The Mercedes-Benz Group is working with its partners
to decarbonize the aluminium supply chain. As pre-
sented in the Annual Report 2022, Mercedes-Benz AG
and the Norwegian aluminium producer Norsk Hydro
ASA (Hydro) signed a memorandum of understanding in
December 2022 for a low-CO, technology roadmap
between 2023 and 2030.

As a next milestone, the Group announced on 9 May
2023 that Hydro is to supply even more CO,-reduced
aluminium to the foundry at the Mercedes-Benz plant in
Untertirkheim. With a minimum of 25% recycled mate-
rial in Hydro’s tested aluminium, the CO, footprint is to
be reduced.

Following the completion of the successful test phase
for the low CO,-emission aluminium, the Mercedes-
Benz Group is now bringing sophisticated structural
castings for the body-in-white made from the more sus-
tainable material into series production.

Mercedes-Benz Vans: Strategy Update

At the Strategy Update on 16 May 2023, Mercedes-Benz
Vans unveiled its strategy, which is geared towards
profitable growth in both the private and commercial
van segments. Key objectives include further strength-
ening the brand’s position in the upper market seg-
ments, increasing competitiveness in terms of costs,
and leading the way in electric mobility and digital
experiences.

CO, reduction in the steel supply chain

The Mercedes-Benz Group announced on 7 June 2023
that it had signed a supply agreement with the Swedish
startup H2 Green Steel AB (H2GS) for approximately
50,000 metric tons of nearly CO,-free steel per year for
European stamping plants. At the same time, the two
companies are deepening their partnership with a
memorandum of understanding to jointly establish a
sustainable steel supply chain in North America.

Following the investment in H2GS in 2021, the new sup-
ply agreement will enable Mercedes-Benz to use virtu-
ally CO,-free steel in series production. The strategic
partner plans to start production in 2025.
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On 14 September 2023, the Mercedes-Benz Group
signed a supply contract with Steel Dynamics, Inc. for
delivery of CO,-reduced steel to the production plant in
Tuscaloosa, Alabama (USA). In this way, the company
wants to set another milestone on the path to decar-
bonizing the global steel supply chain.

Access to Tesla Superchargers in North America for
Mercedes-Benz customers

On 5 January 2023, the Mercedes-Benz Group had
already announced the development of its own global
high-power charging network with around 400 charging
stations and more than 2,500 charging points in North
America. In addition, the Mercedes-Benz Group
announced on 7 July 2023 that Mercedes-Benz custom-
ers will be able to use Tesla Superchargers in North
America starting in 2024.

Creation of a joint high-power charging network
with several automakers in North America

On 19 October 2023, seven automakers — the BMW
Group, General Motors, the Honda Motor, the Hyundai
Motor, Kia Motors, Mercedes-Benz Group and Stellantis
established a joint venture to accelerate the transition
to electric vehicles in North America. The new joint ven-
ture, which is known as Ionna LLC, is to establish a
charging network with at least 30,000 charging points.

The first stations are expected to open in the United
States in 2024 and in Canada at a later stage. In line
with the sustainability strategies of all seven automak-
ers, Ionna LLC has set itself the objective of powering
the charging network with renewable energy.
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Decisions by the Supervisory Board

of Mercedes-Benz Group AG

At its meeting on 27 July 2023, the Supervisory Board
reappointed Ola Kallenius as Chairman of the Board of
Management of Mercedes-Benz Group AG for the
period until 21 May 2029 and Markus Schafer for the
period until 21 May 2026. As Chief Technology Officer,
Markus Schéfer is responsible for Development & Pro-
curement on the Board of Management.

The Supervisory Board also resolved to establish a
cross-divisional steering and coordination function for
sustainability management in the company at the Board
of Management level. On 1 August 2023, Renata Jungo
Briingger took over responsibility for this function as
part of the Integrity, Governance & Sustainability divi-
sion (previously: Integrity & Legal Affairs). With this
step, the Mercedes-Benz Group is taking into account
the steadily increasing complexity and growing legal
significance of this multi-faceted topic. Responsibility
for the management of division-specific sustainability
issues remains with the respective Board of Manage-
ment divisions.

At its meeting, the Supervisory Board also resolved to
change the name of Dr Jorg Burzer’s division to Produc-
tion, Quality & Supply Chain Management (previously:
Production & Supply Chain Management). As a result of
this change, the division’s name will also express the

1 Inaccordance with China National Standard GB/T 40429-2021 “Taxonomy of driving
automation for vehicles”, published in 2021 by the National Technical Committee of
Auto Standardization.

division’s comprehensive responsibility for quality as
well as this topic’s great importance for the Mercedes-
Benz brand.

Sabine Kohleisen’s division was renamed Human Rela-
tions (previously: Human Resources). This was done in
order to show that human resources work in the
Mercedes-Benz Group focuses on cooperation with and
between people.

In the Supervisory Board meeting of 13 December
2023, the Supervisory Board decided to reappoint
Sabine Kohleisen as the member of the Board of Man-
agement responsible for Human Relations and Labour
Director until 30 November 2025 and Dr Jorg Burzer as
the member of the Board of Management responsible
for Production, Quality & Supply Chain Management
until 30 November 2029.

At the meeting on 21 February 2024, the Supervisory
Board reappointed Renata Jungo Brlingger until the end
of 2025 and Britta Seeger until the end of 2029.

Renata Jungo Briingger is responsible for Integrity, Gov-
ernance & Sustainability and Britta Seeger is responsi-
ble for Marketing & Sales on the Board of Management.
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Creation of a joint high-power charging network
with BMW Brilliance Automotive in China

On 30 November 2023, Mercedes-Benz Group

China Ltd. and BMW Brilliance Automotive Ltd. agreed
to set up a joint venture for the establishment and
operation of a joint high-power charging network in
China in order to provide Chinese customers with pre-
mium charging services. The joint venture aims to pro-
cure electricity directly from renewable sources wher-
ever this is possible.

The joint venture plans to establish a charging network

of at least 1,000 stations with around 7,000 high-power
charging points between the year 2024 and the end of

2026.

Approval to test conditionally automated

driving in Beijing

On 16 December 2023, the Mercedes-Benz Group
became one of the first automakers to receive approval
to test conditionally automated driving Level 3! in Bei-
jing. The Mercedes-Benz Group will begin testing condi-
tionally automated driving systems on designated high-
ways in Beijing. The company is working with the
responsible authorities on the development of Level 3
systems for the Chinese market in order to be able to
offer Chinese customers a safe and reliable automated
driving experience.
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Review of future structure of Own Retail in Germany
On 19 January 2024, the Mercedes-Benz Group
announced a comprehensive review of the structures
of the Group’s Own Retail in Germany. The review is
open-ended as regards its outcome and will be con-
ducted individually and step-by-step at each retail
location. The company expects the transformation pro-
cess to take several years. Contract negotiations with
potential buyers had not yet taken place as of the bal-
ance sheet date. At the present time, it is not possible
to reliably estimate the effects on the profitability,
liquidity and capital resources, and financial position.

Share buyback policy and further share

buyback programme

On 21 February 2024, Mercedes-Benz Group AG has
resolved to implement a share buyback policy. Based
on such policy, the future Free Cash Flow from the
industrial business (as available post potential smalls-
cale M&A) generated beyond the approx. 40% dividend
payout ratio of Group net profi shall be used to fund
share buybacks with the purpose of redeeming shares.

In this context, Mercedes-Benz Group AG moreover

has resolved to conduct a further share buyback
programme, through which it is intended to acquire own
shares worth up to €3 billion (not including incidental
costs) on the stock exchange and to then cancel them.
The further share buyback programme will be based on
the authorization by the Annual General Meeting of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG on 8 July 2020, authorizing
the Board of Management to acquire, with the approval
of the Supervisory Board, own shares up to a maximum

of 10% of the share capital until 7 July 2025. It is sched-
uled to commence immediately after the conclusion

of the ongoing share buyback programme announced
on 16 February 2023, and is expected to be completed
before the expiry of the Annual General Meeting’s
above-mentioned authorization.

Future share buyback programmes are subject to the
necessary resolutions of the company’s corporate
bodies required in each individual case.
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Performance measurement system

Various targets are defined on the basis of the
Mercedes-Benz Group’s corporate strategy and busi-
ness strategy. The Group’s performance measurement
system is oriented towards the achievement of these
targets. Along with financial aspects, they include sus-
tainability-related targets in particular.

The information provided below primarily relates to the
Group’s financial performance measurement system.
Information on the sustainability targets and the meas-
ures being taken to achieve them can be found in the
chapter Non-Financial Declaration.

Objective

The financial performance measurement system used at
the Mercedes-Benz Group is designed to ensure that
our investors’ interests and expectations are taken into
account within the framework of a value-based man-
agement system. The value added is based on this prin-
ciple. It shows the extent to which the Group and its
divisions achieve or exceed the return requirements of
the investors. Due to the only indirect relationship of
value added to ongoing business operations, the value
drivers of the value added are utilized as financial per-
formance indicators for the periodic controlling of the
Group and its divisions.

Value added can be calculated as the difference
between the measure of operating profit (EBIT or net
operating profit) and the cost of capital of the average
net assets.

Calculation of value added

Cost of

Net assets X capital (%)

Profit
measure

Value
added

Cost of capital

The return on net assets (RONA) is calculated from the
ratio of EBIT to net assets. Value is created for our
shareholders when RONA exceeds the cost of capital.
The required rate of return on net assets, and thus the
cost of capital rate, is derived from the minimum rates
of return that equity investors and lenders expect on
their invested capital. In contrast to cost of capital rates
based on peer-group logic for purposes of the impair-
ment test at the level of the cash-generating units,
when determining the Group cost of capital rate for
deriving the value added, the focus is on the use of
company-specific data (in particular with respect to the
capital structure). For 2023, the Group’s cost of capital
rate amounted to 9% after taxes. For the automotive
divisions, this cost of capital rate stood at 13% before
taxes; for Mercedes-Benz Mobility, a cost of equity of
13% before taxes was applied.
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Cost of capital rates

2023 2022
in %
Group, after taxes 9 8
Automotive divisions, before taxes 13 12
Mercedes-Benz Mobility, before taxes 13 12

The quantitative development of value added and the
related financial performance measures are explained
in the chapter Profitability.
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Financial performance measures

Profit measure

The measure of operating profit at the divisional level

is EBIT (earnings before interest and income taxes).
EBIT thus reflects the divisions’ responsibility for profit
and loss. EBIT that is calculated at the Group level
takes into account centrally managed matters and elim-
inations.

In order to provide a more transparent presentation of
our ongoing business, adjusted EBIT is also calculated
and reported for both the Group and the divisions. The
adjustments include individual items insofar as they
lead to material effects in a reporting year. These indi-
vidual items can relate in particular to legal proceedings
and related measures, restructuring measures and M&A
transactions.

Group EBIT minus the centrally managed income taxes
equals net operating profit. The chapter Profitability
shows how net operating profit is calculated.

Return on sales

As one of the main factors influencing value added,
return on sales is of particular importance for assessing
the profitability of the automotive divisions. Return on
sales is the ratio of EBIT to revenue, and vehicle sales
are the primary source of revenue. The measure of prof-
itability for Mercedes-Benz Mobility is not return on
sales but return on equity (the ratio of EBIT to average
equity on a quarterly basis). On the basis of adjusted
EBIT, an adjusted return on sales is reported for the

automotive divisions and an adjusted return on equity
is reported for Mercedes-Benz Mobility.

Net assets

All assets, liabilities and provisions for which the auto-
motive divisions are responsible in day-to-day opera-
tions are allocated to them. Performance measurement
at Mercedes-Benz Mobility is implemented on an equity
basis. Net assets at the Group level include the net
operating assets of the automotive divisions and the
equity of Mercedes-Benz Mobility, as well as assets and
liabilities from income taxes and other reconciling items
which are not allocated to the divisions. The average
annual net assets are calculated on the basis of the
average quarterly net assets.

Cash flow

A change in net assets — for example as a result of
investments — generally leads to the application or
release of liquid funds. Along with earnings, net assets
thus also have a direct effect on the cash flow. Of out-
standing importance for the financial strength of the
Mercedes-Benz Group is the free cash flow of the
industrial business, which comprises the cash flows at
the automotive divisions and the cash flows from inter-
est, taxes and other reconciling items that cannot be
allocated to the divisions. The operating cash flow
before interest and taxes (CFBIT) for the automotive
divisions is derived from EBIT and the change in net
assets. The cash conversion rate (CCR) is the ratio of
CFBIT to EBIT over a period of time and is an important
measure for cash-flow management at the automotive
divisions.
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In order to provide a more transparent presentation of
our ongoing business, the adjusted free cash flow of
the industrial business and the adjusted CFBIT of the
automotive divisions are also calculated and reported.
An adjusted cash conversion rate (adjusted CCR) on the
basis of adjusted CFBIT and adjusted EBIT is presented
for the automotive divisions. The adjustments include
individual items insofar as they lead to material effects
in a reporting year. These individual items can relate in
particular to legal proceedings and related measures,
restructuring measures and M&A transactions.
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Key performance indicators
Key financial performance indicators

The following indicators are the key financial perfor-
mance indicators used to measure the operating finan-
cial performance of the Mercedes-Benz Group:

- Revenue
- EBIT
- Free cash flow of the industrial business

The following key financial performance indicators have
an emphasized relevance for the automotive divisions
Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans:

- Investments in property, plant and equipment
- Research and development expenditure

Adjusted return on equity and new business are the key
financial performance indicators for Mercedes-Benz
Mobility. New business here refers to the volume of
leasing and financing contracts capitalized during the
reporting year.

1 Average CO, emissions of the new car fleet (CO, pool) of newly registered Mercedes-
Benz cars in Europe (European Union, Norway and Iceland) in the reporting year as
measured on the basis of the WLTP type approval procedure. The Mercedes-Benz CO,
pool also includes vans that were registered as passenger cars and, since 2023, vehicles
from the joint venture smart Automobile Co., Ltd.

Key non-financial performance indicators

Unit sales at Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz
Vans are used as an additional non-financial indicator
for measuring the performance of the automotive divi-
sions.

The figure for the CO, emissions of the new car fleet in
Europe! represented a key performance indicator until
31 December 2023. As of the year 2024, the share of
electrified vehicles (xEV) from Mercedes-Benz Cars and
from Mercedes-Benz Vans respectively, measured on
the basis of the unit vehicle sales of these divisions, will
be used as key non-financial performance indicators.
They are replacing the value of the CO, emissions of the
new car fleet in Europe as a key non-financial perfor-
mance indicator because they provide a more compre-
hensive picture of the global activities of the Mercedes-
Benz Group in the area of electromobility.
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Declaration on
Corporate Governance

The Declaration on Corporate Governance, which is
combined for the company and the Group in accord-
ance with Section 289f and Section 315d of the German
Commercial Code, can be found in the chapter Declara-
tion on Corporate Governance of the Annual Report as
well as on the Internet at @ group.mercedes-benz.
com/dcg.

Pursuant to Section 317 Subsection 2 Sentence 6 of the
German Commercial Code (HGB), the purpose of the
audit of the statements pursuant to Section 289f Sub-
sections 2 and 5 and Section 315d of the HGB by the
auditors is limited to determining whether such state-
ments have actually been provided.


https://group.mercedes-benz.com/dcg/
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Economic Conditions
and Business Development

The world economy and
automotive markets

The world economy

General economic conditions

The world economy performed better throughout the
reporting year than had been expected at the beginning
of the year — and although global growth of 2.7% was
somewhat lower than in the previous year (3%), it was
only slightly below the long-term trend. The adverse
effects on growth that resulted from the steep and syn-
chronized tightening of monetary policy by many cen-
tral banks was offset to some degree by supportive fis-
cal policies and lower prices for energy and raw
materials. At the same time, major differences were
observed between regions, and even within regions in
some cases. The main reason for the positive develop-
ment of the world economy overall was the unexpected
resilience of the US economy in the face of an
extremely restrictive monetary policy, although major
emerging markets such as India and Brazil were also
able to exceed expectations in this regard. On the other

hand, the European and the Chinese economies dis-
played relatively weak development during the year
under review. Given these circumstances, global trade
volume not only slowed but also contracted by around
2% in 2023 as compared to the previous year.

The US economy successfully defied recession risks
during the reporting year. Growth remained strong
despite the fact that the country’s central bank — the
Fed — raised its policy rate throughout the course of
the year by a further 100 basis points to 5.5%. Private
consumption in particular developed dynamically and
was supported by generous fiscal programmes and
pandemic-era excess savings. Inflation also continued
to decline — at an average of 4.1%, it was significantly
lower than in the prior year, but it still remained above
the Fed’s target. This development, along with substan-
tial wage increases, had a positive effect on disposable
income. Thanks to robust domestic demand, the US
economy recorded growth of 2.5% for the year as a
whole in 2023.

The economy in the euro zone developed much less
dynamically, although the burden caused by high
energy prices was noticeably less pronounced in 2023
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than it was in the prior year. Still, the industrial sector
remained under extreme pressure and shrank signifi-
cantly over the year as a whole. Private consumption
stagnated across many sectors due to ongoing high,
albeit decreasing, inflation and rising interest rates.
Inflation in the euro zone averaged 5.4% for the year as
a whole, which was still much higher than the central
bank target of approximately 2%. The European Central
Bank thus continued its tight monetary policy, raising
the main refinancing rate throughout the course of the
year by a further 200 basis points to 4.5%. Economic
activity in the euro zone advanced slightly during the
first half of the year, due, among other things, to the
ongoing post-pandemic recovery and fewer supply
chain disruptions. However, output then declined mar-
ginally during the second half of the year, with the
result that the economy in the euro zone recorded
growth of only 0.5% for 2023 as a whole.

Following the end of the zero-COVID policy in China,
the Chinese economy started the year with a strong
recovery that it was unable to maintain. The recovery
was ultimately curbed by the pronounced weakness of
the Chinese real estate sector and the associated crisis
of confidence among consumers. Nevertheless, thanks
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to government support measures and an easing in mon-
etary policy, China was able to achieve its growth target,
with GDP up by 5.2% on the year. Unlike the case in the
United States and Europe, the Chinese economy was
faced with slight deflationary tendencies — consumer
prices rose by only 0.2% in the country for the year as a
whole.

Development of exchange rates

Exchange rates were volatile in this environment.
Against the US dollar, the euro moved between USD
1.05 and USD 1.13 in the course of the year. At the end of
2023, the euro was around 3% stronger than at the end
of 2022. The range of fluctuation of the Chinese ren-
minbi against the euro was 7.2 to 8.1. Year-on-year, the
value of the euro increased by around 6% against the
renminbi.

Energy and raw material prices

Prices for oil and gas declined significantly from their
record levels in 2022, but they remained very volatile
nevertheless. The oil price fell below USD 80 per barrel
at the end of the year, which was almost 9% lower than
at the end of 2022. The average price for the year as a
whole was about 17% lower than in the previous year.
Gas prices in Europe also fell noticeably. The price at
the end of the year — approximately €32 — was almost
60% lower than the price at the end of 2022 but still
higher than the price before the pandemic. Prices for
industrial raw materials also tended to decrease further
over the year and at the end of the year were a little
less than 3% below the prices recorded at the end of
2022.

Automotive markets

The economic conditions described above also affected
the development of the global automotive market in the
year under review. Nevertheless, sales markets were
able to partially buck the trend of the overall economic
slowdown. In particular, the normalization of global
vehicle production, as well as the order backlog that
still existed in some cases in the aftermath of the pan-
demic, boosted the development of sales last year.
Customer demand, in contrast, weakened in many auto-
motive markets throughout the year.

Against this background, the global car market volume
overall was significantly higher than in the previous
year. Several different regions contributed to this global
increase in volume. The European market recovered
noticeably, with market volume increasing significantly
by 14% from the low level recorded in the prior year.
The US market for light vehicles also registered
significant growth of 12% compared to the previous
year, while the Chinese market recorded a slight
increase of approximately 6%.
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The factors mentioned above also affected the develop-
ment of key van sales markets. In Europe, the com-
bined segment for mid-size and large vans, as well as
the segment for small vans, recorded a significant
increase. The US market for large vans also increased
significantly in volume compared to the previous year.
Sales figures for mid-size vans in China were also signif-
icantly higher than in the previous year, although
growth in that market was largely a result of the intro-
duction of new vehicle models by relevant competitors.
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Business development

Mercedes-Benz Group

Despite bottlenecks in the supply chain, the Mercedes-
Benz Group increased unit sales by 1.5% to 2,491,600
vehicles in 2023.

Mercedes-Benz Cars

Top-End

Unit sales in the Top-End! category accounted for 16%
of total unit sales in 2023. In 2023, Mercedes-Maybach
was able to increase unit sales by 19% to 27,900 units.
At 143,200 units, Mercedes-AMG achieved a 4%
increase in unit sales. At 42,700 units, sales of the
G-Class? were 11% above the prior-year figure. GLS?2
sales increased by 30% to 77,900 units. The S-Class?
maintained its leadership in the major sales markets
with 93,300 vehicles sold.

Core

The Core category accounted for 54% of the overall
portfolio’s unit sales. Unit sales of C-Class® vehicles
rose by 10% to 334,400 saloons, estates, coupés and
cabriolets. E-Class?® sales reached 309,100 units — an
increase of 2% — despite the model change. Meanwhile,

1 The Top-End category includes all AMG models.

2 Including Mercedes-Maybach and Mercedes AMG derivatives.
3 Including Mercedes AMG derivatives.

4 Including Mercedes-Maybach.

due to supply bottlenecks, sales of the GLC® amounted
to 297,400 units and of the GLE3 to 219,100 units.

Entry

The Entry category represented 30% of the entire port-
folio. Sales of the A-Class? totalled 245,100 units. Sales
of the B-Class amounted to 21,600 vehicles. The GLB3
reached 191,900 units sold, and the GLA3 175,500 units.
A total of 18,100 smart vehicles were sold in the Euro-
pean market.

Mercedes-Benz Cars unit sales

Consolidated Financial Statements

2023 2022 23/22
In units % change
Total unit sales 2,044,100 2,040,700
Top-End 328,300 328,200
% share of unit sales 16 16
Core 1,096,900 1,116,600 -2
% share of unit sales 54 55
Entry (incl. smart) 618,900 595,900 4
% share of unit sales 30 29
thereof
Electrified vehicles (xEV) 401,900 333,500 21
BEVs 240,600 149,200 61
PHEVs 161,300 184,300 -12
Share of electrified vehicles
in % of unit sales 20 16
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Electrified vehicles (XEV)

The share of electrified vehicles accounted for 20% of
Mercedes-Benz Cars’ total unit sales (2022: 16%). This
corresponds to unit sales of 401,900 vehicles (2022:
333,500) and an increase of 21% on the previous year.

Sales of all-electric vehicles (BEVs) of the Mercedes-
Benz brand rose by 61% to 240,600 units in 2023 (2022:
149,200). All-electric vehicles thus accounted for a 12%
share of total unit sales (2022: 7%). The most important
sales drivers were the EQA, with sales of 52,500 units
and the EQB with 54,800 units. The EQE Saloon
achieved sales of 37,700 units and the newly introduced
EQE SUV 32,100 units. Sales of the EQS Saloon
amounted to 14,100 units, and of the EQS SUV# 18,500
units.

Sales of plug-in hybrid vehicles (PHEVs) totalled
161,300 units in the year under review (2022: 184,300),
which corresponds to an 8% share of total sales (2022:
9%).

Mercedes-Benz Cars unit sales by region

Compared to the prior year, unit sales of Mercedes-
Benz Cars increased in Europe (European Union, United
Kingdom, Switzerland and Norway) and remained stable
in the other major sales markets. In Europe, it sold
659,600 vehicles (2022: 618,900). Sales growth of 9%
to 234,300 units was recorded in Germany in the
reporting year (2022: 215,600).
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In China, sales amounted to 737,200 units (2022:
753,900). This figure includes the unit sales recorded by
the associated company Beijing Benz Automo-

tive Co., Ltd. (BBAC), which is an equity-method invest-
ment. A total of 339,500 vehicles were sold in North
America (2022: 344,200). Unit sales in the region’s main
market, the United States, amounted to 298,000 vehi-
cles and were thus at the prior-year level (2022:
300,800).

Mercedes-Benz Vans

Mercedes-Benz Vans sold 447,800 vehicles worldwide
in 2023 (2022: 415,300), thus setting a new record.

All model series contributed to the growth in sales here.

The large vans (Sprinter/eSprinter) recorded a signifi-
cant increase in sales to 237,400 units (2022: 217,400).
Sales of mid-size vans (Vito/eVito, V-Class/EQV)
totalled 178,900 units (2022: 175,500). Sales of small
vans (Citan/eCitan, T-Class/EQT') amounted to 31,500
units (2022: 22,500).

Worldwide, it proved possible to significantly increase
unit sales of electrified vans to 22,700 units (2022:
15,000 units). These were exclusively all-electric mod-
els. The share of electrified vehicles thus accounted
for a 5% share of total unit sales (2022: 4%).

1 WLTP: combined energy consumption: 20.7-19.3 kWh/100 km; combined CO, emissions:
0 g/km; CO, class: A.

At 279,400 units, sales in Europe (European Union,
United Kingdom, Switzerland and Norway) were signifi-
cantly above the prior-year level (2022: 259,400). Unit
sales in Germany amounted to 114,000 vehicles (2022:
113,200). Mercedes-Benz Vans also set a new sales
record in the United States with unit sales of 75,100
vehicles (2022: 66,400). In China, unit sales totalled
33,400 vehicles (2022: 34,200).

Mercedes-Benz Mobility

The Mercedes-Benz Mobility division had a contract vol-
ume of €135.0 billion — slightly above the previous
year’s figure — at the end of 2023 (31 December 2022:
€132.4 billion, +2%; +4% after adjusting for exchange-
rate effects). The figure for contract volume shows the
total monetary amount of all leasing and financing con-
tracts on a certain date.

Mercedes-Benz Mobility concluded 1.4 million new
financing and leasing contracts worth a total of

€62.0 billion in the course of 2023. The total value of all
new contracts was thus slightly higher than in the prior
year (31 December 2022: €58.0 billion, +7%; +10% after
adjusting for exchange-rate effects). The main reason
for the positive development was the higher average
financing and leasing volume per contract, driven by
improved pricing on the sales side and a higher propor-
tion of electrified and Top-End vehicles in the new busi-
ness.

In the German market, new business was roughly on a
par with the previous year at €10.4 billion (+2%).
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Contract volume amounted to €24.5 billion (-3%). The
US market benefited from a higher average financing
and leasing volume per contract and a significant
increase in the penetration rate. The penetration rate
indicates the proportion of leased and financed vehi-
cles in the Group’s unit sales. At €16.2 billion (+25%),
the volume of new business at the end of 2023 was
considerably higher than the figure recorded in the prior
year. At €35.7 billion, contract volume at the end of
December 2023 was slightly higher than at the end of
2022 (+3%). In China, on the other hand, increased
competition in the financial services sector caused new
business to decrease by 18% compared to the prior year
to €9.8 billion. At €16.7 billion, contract volume was also
significantly lower than in the previous year (-15%). New
business in other markets totalled €25.6 billion (+11%),
while contract volume amounted to €58.1 billion (+10%).

Order situation

Incoming orders at Mercedes-Benz Cars at the end of
2023 were at the same level as in 2022. The new
E-Class in particular made a positive contribution to the
order situation.

The volume of incoming orders at Mercedes-Benz Vans
at the end of 2023 was lower than in the previous year;
this was due in particular to the overall economic situa-
tion. The order situation is thus at a normal level after
several previous years that were marked by positive
one-off effects.
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Investment and research activities

Investments in property, plant and equipment

During the year under review, investments in property,
plant and equipment at the Mercedes-Benz Group
amounted to €3.7 billion and were thus higher than in
the previous year (2022: €3.5 billion).

Investments in property, plant
and equipment!

2023 2022 23/22

In millions of euros % change
Mercedes-Benz Group 3,745 3,481 8
thereof Mercedes-Benz Cars 3,345 3,265 2
thereof Mercedes-Benz Vans 351 199 76

1 Theinvestments in property, plant and equipment correspond to additions to property,
plant and equipment in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In 2023, investments in property, plant and equipment
at Mercedes-Benz Cars focused on production prepa-
rations and the initial introductions of the MMA and
MB.EA platforms. Considerable funds were also
invested in the expansion of our battery production
facilities. At €3.3 billion, investments in property, plant
and equipment in 2023 were at the previous year’s
level.

The investments in property, plant and equipment at
Mercedes-Benz Vans amounted to €0.4 billion in 2023
(2022: €£0.2 billion) and were thus significantly higher
than in the prior year. This was mainly driven by the
planned transition to an all-electric Mercedes-Benz van
fleet and investments for the transformation of produc-
tion operations.

Research and development

Research and development expenditure at the
Mercedes-Benz Group amounted to €10.0 billion in
2023 (2022: €8.5 billion), higher than in the previous
year. €3.8 billion (2022: €2.9 billion) of the research and
development costs were capitalized, representing a
capitalization rate of 38% (2022: 34%).

Research and development

Consolidated Financial Statements

2023 2022 23/22
In millions of euros % change
Research and development
expenditure 9,996 8,541 17
thereof Mercedes-Benz Cars 9,099 7,986 14
thereof Mercedes-Benz Vans 873 552 58
Research and non-capitalized
development costs 6,230 5,602 11
Capitalized development costs 3,766 2,939 28
Capitalization rate in % 38 34
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Research and development expenditure at
Mercedes-Benz Cars amounted to €9.1 billion (2022:
€8.0 billion). Expenditure here focused mainly on the
development of the new platform generations, which
are designed for electromobility. In addition, the com-
pany intensified its research and development expendi-
ture on digitalization and automated driving.

Research and development expenditure at
Mercedes-Benz Vans amounted to €0.9 billion in 2023
(2022: €0.6 billion), which was significantly higher than
in the previous year. Activities relating to the planned
electrification of the van fleet played a major role in
2023. This was mostly due to the new eSprinter and
the all-electric, modular and scalable van architecture
(VAN.EA).
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Profitability, Liquidity and
Capital Resources, and Financial Position

To provide a better insight into the Group’s profitability,
liquidity and capital resources, and financial position, in
addition to the figures for the Mercedes-Benz Group, a
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income, a Con-
densed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and a
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Posi-
tion are shown for each of the industrial business and
the segment Mercedes-Benz Mobility. The industrial
business comprises the automotive segments
Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans. The
effects from intra-Group eliminations between the
industrial business and Mercedes-Benz Mobility, as well
as items at the corporate level, are generally allocated
to the industrial business. In justified individual cases,
effects on the profitability, liquidity and capital
resources, and financial position of the corresponding
segment are presented from an economic rather than a
legal perspective.

In order to provide a more transparent presentation of
the ongoing business, adjusted figures are also calcu-
lated and reported for both the Group and the seg-
ments. The adjustments generally include individual
items insofar as they lead to material effects in a
reporting year. These individual items can relate in

particular to legal proceedings and related measures,
restructuring measures and M&A transactions. Further
information on the performance measurement system
can be found in the Corporate Profile chapter.

Profitability

Consolidated Statement of Income

In 2023, the revenue amounted to €153.2 billion (2022:
€150.0 billion) and was thus slightly higher than in the
prior-year. The increase was primarily due to higher unit
sales and improved pricing at the Mercedes-Benz Vans
segment. Revenue in the Mercedes-Benz Cars segment
was also higher, primarily due to a further improvement
in pricing. Negative exchange-rate effects caused reve-
nue to decline.

Cost of sales amounted to €118.8 billion (2022:
€116.0 billion) in 2023, increased by 2.4% compared
with the previous year. The increase was mainly due
to expenses to suppliers because of additional costs
relating to inflation and supply chains.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Revenue by segment and region

2023 2022 23/22
In millions of euros % change
Mercedes-Benz Group 153,218 150,017 2
Segments
Mercedes-Benz Cars 112,756 111,601 1
Mercedes-Benz Vans 20,288 17,217 18
Mercedes-Benz Mobility 26,718 26,954 -1
Reconciliation? -6,544 -5,755 14
Regions
Europe 61,895 56,487 10
thereof Germany 25,799 23,085 12
North America 40,488 40,091 1
thereof United States 36,041 35,829 1
Asia 43,382 45,558 -5
thereof China 25,284 27,324 -7
Other markets 7,453 7,881 -5

1 The reconciliation includes eliminations of intra-Group revenue between the segments.
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By contrast, lower raw material prices had a positive
impact on the cost of sales. Moreover, refinancing costs
at Mercedes-Benz Mobility rose due to higher interest
rates. In the prior year, cost of sales was negatively
impacted by expenses in connection with the discon-
tinuation of the business activities in Russia.

Overall, gross profit in relation to revenue increased
from €34.0 billion to €34.4 billion.

Selling expenses increased by €0.2 billion to €9.7 bil-
lion. As a proportion of revenue, selling expenses
remained unchanged at 6.3%.

In the past year, general administrative expenses
increased by €0.1 billion to €2.7 billion. As a proportion
of revenue, general administrative expenses increased
from 1.7% to 1.8%.

Research and non-capitalized development costs of
€6.2 billion in 2023 were above the prior-year level
(2022: €5.6 billion). The increase was mainly due to
higher expenses in connection with advance expendi-
ture for the renewal of existing models and the further
development of fuel-efficient and environmentally
friendly drive systems as well as the digital connectivity
of the products. As a proportion of revenue, research
and non-capitalized development costs increased from
3.7% to 4.1%. Further information on this topic is pro-
vided in the Investment and research activities chapter
of this Combined Management Report.

Other operating income of €1.7 billion (2022: €2.0 bil-
lion) was below the level of the prior year. The figure
included expenses in the amount of €0.2 billion in con-
nection with the discontinuation of business activities
in Russia. The prior-year earnings included total income
of €0.9 billion in connection with the restructuring of
the sales activities in Canada and the change in the
shareholding structure of the motorsport business. By
contrast, other operating income in the prior year was
impaired by the result attributable to the spin-off and
hive-down of assets and liabilities of the Daimler com-
mercial vehicles business of the Mercedes-Benz Mobil-
ity segment. The resulting loss (before deduction of
transaction costs) amounted to €0.2 billion.

In 2023, the gains/losses on equity-method invest-
ments amounted to €2.1 billion (2022: €1.7 billion) and
were thus above the prior-year level. The positive
development was mainly due to the higher proportion-
ate earning of the investment in Daimler Truck Hold-
ing AG. In financial year 2023, earnings totalled

€0.8 billion (2022: €0.2 billion). In addition to higher
current earnings, the increase compared to the previ-
ous year is partly due to lower negative adjustments at
the Group from an investor’s perspective. In 2022, the
earnings included income of €59 million from the con-
tribution of approximately 5% of the shares in Daimler
Truck to the Mercedes-Benz Pension Trust. In contrast,
the result of Beijing Automotive Co., Ltd. decreased to
€1.5 billion (2022: €1.7 billion).

The other financial income/expense was below the
previous year’s level at €0.1 billion (2022: €0.3 billion),

Consolidated Financial Statements

49

Further Information

mainly due to higher expenses from the discounting of
non-current provisions.

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted
to €19.7 billion in 2023, which is slightly lower than in
the previous year (2022: €20.5 billion).

Due to the global increase in interest rates, net interest
income/expense improved to an income of €0.4 billion
(2022: expense of €0.2 billion) in 2023.

The tax expense of €5.6 billion (2022: £€5.5 billion)
remained at the prior-year level. The effective tax rate
for the reporting year was 27.6% (2022: 27.1%).

Net profit was thus €14.5 billion (2022: €14.8 billion).
Net profit of €0.3 billion is attributable to non-con-
trolling interests (2022: €0.3 billion). The net profit
attributable to shareholders of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG amounted to €14.3 billion (2022: €14.5 bil-
lion), leading to a decrease in earnings per share to
€13.46 (2022: €13.55). The calculation of earnings per
share is based on an average number of 1,059.6 million
issued shares (2022: 1,069.8 million issued shares). The
decrease in the weighted average number of shares in
circulation is due to the share buyback programme
resolved by the Board of Management on 16 February
2023.

Further information on the individual items of the Con-
solidated Statement of Income is provided in Notes 4 ff.
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Condensed consolidated statement of income/loss

Mercedes-Benz Group Industrial Business Mercedes-Benz Mobility
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

In millions of euros
Revenue 153,218 150,017 126,500 123,063 26,718 26,954
Cost of sales -118,839 -115,997 -95,209 -93,010 -23,630 -22,987
Gross profit 34,379 34,020 31,291 30,053 3,088 3,967
Selling expenses -9,728 -9,482 -9,043 -8,760 -685 -722
General administrative expenses -2,688 -2,5684 -1,895 -1,855 -793 -729
Research and non-capitalized development costs -6,230 -5,602 -6,230 -5,602 - -
Other operating income/expense 1,690 2,034 1,838 1,925 -148 109
Gains/losses on equity-method investments 2,129 1,732 2,284 1,941 -155 -209
Other financial income/expense 108 340 113 328 -5 12
EBIT 19,660 20,458 18,358 18,030 1,302 2,428
Interest income/expense 424 -154 434 -150 -10 -4
Profit before income taxes 20,084 20,304 18,792 17,880 1,292 2,424
Income taxes -5,553 -5,495 -4,975 -4,868 -578 -627
Net profit 14,531 14,809 13,817 13,012 714 1,797

thereof profit attributable to non-controlling interests 270 308

thereof attributable to shareholders of Mercedes-Benz Group AG 14,261 14,501
Earnings per share (in euros)
For profit attributable to shareholders of Mercedes-Benz Group AG
Basic 13.46 13.55
Diluted 13.46 13.55
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EBIT by segment

The EBIT of the Mercedes-Benz Cars segment
decreased to €14,224 million (2022: €16,340 million);
adjusted EBIT was €14,252 million (2022: €16,245 mil-
lion). With a revenue of €112,756 million (2022:
€111,601 million), the adjusted return on sales of 12.6%
was lower than the adjusted prior-year figure of 14.6%.

Improved pricing and lower raw material prices had a
positive impact on gross profit. On the other hand,
gross profit was impacted by expenses paid to suppli-
ers due to additional costs relating to inflation and sup-
ply chains over the course of the year. In addition,
exchange-rate effects had a negative impact on earn-
ings. Gross profit in relation to revenue decreased from
23.9% to 23.4% as a result. Other functional costs
increased in 2023. This was mainly due to advance
expenditure for the renewal of existing models and the
further development of fuel-efficient and environmen-
tally friendly drive systems as well as the digital con-
nectivity of the products. In addition, increased
expenses from the discounting of non-current provi-
sions as well as lower equity-method gains of the stake
in Beijing Benz Automotive Co., Ltd. contributed to a
decrease in earnings.

Adjusted EBIT was slightly higher than EBIT in the year
2023. Effects from ongoing regulatory and legal pro-
ceedings and measures relating to Mercedes-Benz die-
sel vehicles of €94 million (2022: €110 million) nega-
tively impacted the segment’s earnings. Earnings in
connection with the discontinuation of the business
activities in Russia in the amount of €66 million (2022:
expense of €658 million) had a positive impact. In addi-
tion, in the prior year, M&A transactions in the amount
of €863 million had a positive effect on the profit due
to the €478 million from the restructuring of the sales
activities in Canada and the €385 million from the
change in the shareholding structure of the motorsport
business.

The Mercedes-Benz Vans segment achieved an EBIT of
€3,138 million (2022: €1,897 million); adjusted EBIT was
€3,063 million (2022: €1,927 million). With a revenue

of €20,288 million (2022: €17,217 million), the adjusted
return on sales of 15.1% was higher than the adjusted
prior-year figure of 11.2%.

The substantial rise in unit sales as well as improved
pricing had a very positive impact on gross profit. How-
ever, the result was impacted by higher material costs
and expenses for higher transportation costs to global
sales markets. Furthermore, earnings reflected the
highly inflationary macroeconomic situation, particu-
larly the hyperinflation in Argentina. Overall, gross profit
in relation to revenue increased from 21.3% to 24.6%.
Other functional costs were slightly above the level of
the previous year.
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Adjusted EBIT was slightly lower than EBIT in the year
2023. Effects in connection with ongoing governmental
and court proceedings and measures taken relating

to Mercedes-Benz diesel vehicles led to an impact in
the amount of €70 million (2022: expense of €15 mil-
lion) on earnings. In addition, income in the amount of
€5 million (2022: expense of €51 million) resulted in
connection with the discontinuation of business activi-
ties in Russia. In the prior year, M&A transactions in
connection with the restructuring of the sales activities
in Canada contributed €36 million to earnings.

In 2023, EBIT of the Mercedes-Benz Mobility segment
amounted to €1,302 million (2022: €2,428 million);
adjusted EBIT was €1,695 million (2022: €2,428 million).
Revenue amounted to €26,718 million (2022:

€26,954 million). Adjusted return on equity of 12.3% was
below the adjusted prior-year figure of 16.8%.

The main reasons for the development of EBIT in 2023
were an decreased interest margin due to higher inter-
est rates and increased competition in the financial
services sector. Falling used car prices reduced Athlon’s
remarketing result. Exchange-rate effects and expenses
for the expansion of the charging activities also reduced
EBIT. The equity-method gains of the mobility invest-
ments improved due to a better operating business
result and restructuring measures. Despite a challeng-
ing macroeconomic environment, credit risk costs were
slightly below the previous year’s level.
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Adjusted EBIT in 2023 was above the reported EBIT.
Expenses of €276 million in connection with the discon-
tinuation of the business activities in Russia had a neg-
ative effect on earnings. In addition, the equity-method
gains/losses were negatively impacted by an impair-
ment (€117 million).

The reconciliation of the segments’ EBIT to Group EBIT
comprises items at the corporate level and the effects
on earnings of eliminating intra-Group transactions
between the segments.

In 2023, items at the corporate level resulted in earn-
ings of €858 million (2022: expense of €225 million).
This includes the positive effect on earnings of

€797 million (2022: €226 million) from the equi-
ty-method investments in Daimler Truck Holding AG.
On the other hand, in the previous year, earnings were
affected by adjustments in connection with the sale
of individual investments and business activities to
Daimler Truck (€268 million after subtracting transac-
tion costs). Further information on this is provided

in Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The elimination of intra-Group transactions resulted in
earnings of €138 million in 2023 (2022: €18 million).
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EBIT of the Mercedes-Benz Group

Mercedes-Benz Group Mercedes-Benz Cars Mercedes-Benz Vans Mercedes-Benz Mobility Reconciliation
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

In millions of euros
Revenue 153,218 150,017 112,756 111,601 20,288 17,217 26,718 26,954 -6,544 -5,755
Cost of sales -118,839 -115,997 -86,366 -84,927 -15,299 -13,549 -23,630 -22,987 6,456 5,466
Gross profit 34,379 34,020 26,390 26,674 4,989 3,668 3,088 3,967 -88 -289
Selling expenses -9,728 -9,482 -7,740 -7,568 -1,466 -1,359 -685 -722 163 167
General administrative expenses -2,688 -2,584 -1,538 -1,460 -242 -252 -793 -729 -115 -143
Research and non-capitalized development costs -6,230 -5,602 -5,682 -5,184 -524 -415 - - -24 -3
Other income/expense 3,927 4,106 2,794 3,878 381 255 -308 -88 1,060 61
EBIT 19,660 20,458 14,224 16,340 3,138 1,897 1,302 2,428 996 -207
Legal proceedings (and related measures) 22 119 94 110 -70 15 - - -2 -6
Restructuring measures - - - - - - - - - -
M&A transactions 117 -631 - -863 - -36 117 - - 268
Income/expenses in connection with adjustments of the business
activities in Russia 205 709 -66 658 -5 51 276 - - -
Adjusted EBIT 20,004 20,655 14,252 16,245 3,063 1,927 1,695 2,428 994 55
Return on sales/return on equity (in %) 12.6% 14.6% 15.5% 11.0% 9.5% 16.8%
Adjusted return on sales/return on equity (in %)! 12.6% 14.6% 15.1% 11.2% 12.3% 16.8%

1 Adjusted return on sales is calculated as the ratio of adjusted EBIT to revenue. The adjusted return on equity is determined as the ratio of adjusted EBIT to the average equity of the quarters.
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Value added and return on net assets

As described in the section Performance measurement
system, value added is calculated as the difference
between the measure of earnings and the cost of capi-
tal. The cost of capital used in the calculation of value
added is based on average net assets multiplied by the
cost of capital rate. The ratio of earnings to net assets
results in the profitability of net assets, i.e. the return
on capital employed (return on net assets, RONA).

The measure of earnings for the segments is EBIT and
for the Group is net operating profit, which in addition
to the EBIT of the segments also includes earnings
effects for which the segments are not accountable,
such as income taxes and other reconciling items.

The following table shows value added for the
Mercedes-Benz Group and for the individual segments.

Consolidated Financial Statements

Value added

2023 2022 23/22
In millions of euros Change
Mercedes-Benz Group 8,844 10,236 -1,392
Mercedes-Benz Cars 8,841 11,757 -2,916
Mercedes-Benz Vans 2,975 1,791 +1,184
Mercedes-Benz Mobility -488 692 -1,180

The value added of the Mercedes-Benz Group in the
reporting year amounted to €8.8 billion (2022: €10.2 bil-
lion), representing a return on net assets of 23.8%
(2022: 25.5%). This was once again significantly higher
than the Group’s required cost of capital rate of 9%
(2022: 8%). The value added of the Mercedes-Benz
Group decreased, mainly due to the negative develop-
ment of EBIT of the segments Mercedes-Benz Cars and
Mercedes-Benz Mobility. The €1.3 billion increase in
average net assets also had a slightly negative effect
on value added. This was partly offset by the positive
development of EBIT at Mercedes-Benz Vans.
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At the Mercedes-Benz Cars segment, value added of
€8.8 billion was below the prior-year amount of

€11.8 billion. RONA amounted to 34.4% (2022: 42.8%).
This was primarily due to the negative earnings devel-
opment. The segment’s average net assets, which at
€3.2 billion, were higher than in the previous year,
increased the negative effect on the value added. This
was mainly due to higher average inventories and
decreasing average provisions for other risks.

The value added of the Mercedes-Benz Vans segment
increased significantly from €1.8 billion to €3.0 billion.
RONA amounted to 250.4% (2022: 214.4%). This was
mainly due to the very positive earnings development.
The average net assets showed an opposing increase to
€1.3 billion, which was primarily due to increased aver-
age inventories and decreasing average provisions for
other risks.

At the Mercedes-Benz Mobility segment, value added
amounted to minus €0.5 billion (2022: €0.7 billion). The
segment’s return on equity was 9.5% (2022: 16.8%). The
development of the return on equity primarily reflects
the decrease in earnings. By contrast, the decrease in
average total equity had a slightly positive effect on the
return on equity.
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The following table shows the reconciliation of the seg- The following table shows the average net assets. The following table shows the derivation of net assets
ments’ EBIT to net operating profit of the Mercedes- on 31 December from the Consolidated Statement of
Benz Group. Financial Position.
Net assets (average)
Reconciliation of the segments« EBIT to net operating profit 2023 2022 23/22
2023 2022 23/22 In millions of euros % change Net assets of the Mercedes-Benz Group at year-end
In millions of euros Change At 31 December
Mercedes-Benz Cars 41,407 38,189 +8 2023 2022 23/22
illi 0y
Mercedes-Benz Cars 14,224 16,340 -2,116 Mercedes-Benz Vans 1,253 885 +42 In millions of euros % change
Mercedes-Benz Vans 3,138 1,897 +1,241 Mercedes-Benz Mobility! 13,774 14,466 -5
1 1
Mercedes-Benz Mobility 1,302 2428 -1126  Netassets Intangible assets 17,022 15275 —
i 1 -
EBIT of the segments 18,664 20,665 -2,001 of the segments 56,434 53,540 +5 Property, plant and equipment 25,797 26,942 4
Income taxes! -5,430 -5,540 +110 Equity-method investment in Equipment on operating leases! 14,445 14,038 +3
DTHAG 8,221 8,078 +2 iacl
Other reconciliation 996 -207 +1,203 ; ! Inventories 26,126 24,906 o
Net " it Other equity-method Trade receivables! 6,585 7,328 -10
et operating profi investments? 253 303 -17 —
Mercedes-Benz Group 14,230 14,918 -688 — - Provisions
Assets and liabilities from income for other riskst -14.481 -15.179 -5
9 il
1 Adjusted for after-tax interest income. taxes? -5,159 -3,818 +35
Trade payables! -11,625 -11,101 +5
Other reconciliation® 94 422 -78
Other assets
Net assets and liabilities! 412,409 12,595 1
Mercedes-Benz Group 59,843 58,525 +2 .
Assets and liabilities
1 Equity. from income taxes! -4,778 -4,507 +6
2 To the extent not allocated to the segments. N
3 To the extent not allocated to Mercedes-Benz Mobility. Total equity
of Mercedes-Benz Mobility 13,014 13,576 -4
Mercedes-Benz Group 59,696 58,683 +2

1 To the extent not allocated to Mercedes-Benz Mobility.
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Liquidity and capital resources
Principles and objectives of financial management

Financial management at the Mercedes-Benz Group
consists of capital structure management, cash and
liquidity management, market-price risk management
(foreign exchange-rates and interest rates), as well as
pension-asset management and credit and country risk
management. Worldwide financial management is per-
formed within the framework of legal requirements con-
sistently for the Group entities by the Treasury depart-
ment of the Mercedes-Benz Group. Financial
management operates within a framework of guidelines,
limits and benchmarks, and on the operational level is
organizationally separate from other financial functions
such as settlement, financial controlling, reporting and
accounting.

Capital structure management designs the capital
structure of the Group and its subsidiaries. Decisions
regarding the capitalization of the Mercedes-Benz
Group companies are based on the principles of
cost-optimized and risk-optimized liquidity and capital
resources.

Liquidity management aims to ensure the Group can
meet its payment obligations at any time. For this pur-
pose, the Group records the cash flows from operating
and financial activities in a rolling plan. The resulting
financial requirements are covered by the use of appro-
priate instruments for liquidity management (e.g. bank
credit, commercial paper and notes); liquidity surpluses
are invested in the money market or the capital market
taking into account risk and return expectations. Our
goal is to ensure the level of liquidity regarded as nec-
essary at optimal costs. Besides operational liquidity,
the Mercedes-Benz Group maintains additional sources
of liquidity which are available in the short term. Those
additional financial resources include a pool of receiva-
bles from the financial services business which are
available for securitization in the capital market and a
contractually confirmed syndicated credit facility. Since
December 2021, the Group also has liquidity reserves in
the form of its shareholding in Daimler Truck Hold-

ing AG, which can only be sold with the consent of
Daimler Truck Holding AG until the end of 2024. Con-
sent to the sale is not required in the event of a crisis or
after December 2024.
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Cash management centrally determines the cash
requirements and surpluses. By means of cash-pooling
procedures, liquidity is in general centrally concen-
trated on bank accounts of the Mercedes-Benz Group in
various currencies. Most of the payments between
companies of the Group are made through internal
clearing accounts so that the number of external cash
flows is reduced to a minimum. The Mercedes-Benz
Group has established standardized processes and sys-
tems to manage its bank accounts and internal
cash-clearing accounts, and to execute automated pay-
ment transactions.

Management of market-price risks aims to limit the
impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange-rates and
interest rates on the earnings of the divisions and the
Group. The Group’s overall exposure to these mar-
ket-price risks is initially determined in order to provide
a basis for hedging decisions. These include the volume
to be hedged, the period to be hedged and the choice
of hedging instruments. The hedging strategy is speci-
fied at Group level and uniformly implemented. The
decision-making body is the Treasury Risk Management
Committee, which meets regularly.
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Management of pension assets (plan assets) includes
the investment of the assets to cover the corresponding
pension obligations. The plan assets are legally sepa-
rated from the Group’s assets and are invested primarily
in funds; they are not available for general business
purposes. The plan assets are spread across a broad
range of investment categories such as equities,
fixed-interest securities, alternative investments and
real estate, depending on the expected development of
pension obligations and with the help of risk-return
optimization. The performance of the asset manage-
ment is measured by comparison with defined bench-
mark indices. The investment risks are limited via a
Group-wide policy. In addition, there are local regula-
tions for risk management for the individual plan assets.
Additional information on pension plans and similar
obligations is provided in Note 22 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The risk volume that is subject to credit risk manage-
ment includes the Mercedes-Benz Group’s worldwide
creditor positions with financial institutions, issuers of
securities and customers in the financial services busi-
ness, as well as trade receivables. Credit risks with
financial institutions and issuers of securities arise pri-
marily from investments executed as part of our liquid-
ity management and from the application of derivative
financial instruments. The management of these credit
risks is mainly based on an internal limit system that
reflects the creditworthiness of the respective financial
institution or issuer. The credit risk with customers of
the automotive business results from relationships with
contracted dealerships and general agencies, other cor-
porate customers and retail customers. In connection
with the export business, general agencies that accord-
ing to the creditworthiness analyses are not sufficiently
creditworthy are generally required to provide collater-
als such as first-class bank guarantees. The credit risk
with end customers in the financial services business is
managed by Mercedes-Benz Mobility on the basis of a
standardized risk-management process. In this process,
minimum requirements are defined for the sales-financ-
ing and leasing business and standards are set for
credit processes, as well as for the identification, meas-
urement and management of risks. Key elements for the
management of credit risks are appropriate creditwor-
thiness assessments supported by statistical risk-clas-
sification methods, as well as structured portfolio anal-
ysis and portfolio monitoring.
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Financial country risk management includes various
aspects: the risk from investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures, the risk from the cross-border financing
of Group companies in high-risk countries and the risk
from direct sales to customers in those countries. The
Group has an internal rating system that assigns the
countries in which it operates to risk categories. Risks
from cross-border receivables are partially protected
with the use of letters of credit and bank guarantees in
favour of Mercedes-Benz Group AG and other Group
companies. In addition, an internal committee sets and
restricts the level of hard-currency credits granted to
Mercedes-Benz Mobility companies in high-risk coun-
tries.

Further information on the management of market-price
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk is provided in Note 33
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash flows

Mercedes-Benz Group Industrial Business Mercedes-Benz Mobility
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
In millions of euros

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 17,679 23,182 14,094 18,034 3,585 5,148
thereof cash and cash equivalents classified as assets held for sale at beginning of year - 62 - - - 62
Profit before income taxes 20,084 20,304 18,792 17,880 1,292 2,424
Depreciation and amortization/impairments 6,663 6,521 6,549 6,397 114 124
Other non-cash expense and income and gains/losses from disposals of assets -2,461 -2,286 -2,944 -2,5646 483 260

Change in operating assets and liabilities
Inventories -2,733 -4,111 -2,590 -4,103 -143 -8
Trade receivables and trade payables 1,310 1,029 1,146 921 164 108
Receivables from financial services -5,812 -5,327 222 2 -6,034 -5,329
Vehicles on operating leases -640 3,810 -502 -995 -138 4,805
Other operating assets and liabilities 1,624 358 1,179 -125 445 483
Dividends received from equity-method investments 2,056 1,605 2,056 1,605 - -
Income taxes paid -5,621 -5,009 -4,807 -4,137 -814 -872
Cash flow from operating activities 14,470 16,894 19,101 14,899 -4,631 1,995
Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -8,213 -6,899 -8,114 -6,838 -99 -61
Investments in and disposals of shareholdings and other business operations 278 2,488 507 316 -229 2,172
Acquisitions and sales of marketable debt securities and similar investments 307 462 229 490 78 -28
Other cash flows 313 496 349 478 -36 18
Cash flow from investing activities -7,315 -3,453 -7,029 -5,5654 -286 2,101
Change in financing liabilities -697 -13,344 2,320 -9,110 -3,017 -4,234
Dividends paid -5,880 -5,669 -5,758 -5,550 -122 -119
Acquisition of treasury shares -1,941 -48 -1,941 -48 - -
Other cash flows 127 29 65 29 62 -
Internal equity and financing transactions - - -7,340 1,305 7,340 -1,305
Cash flow from financing activities -8,391 -19,032 -12,654 -13,374 4,263 -5,658
Effect of foreign exchange-rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -471 88 -395 89 -76 -1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15,972 17,679 13,117 14,094 2,855 3,585

thereof cash and cash equivalents classified as assets held for sale at end of year 10 - 10 - - -
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Free cash flow of the industrial business

The free cash flow of the industrial business is regarded
as a key performance indicator for the Mercedes-Benz
Group. The free cash flow of the industrial business is
derived from the cash flows from operating and invest-
ing activities. The following table also shows the recon-
ciliation to the adjusted free cash flow of the industrial
business.

Free cash flow of the industrial business

2023 2022 23/22
In millions of euros Change
Cash flow from
operating activities 19,101 14,899 +4,202
Cash flow from
investing activities -7,029 -5,5654 -1,475
Change in marketable
debt securities and
similar investments -229 -490 +261
Right-of-use assets -328 -696 +368
Other adjustments -199 -31 -168
Free cash flow of the
industrial business 11,316 8,128 +3,188
Legal proceedings (and related
measures) 447 878 -431
Restructuring measures 101 374 -273
M&A transactions -144 -86 -58
Adjusted free cash flow of the
industrial business 11,720 9,294 +2,426

The cash flows from acquisitions and sales of marketa-
ble debt securities and similar investments included in
cash flows from investing activities are deducted, as
those securities are allocated to liquidity and changes
in them are thus not a part of the free cash flow of the
industrial business. On the other hand, effects in con-
nection with the recognition and measurement of right-
of-use assets, which result from lessee accounting and
are largely non-cash items, are included in the free cash
flow of the industrial business. Other adjustments
relate to effects from the financing of the Group’s own
dealerships and effects from internal deposits within
the Group. In addition, the calculation of the free cash
flow of the industrial business includes the cash flows
to be shown under cash flow from financing activities in
connection with the acquisition or disposal of interests
in subsidiaries without loss of control.

In 2023, the free cash flow of the industrial business
amounted to €11.3 billion and was thus higher than the
previous year’s figure of €8.1 billion.

The increase in the free cash flow of the industrial busi-
ness by €3.2 billion to €11.3 billion compared to the pre-
vious year is characterized by an improvement in profit
before income taxes of the industrial business. During
the reporting period, a positive effect resulted from the
development of the working capital, mainly due to a
lower inventory build-up and a decrease in the trade
receivables compared to the previous year. A smaller
increase in trade payables compared to the previous
year had an opposing effect.
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In the previous year, the free cash flow was also
impacted by higher payments resulting from the settle-
ment of civil and environmental claims made by several
US authorities in 2020 in connection with emission
control systems used in certain diesel vehicles as well
as higher payments in connection with restructuring
measures. Another positive effect resulted from a lower
increase in the number of leased vehicles compared to
the previous year. Moreover, higher dividend payments
were received during the reporting period from equi-
ty-method investments, in particular Daimler Truck
Holding AG and Beijing Benz Automotive Co., Ltd.
Investments in and disposals of shareholdings and
other business operations resulted in slightly higher
cash inflows in the reporting period than in the previ-
ous year.

There was an increase in income taxes paid in compari-
son to the prior year, which resulted from the improve-
ment in earnings before taxes in the industrial business.
In addition to payments to the tax authorities, income
tax payments also include intra-Group payments and
refunds based on contractual arrangements within the
tax groups. A further negative effect on the free cash
flow of the industrial business resulted from the higher
investment in intangible assets and capital expenditure
on property, plant and equipment.
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The adjustments from legal proceedings include pay-
ments by the industrial business in connection with
ongoing governmental and legal proceedings and
related measures taken with regard to Mercedes-Benz
diesel vehicles. The adjustments from restructuring
measures include payments made in connection with
the personnel-cost-optimization programmes in the
reporting period. The adjustments from M&A transac-
tions encompass the cash inflow from the purchase
price payment for the sale of shares in Mercedes-Benz
Grand Prix Ltd. (2022: cash inflows from the restructur-
ing of retail activities in Canada, opposing cash out-
flows from investment in Automotive Cells Company
SE). The adjusted free cash flow of the industrial
business amounted to a total of €11.7 billion (2022:
€9.3 billion).

Free cash flow of the Mercedes-Benz Group

In 2023, the free cash flow of the Mercedes-Benz
Group resulted in a cash inflow of €6.7 billion (2022:
€12.8 billion). The decrease in the free cash flow of the
Mercedes-Benz Group was mainly due to the higher
leasing and sales-financing business of Mercedes-Benz
Mobility compared to the previous year. This was offset
by a year-on-year increase in the free cash flow of the
industrial business.

In 2022, a cash inflow in the amount of €1.3 billion
which related to the payments received from the sale
of intercompany loans in connection with the sale of
units of the truck financing business and does not
legally relate to Mercedes-Benz Mobility, was economi-
cally allocated to the cash flow from investing activi-
ties of Mercedes-Benz Mobility. An opposing repay-
ment of the financing liabilities in the same amount
was recognized in the cash flow from financing activi-
ties of Mercedes-Benz Mobility. In 2023, there were no
reclassifications of cash flows between the cash flows
from investing activities of the industrial business and
Mercedes-Benz Mobility.

Cash flow from financing activities of the
Mercedes-Benz Group

A cash outflow of €8.4 billion (2022: €19.0 billion)
resulted from the cash flow from financing activities
(see condensed statement of cash flows) during the
reporting period. The lower cash outflow relative to
the same period of the prior year is primarily due to
the significantly lower net refinancing in the prior
year. This was offset during the reporting period by
the payments of €1.9 billion made in connection with
the share buyback programme. Taking account of
exchange-rate effects, cash and cash equivalents
decreased by €1.7 billion since 31 December 2022.
Total liquidity, which also includes marketable debt
securities and similar investments, decreased by
€1.9 billion to €22.8 billion.

Further Information
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CFBIT and cash conversion rate of the automotive
segments

The CFBIT of the automotive segments is derived
from the EBIT and the change in net assets, and also
includes additions to the right-of-use assets. The line
Other was primarily affected by dividend payments
from equity-method investments, payments for the set-
tlement of payables and provisions recognized in previ-
ous years through profit or loss, and, in particular in the
year 2022, by the elimination of non-cash income
included in EBIT in connection with the sale of shares
in Mercedes-Benz Grand Prix Ltd.

The following table shows the reconciliation from EBIT
for Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans to
the CFBIT of the corresponding segment. The reconcili-
ation from CFBIT to adjusted CFBIT and the adjusted
cash conversion rate are also shown.

Mercedes-Benz Cars achieved an adjusted cash conver-
sion rate of 0.9 (2022: 0.7) and Mercedes-Benz Vans an
adjusted cash conversion rate of 1.0 (2022: 1.1).

Corporate Governance

Reconciliation from EBIT to adjusted CFBIT

Consolidated Financial Statements

Mercedes-Benz

Mercedes-Benz

Cars Vans

2023 2022 2023 2022
In millions of euros
EBIT 14,224 16,340 3,138 1,897
Change in working
capital -1,095 -2,936 -340 -167
Net financial
investments 514 208 -29 54
Net investments in
property, plant and
equipment and
intangible assets -7,453 -6,715 -725 -364
Depreciation and
amortization/impair-
ments 6,125 5,943 420 452
Other 21 -2,122 353 -141
CFBIT 12,336 10,718 2,817 1,731
Legal proceedings
(and related
measures) 251 549 198 335
Restructuring
measures 92 321 3 17
M&A transactions -144 -175 - -43
Adjusted CFBIT 12,535 11,413 3,018 2,040
Adjusted EBIT 14,252 16,245 3,063 1,927
Adjusted cash
conversion rate! 0.9 0.7 1.0 1.1

1 The adjusted cash conversion rate is the ratio of adjusted CFBIT to adjusted EBIT.
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As well as being calculated on the basis of the dis-
closed cash flows from operating and investing activi-
ties, the free cash flow of the industrial business can
also be calculated on the basis of the cash flows before
interest and taxes (CFBIT) of the automotive segments.
The reconciliation from the CFBIT of the automotive
segments to the free cash flow of the industrial busi-
ness includes the sum of receipts and payments of
taxes and interest of the industrial business. The other
reconciling items primarily comprise eliminations
between the segments and items that are allocated to
the industrial business but for which the automotive
segments are not responsible. The year-on-year
increase was mainly due to the dividend of Daimler
Truck Holding AG, which was included in the other rec-
onciliation items in the reporting period.

Reconciliation from CFBIT to the free cash flow of the
industrial business

2023 2022
In millions of euros
CFBIT Mercedes-Benz Cars 12,336 10,718
CFBIT Mercedes-Benz Vans 2,817 1,731
Income taxes paid/refunded -4,807 -4,137
Interest paid/received 324 -255
Other reconciling items 646 71

Free cash flow of the industrial business 11,316 8,128
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Net liquidity and net debt

As the following table shows, the net liquidity of the
industrial business is calculated as the total amount
as shown in the statement of financial position of cash,
cash equivalents and the marketable debt securities
and similar investments included in liquidity manage-
ment, less the nominal amounts of financing liabilities.

Net liquidity of the industrial business

At 31 December

2023 2022 23/22
In millions of euros Change
Cash and cash equivalents 13,117 14,094 -977
Marketable debt securities
and similar investments 5,948 6,083 -135
Liquidity 19,065 20,177 -1,112
Financing liabilities 13,489 7,549 +5,940
Liabilities from refinancing inter-
nal dealerships -169 -42 -127
Market valuation and
currency hedges
for financing liabilities -726 -1,047 +321
Financing liabilities
(nominal) 12,594 6,460 +6,134
Net liquidity 31,659 26,637 +5,022

To the extent that the Group’s internal refinancing of the
financial services business is provided by the compa-
nies of the industrial business, this amount is deducted
by an elimination in the financing liabilities in the calcu-
lation of the net debt of the industrial business.

Since 31 December 2022, the net liquidity of the indus-
trial business increased by €5.0 billion to €31.7 billion.
The increase is mainly due to the positive free cash flow
of the industrial business, which was partially offset by
the dividend payment made to the shareholders of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG.

Net debt at Group level, which primarily results from
refinancing the leasing and sales-financing business,
decreased compared with 31 December 2022 by

€1.5 billion to €86.6 billion. The derivation of net debt is
shown in the following table.

Net debt of the Mercedes-Benz Group

At 31 December

2023 2022 23/22
In millions of euros Change
Cash and cash equivalents 15,972 17,679 -1,707
Marketable debt securities
and similar investments 6,858 7,060 -202
Liquidity 22,830 24,739 -1,909
Financing liabilities -108,724 -111,837 +3,113
Market valuation and
currency hedges
for financing liabilities -720 -1,048 +328
Financing liabilities
(nominal) -109,444 -112,885 +3,441
Net debt -86,614 -88,146 +1,532
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Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations

At 31 December 2023, the best estimate for contingent
liabilities was €2.6 billion (2022: €4.1 billion). The
decrease is mainly a result of discontinuing the busi-
ness activities in Russia and the disposal of the contin-
gent liabilities upon completion of the transaction.

In the context of its ordinary business activities, the
Group has also entered into other financial obliga-
tions in addition to the liabilities shown in the Consoli-
dated Statement of Financial Position at 31 December
2023. These financial obligations result from contrac-
tual commitments to acquire intangible assets; prop-
erty, plant and equipment; equipment on operating
leases and irrevocable loan commitments.

Detailed information on contingent liabilities and other
financial obligations is provided in Note 31 of the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Refinancing

The funds raised by the Mercedes-Benz Group in the
year 2023 primarily served to refinance the leasing and
sales-financing business. For that purpose, the
Mercedes-Benz Group made use of a broad spectrum of
various financing instruments in various currencies and
markets. They include bank loans, commercial paper in
the money market, bonds, promissory-note loans and
the securitization of receivables in the financial services
business (asset-backed securities).

Various issuance programmes are available for raising
longer-term funds in the capital market. They include
the Euro Medium Term Note programme (EMTN) with a
total volume of €70 billion, under which Mercedes-Benz
Group AG and several subsidiaries can issue bonds in
various currencies. Other local capital-market pro-
grammes exist, which are significantly smaller than the
EMTN programme. Capital-market programmes allow
flexible, repeated access to the capital markets.

The situation in the bond markets in the reporting year
was significantly influenced by factors such as inflation
and the volatility of interest rates as well as decisions
by central bank.
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In the reporting period, the Group covered its refinanc-
ing requirements through the issuance of bonds and
other means. As can be seen in the following table they
include so-called benchmark issuances (bonds with a
high nominal volume) by Mercedes-Benz Finance North
America LLC in the US-dollar area and Mercedes-Benz
International Finance B.V. in the euro area.

Benchmark issuances

Month of
Issuer Volume issuance Maturity
Mercedes-Benz Finance
North America LLC
USD 1,000 million 03/2023 03/2025
USD 1,000 million 03/2023 03/2026
USD 1,000 million 03/2023 0372028
USD 1,100 million 08/2023 08/2025
USD 750 million 08/2023 08/2026
USD 900 million 08/2023 08/2028
USD 750 million 08/2023 08/2033
Mercedes-Benz
International Finance B.V.
EUR 1,000 million 05/2023 05/2026
EUR 1,000 million 05/2023 05/2031
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The Mercedes-Benz Group also issued commercial
paper in 2023.

In the reporting period, asset-backed securities (ABS)
transactions with a volume of €1.4 billion were carried
out successfully in Germany. ABS transactions with a
total volume of CNY 17.4 billion were carried out in
China. In the United States the asset-back securities
credit line with a volume of USD 4.0 billion was
extended and further ABS transactions of USD 3.5 bil-
lion were placed.

Bank credit was another important source of refinanc-
ing in 2023. These loans were provided by globally
active banks as well as by banks operating nationally.

The syndicated credit line in the amount of €11 billion
in existence since July 2018 had not been utilized as of
the balance sheet date.

The carrying amounts of the main refinancing instru-
ments and the volume-weighted average interest rates
are shown in the following table.

At 31 December 2023, these carrying amounts are
mainly denominated in the following currencies: 42% in
euros, 28% in US dollars and 13% in Chinese renminbi.

At 31 December 2023, the total of financing liabilities
shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Posi-
tion amounted to €108.6 billion (2022: €111.8 billion).

Refinancing instruments

Average interest rates Carrying amounts
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022 2023 2022
in % In millions of euros
Notes/bonds and
liabilities from
ABS transactions 3.46 2.53 71,185 70,984
Liabilities
to financial
institutions 4.57 3.03 25,317 24,738
Deposits in
the direct banking
business 2.19 0.91 5,759 10,538

Detailed information on the amounts and terms of the
main items of financing liabilities is provided in

Notes 24 and 33 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Note 33 of the Notes to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements also provides informa-
tion on the maturities of the other financial liabilities.
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Credit ratings

Mercedes-Benz Group AG had long-term A ratings with
all five rating agencies at the end of the year 2023. In
the course of the year, all five agencies raised the long-
term credit ratings for the Group by one notch. Four of
them also raised their short-term credit ratings by one
notch at the same time.

Credit ratings

End of 2023 End of 2022

Long-term credit rating

S&P A A-
Moody’s A2 A3
Fitch A A-
Scope A+ A
DBRS A A (low)

Short-term credit rating

S&P A-1 A-2
Moody’s P-1 p-2
Fitch F1+ F1
Scope S-1+ S-1

DBRS R-1(low)  R-1(low)

On 24 February 2023, Moody’s Investors Service
(Moody’s) raised the long-term credit rating of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG from A3 to A2 with a stable
outlook. At the same time, Moody'’s raised its short-
term rating from P-2 to P-1. With this upgrade, Moody’s
recognized Mercedes-Benz Group’s improved margins
over the past two years, the company’s strategy of
focusing on higher margin premium and luxury vehicles
while transforming its product portfolio to all-electric
vehicles and its reduced financial indebtedness.

S&P Global Ratings (S&P) raised the long-term corpo-
rate rating of Mercedes-Benz Group AG from A- to A
with stable outlook on 5 May 2023. The short-term rat-
ing was also raised, from A-2 to A-1. S&P considers the
Mercedes-Benz Group’s cash flow generation to be the
best in its class among the traditional automakers. S&P
also considers that the Group will continue to success-
fully manage the pricing, the model mix, the costs and
the investments in the event of weaker conditions for
the sector. After the conclusion of the rating review, S&P
confirmed the long-term and short-term ratings for the
Mercedes-Benz Group according to the new criteria for
issuers with captive financial services businesses on
23 November 2023.

On 27 July 2023, Fitch Ratings (Fitch) raised the long-
term issuer rating for Mercedes-Benz Group AG from A-
to A with a stable outlook. At the same time, the short-
term rating was raised from F1 to F1+. Fitch explained
this step with the structural improvement of the finan-
cial profile of the Mercedes-Benz Group, which was
underlined by a significantly higher return on sales in
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comparison with the Fitch “A™-rating median and sup-
ported by the generation of free cash flow above the
historical average values.

On 16 November 2023, the Canadian agency DBRS
Morningstar (DBRS) raised the long-term rating of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG and its subsidiaries incorpo-
rated in the rating from A (low) to A with a stable out-
look. At the same time, the corresponding short-term
rating was confirmed as R-1 (low). DBRS explained this
assessment with the continuing solid development of
the company’s earnings regardless of various significant
headwinds, including interest rate and inflationary pres-
sures, geopolitical uncertainty and continuing supply
chain bottlenecks.

On 23 December 2023, the European rating agency
Scope Ratings (Scope) upgraded the long-term issuer
rating of Mercedes-Benz Group AG and its financing
companies included in the rating from A to A+ with a
stable outlook and concurrently increased the short-
term rating from S-1to S-1+. Scope justified this
upgrade with the Group’s improved business risk profile,
which can be attributed to structurally higher operating
profitability through the strategic shift into the luxury
space and the continuous streamlining of the fixed cost
base.
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Financial position

At €263.0 billion, the Group’s balance sheet total was
at the same level as in the previous year (2022:
€260.0 billion); the exchange-rate effects amounted to
minus €4.7 billion.

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Mercedes-Benz Group Industrial Business Mercedes-Benz Mobility
At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

In millions of euros

Assets

Intangible assets 17,593 15,869 17,022 15,275 571 594
Property, plant and equipment 26,090 27,250 25,797 26,942 293 308
Equipment on operating leases 41,712 41,552 14,445 14,038 27,267 27,514
Receivables from financial services 88,211 85,549 -81 -66 88,292 85,615
Equity-method investments 13,104 13,530 12,896 13,259 208 271
Inventories 27,294 25,621 26,126 24,906 1,168 715
Trade receivables 7,281 8,100 6,585 7,328 696 772
Cash and cash equivalents 15,962 17,679 13,107 14,094 2,855 3,685
Marketable debt securities and similar investments 6,858 7,060 5,948 6,083 910 977
thereof current 6,159 6,237 5,879 5,970 280 267
thereof non-current 699 823 69 113 630 710
Other financial assets 7,939 7,931 -5,680 -5,140 13,619 13,071
Other assets 10,183 9,874 1,005 772 9,178 9,102
Assets held for sale 795 - 795 - - -

Total assets 263,022 260,015 117,965 117,491 145,057 142,524
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Mercedes-Benz Group

Industrial Business

Mercedes-Benz Mobility

At 31 December

At 31 December

At 31 December

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
In millions of euros
Equity and liabilities
Equity 92,816 86,540 79,802 72,964 13,014 13,576
Provisions 16,390 17,044 15,565 16,211 825 833
Financing liabilities 108,638 111,837 -13,575 -7,549 122,213 119,386
thereof current 44,914 49,786 -23,343 -20,668 68,257 70,454
thereof non-current 63,724 62,051 9,768 13,119 53,956 48,932
Trade payables 12,828 12,204 11,625 11,101 1,203 1,103
Other financial liabilities 7,118 7,928 4,146 5,128 2,972 2,800
Contract and refund liabilities 10,391 10,554 10,084 10,234 307 320
Other liabilities 14,617 13,908 10,094 9,402 4,523 4,506
Liabilities held for sale 224 - 224 - - -
Total equity and liabilities 263,022 260,015 117,965 117,491 145,057 142,524
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Current assets accounted for 40% of the balance sheet
total, which is at the prior-year level. Current liabilities
accounted for 31% of the balance sheet total, which is
below the prior-year level of 34%.

Balance sheet structure Mercedes-Benz Group
In billions of euros

Assets 263 260 260 263 Equity and
159 | 157 g7 | 93 liabilities
Equity

Non-current assets

Non-current

i

liabilities
104 | 103
Current assets 88 | g5
Current
S liabilities
thereof liquidity >3 | 25
I 2022 N 2023

Before eliminations between segments, Mercedes-Benz
Mobility accounted for €145.1 billion (2022: €142.5 bil-
lion) of the balance sheet total. During the reporting
year, all intra-Group eliminations between the industrial
business and Mercedes-Benz Mobility regarding the
balance sheet were allocated to the industrial business.
The reported size of the industrial business is deter-
mined by generally subtracting the unconsolidated bal-
ance sheet total of Mercedes-Benz Mobility from the
consolidated balance sheet total of the Group. Conse-
quently, intra-Group matters relating to the relationship
between the industrial business and Mercedes-Benz
Mobility are generally allocated to Mercedes-Benz
Mobility and included in its balance sheet. This method
of presentation reduces the balance sheet total of the
industrial business. At the same time, this means that
the share of Mercedes-Benz Mobility’s balance sheet
total in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Posi-
tion is shown as being higher than would be the case if
Mercedes-Benz Mobility were presented on a consoli-
dated basis.
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Assets

The intangible assets of €17.6 billion (2022: €15.9 bil-
lion) particularly include €15.1 billion of capitalized
development costs (2022: €13.5 billion). Of the devel-
opment costs, a share of €14.0 billion (2022: €12.6 bil-
lion) was attributable to the Mercedes-Benz Cars seg-
ment and €1.1 billion (2022: €0.8 billion) to the
Mercedes-Benz Vans segment. Development costs cap-
italized in the reporting year amounted to €3.8 billion
(2022: €2.9 billion) and represent 38% (2022: 34%) of
the Group’s total research and development expendi-
ture. The increase in capitalized development costs is
mainly attributable to development work for the new
platform generations geared towards electric mobility.

Property, plant and equipment decreased to

€26.1 billion (2022: €27.3 billion). In addition to nega-
tive exchange-rate effects, the deconsolidation

of the Russian companies in 2023 and the reclassifica-
tion of property, plant and equipment to assets held
for sale in connection with the planned divestment

of sales companies in European countries other than
Germany had a negative effect on the balance sheet
total.
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Equipment on operating leases and receivables from

financial services rose to a total of €129.9 billion (2022:

€127.1 billion) due to the increase in sales financing,
mainly in North America. The increase adjusted for cur-
rency translation effects was €5.8 billion. At 49%, the
leasing and sales-financing business as a proportion of
total assets was at prior year level.

Equity-method investments decreased to €13.1 billion
(2022: €13.5 billion). Investments accounted for using
the equity method comprise in particular the carrying
amounts of our investments in Daimler Truck Hold-

ing AG and Beijing Benz Automotive Co., Ltd.

Inventories increased from €25.6 billion to €27.3 bil-
lion. As a result the share of total assets remains at the
prior year level of 10%. The increase relates in particular
to finished goods, spare parts and products held for
resale at €2.2 billion as a result of the introduction of
the direct sales model in additional markets and model
year-related production ramp-ups. Furthermore, the fin-
ished goods include higher-value vehicles on average.

At €7.3 billion, trade receivables were lower than the
prior-year-figure of €8.1 billion.

Compared to 31 December 2022, cash and cash equiv-
alents decreased by €1.7 billion to €16.0 billion.

Marketable debt securities and similar investments
decreased compared with 31 December 2022 from

€7.1 billion to €6.9 billion as part of the liquidity man-
agement. Those assets include the debt instruments
that are allocated to liquidity, most of which are traded
in active markets. They generally have an external rating
of A or better.

Other financial assets of €7.9 billion were at the pri-
or-year level. They consist primarily of derivative finan-
cial instruments, equity and debt instruments, shares in
non-consolidated subsidiaries, and loans and other
receivables from third parties.

The other assets of €10.2 billion (2022: €9.9 billion)
particularly include deferred taxes and tax refund
claims.

In connection with the planned disposal of sales com-
panies in other European countries, the Group is show-
ing assets held for sale of €0.8 billion and liabilities
held for sale of €0.2 billion as of 31 December 2023.
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Equity and liabilities

Compared to 31 December 2022, the Group’s equity
increased from €86.5 billion to €92.8 billion, mainly as a
result of the positive earnings development. Addition-
ally gains of €0.5 billion are recognized directly in equity
from the measurement of derivative financial instru-
ments after tax. An opposing effect arose from the divi-
dend of €5.6 billion paid to the shareholders of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG and the aquisition of treasury
shares of €2.3 billion as part of the share buyback pro-
gramme. Equity attributable to the shareholders of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG increased accordingly to
€91.8 billion (2022: €85.4 billion).

Whereas the balance sheet total remained at the pri-
or-year level, equity increased by 7% compared with the
previous year. The Group’s equity ratio of 35.3% was
accordingly above the level at the end of 2022 (31.1%);
the equity ratio for the industrial business was 67.6%
(2022: 57.4%). It is necessary to take into account the
fact that the equity ratios at the end of 2022 and 2023
have been adjusted for the paid and proposed dividend
payments respectively.
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Provisions decreased to €16.4 billion from the previous
year (2022: €17.0 billion). At 6%, they were also below
the prior-year level of 7% of the balance sheet total. The
decrease is mainly due to lower provisions for liability
and litigation risks and regulatory proceedings.

Financing liabilities of €108.6 billion were below the
€111.8 billion of the previous year. The decrease was
due to the lower net refinancing as a result of the posi-
tive cash flow situation. The financing liabilities break
down to 51% bonds, 23% liabilities to financial institu-
tions, 14% liabilities from ABS transactions and 5%
deposits in the direct banking business. The decrease
in deposits from the direct banking business is related
to the planned discontinuation of the retail deposit
business by the end of 2024. The financing liabilities
available on 31 December 2023 relate primarily to the
refinancing requirements of the leasing and sales-fi-
nancing business.

Trade payables increased compared to 31 December
2022 from €12.2 billion to €12.8 billion.

Other financial liabilities amounted to €7.1 billion
(2022: €7.9 billion). They mainly comprise liabilities from
residual-value guarantees, from payroll accounting,
from derivative financial instruments, deposits received,
and liabilities from accrued interest on financing liabili-
ties. The decrease in other financial liabilities is mainly
attributable to lower liabilities from derivative financial
instruments, the carrying amount of which declined due
to interest and exchange-rate developments.

The contract and refund liabilities of €10.4 billion
were below the €10.6 billion of the previous year. They
include in particular deferred revenue from service
and maintenance contracts and extended warranties,
as well as obligations from sales transactions that are
within the scope of IFRS 15.

Other liabilities of €14.6 billion (2022: €13.9 billion)
primarily include deferred taxes, tax liabilities and pre-
paid expenses. The increase was primarily attributable
to higher deferred tax liabilities.
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Further information on the assets presented in the
statement of financial position and on the Group’s
equity and liabilities is provided in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated State-
ment of Changes in Equity, and the related notes in the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.



Annual Report 2023 | Mercedes-Benz Group 71

Contents To Our Shareholders Combined Management Report Corporate Governance Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information
Profitability, Liquidity and
Capital Resources, Financial Position

Net assets

The following table shows the derivation of net
assets for the segments Mercedes-Benz Cars and
Mercedes-Benz Vans. They relate to the operating
assets and liabilities for which the automotive
segments are responsible.

Derivation of net assets of the automotive segments

Mercedes-Benz Cars Mercedes-Benz Vans
At 31 December At 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022

In millions of euros
Intangible assets 15,537 13,988 1,476 1,276
Property, plant and equipment 23,894 25,010 1,907 1,936
Inventories 23,226 22,419 3,011 2,558
Trade receivables 5,504 6,083 1,080 1,244
Other segment assets 25,274 24,408 3,012 3,022
Segment assets 93,435 91,908 10,486 10,036
thereof assets held for sale 657 0 98 0
Trade payables 10,247 9,838 1,379 1,259
Other segment liabilities 41,421 42,126 7,853 7,766
Segment liabilities 51,668 51,964 9,232 9,025
thereof liabilities held for sale 102 0 18 0

Net assets 41,767 39,944 1,254 1,011
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Mercedes-Benz Group AG

Condensed version in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB)

Mercedes-Benz Group AG is the parent company of
the Mercedes-Benz Group and has its headquarters in
Stuttgart. In addition to reporting on the Mercedes-
Benz Group, the development of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG in the year 2023 is also described in this
section.

Mercedes-Benz Group AG is closely linked with
Mercedes-Benz AG and functions as an operating busi-
ness entity that defines the Group’s strategy. It also
makes strategic decisions for business operations and,
as the Group’s parent company, ensures the effective-
ness of organizational, legal and compliance-related
functions throughout the Group.

The Annual Financial Statements of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG are compiled in accordance with the provi-
sions of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the

provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union
(EU). This results in some differences with regard to
recognition and measurement methods, primarily in
connection with provisions, financial instruments, the
leasing business and deferred taxes.

The financial statements of Mercedes-Benz Group AG,
for which KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft
has issued an unqualified audit opinion, are transmitted
electronically to the body responsible for managing the
company register so that the statements can be
entered into the company register. The financial state-
ments can be viewed on the website of the company
register as well as on the Mercedes-Benz Group web-
site at @ group.mercedes-benz.com/investors/reports-
news/annual-reports/2023.

The economic situation of Mercedes-Benz Group AG
mainly depends on the development of its subsidiaries.
Mercedes-Benz Group AG participates in the operating
profits and losses of its subsidiaries through dividend
distributions and profit-and-loss transfers. Its eco-
nomic situation therefore corresponds with that of the
Mercedes-Benz Group, which is described in the chap-
ter Overall Assessment of the Financial Year.

Net profit or loss is the key performance indicator for
Mercedes-Benz Group AG.
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Profitability

Net profit amounted to €12.1 billion, which was signifi-
cantly higher than the figure of €8.9 billion recorded in
the previous year and corresponds to the expected
range of the previous year’s Outlook chapter. The earn-
ings of Mercedes-Benz Group AG in the year under
review were particularly affected by a higher level of
financial income.

Mercedes-Benz Group AG generated revenue of
€1.4 billion, primarily from the provision of services to
companies of the Group (2022: €1.4 billion).

Cost of sales amounted to €1.4 billion (2022: €1.4 bil-
lion) and primarily comprises expenses incurred for the
services provided to companies of the Group.

General administrative expenses amounted to
€0.8 billion (2022: €0.8 billion).
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Other operating income totalled €0.02 billion (2022:
€0.3 billion). Other operating income from the previous
year included income from the sale of approximately 5%
of the shares of Daimler Truck Holding AG to Mercedes-
Benz AG and their subsequent transfer to the
Mercedes-Benz Pension Trust e. V.

Financial income increased by €3.8 billion to €15.6 bil-
lion. The increase in the financial income with respect
to the previous year is primarily due to higher income
from investments in subsidiaries and associated com-
panies. This was the result in particular of higher profit
transfers from subsidiaries, lower impairments of sub-
sidiaries and investments and higher income from asso-
ciated companies. Moreover, the rise in interest rates
led to an increase in financial income.

The income tax expense amounted to €2.8 billion

(2022: €2.5 billion). The rise despite a decrease in taxa-
ble operating profit within the tax group is mainly expli-
cable by the last use of tax-loss carryforwards in 2022.

Condensed statement of income of

Mercedes-Benz Group AG

Corporate Governance

Consolidated Financial Statements

2023 2022
In millions of euros
Revenue 1,415 1,422
Cost of sales -1,400 -1,407
General administrative expenses =779 -752
Other operating income 20 293
Operating profit/loss -744 -444
Financial income 15,630 11,785
Income taxes -2,788 -2,464
Net profit 12,098 8,877
Transfer to other retained earnings -6,049 -3,314
Distributable profit 6,049 5,563
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Financial position

Total assets of €80.4 billion were below the level of the
previous year (2022: €84.2 billion).

Non-current assets increased by €0.6 billion to
€40.6 billion in the course of the year. This was due to
the increase of €0.6 billion in financial assets.

Receivables, securities and other assets decreased
compared with 31 December 2022 by €3.7 billion to
€32.9 billion. This is the result of the decrease in receiv-
ables from subsidiaries of €2.7 billion, which in turn was
caused by lower intra-Group financial receivables. In
addition, the other assets decreased by €0.8 billion, in
particular due to the maturity of fixed-term deposits.
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Equity increased by €4.6 billion to €41.6 billion in the
reporting year. This increase was a result of the net
profit amounting to €12.1 billion, of which €6.0 billion
was transferred to retained earnings pursuant to Sec-
tion 58 Subsection 2 of the German Stock Corporation
Act (AktG). Equity, in contrast, decreased due to the
dividend payment of €5.6 billion to the shareholders of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG and the ongoing share buy-
back programme. The equity ratio as of 31 December
2023 was 51.8% (31 December 2022: 43.9%). Mercedes-
Benz Group AG held treasury shares of €1.9 billion as of
31 December 2023. Disclosures pursuant to Section 160
Subsection 1 No. 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act
(AktG) are contained in the Annual Financial Statements
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG in accordance with the
statutory requirements.

Provisions decreased by €0.5 billion to €2.6 billion.
This was mainly due to lower provisions for taxes and
the decrease in provisions for contingent losses result-
ing from derivative financial instruments.

Liabilities decreased by €8.0 billion to €36.2 billion.
This change is primarily the result of the decrease in
liabilities to subsidiaries of €7.2 billion, which in turn
was caused by lower intra-Group financial liabilities.
In addition, bonds amounting to €0.5 billion were
redeemed.

Condensed statement of financial position
of Mercedes-Benz Group AG

Consolidated Financial Statements

31 Decem- 31 Decem-
ber 2023 ber 2022

In millions of euros
Assets
Non-current assets 40,630 40,001
Receivables, securities and other
assets 32,945 36,617
Cash and cash equivalents 6,592 7,450
Current assets 39,537 44,067
Prepaid expenses 217 188
Total assets 80,384 84,256
Equity and liabilities
Share capital 3,070 3,070
Calculated value of treasury shares -83 -
Capital reserve 11,480 11,480
Retained earnings 21,106 16,854
Distributable profit 6,049 5,663
Equity 41,622 36,967
Provisions for pensions and similar
obligations 330 401
Other provisions 2,275 2,713
Provisions 2,605 3,114
Trade
payables 246 222
Other liabilities 35,904 43,940
Liabilities 36,150 44,162
Deferred income 7 13
Total equity and liabilities 80,384 84,256
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Liquidity and capital resources

The Statements of Cash Flows of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG according to HGB include the following
exceptions, which deviate from DRS 21: dividends from
subsidiaries as well as intra-Group offsetting of ser-
vices from corporate functions are presented in Cash
Flow from operating activities even when they are off-
set by means of cash pooling procedures. The same
applies to capital increases and capital repayments
from subsidiaries being presented in Cash Flow from
investing activities. An offsetting recognition of cash
pooling procedures takes place in Cash Flow from
financing activities.

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by €7.5 billion
to €6.6 billion. The decrease in cash and cash equiva-
lents of €0.9 billion was influenced by the following
developments:

Cash flow from operating activities resulted in a net
cash outflow of €0.7 billion in the reporting year (2022:
€1.9 billion). The cash outflow primarily resulted from
income tax payments, which increased by €0.9 billion
compared to the previous year. The lower cash outflow
relative to the preceding year can mainly be attributed
to the maturity of short-term time deposits and higher
distributions to subsidiaries and associated companies.
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Cash flow from investing activities resulted in a cash
outflow of €0.1 billion in 2023 (2022: cash inflow of
€1.6 billion). On the one hand, the change was due to
lower net cash inflows from the acquisition and dis-
posal of securities within the context of liquidity man-
agement (2023: €0.1 billion; 2022: €1.1 billion). On the
other, capital repayments from subsidiaries resulted in
higher cash inflows in the previous year.

Cash flow from financing activities resulted in a cash
outflow of €0.1 billion in the reporting period (2022:
€1.3 billion). The decreasing cash outflow compared to
the previous year was mainly due to the lower repay-
ment of external financing liabilities. However, a lower
cash inflow compared to the previous year resulted
from the financing provided to subsidiaries in connec-
tion with central financial and liquidity management.
Alongside this, the cash outflows increased as a result
of the share buyback transactions in the reporting year
as well as the dividend payment to shareholders of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG.

Outlook

The financial position, cash flows and profitability of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG depend on the business
developments and the performance of its operating
subsidiaries, in whose development it participates
through profit-and-loss transfer agreements and divi-
dend distributions.

Due to the interrelations between Mercedes-Benz
Group AG and the companies of the Group, the state-
ments in the Outlook chapter therefore reflect our
expectations for the parent company as well.

For the year 2024, Mercedes-Benz Group AG expects to
post a significantly higher net profit than for the year
2023, primarily as a result of significantly improved
financial income to be brought about by higher profit
transfers from major subsidiaries.
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Risks and opportunities

The business development of Mercedes-Benz Group AG
mainly depends on the development of its worldwide
subsidiaries and is therefore — through the profit and
loss contributions from subsidiaries and associated
companies — fundamentally subject to the same risks
and opportunities as is the business development of
the Group.

Mercedes-Benz Group AG generally participates in the
risks of its subsidiaries and associated companies in
line with the percentage of its respective equity inter-
est. The risks and opportunities are described in the
Risk and Opportunity Report.

Risks may additionally arise from relations with subsidi-
aries and associated companies in connection with
statutory or contractual liability obligations (in particu-
lar with regard to financing), from impairments of finan-
cial assets and from financial receivables from subsidi-
aries and associated companies.

Furthermore, pursuant to Section 133 Subsections 1 and
3 of the German Transformation Act (UmwG), Mercedes-
Benz Group AG is jointly and severally liable for liabili-
ties of €4.7 billion that were transferred to Mercedes-
Benz AG and Daimler Truck AG in 2019. According to the
current appraisal, due to the assessment of the credit
ratings of Mercedes-Benz AG and Daimler Truck AG, an
actual cash outflow for Mercedes-Benz Group AG is
considered to be unlikely.
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Non-Financial Declaration

As described in the Corporate Profile, the Combined
Management Report includes the combined Non-Finan-
cial Declarations of Mercedes-Benz Group AG and of
the Mercedes-Benz Group. The Mercedes-Benz Group
publishes the Non-Financial Declaration in accordance
with the provisions of Sections 315b, 315¢ in connection
with Sections 289b-289¢e of the German Commercial
Code (HGB). The Non-Financial Declaration contains the
main information on the aspects of environmental,
employee and social issues, combating corruption and
bribery, and respect for human rights. The information
provided in this declaration is presented in conformity
with the GRI Standards of the Global Reporting Initia-
tive, insofar as this complies with applicable law. Some
aspects are presented in accordance with internal
guidelines and definitions. Insofar as not otherwise
specified, all information concerning the Mercedes-
Benz Group refers to the Consolidated Group in the
context of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1 Net carbon-neutral means that no CO, emissions are created or any resulting
CO, emissions are offset by certified compensation projects.

The Mercedes-Benz Group integrates the Non-Financial
Declaration into the Combined Management Report of
this Annual Report. Each year, it examines whether and
how the integration of financial and non-financial key
figures should be further developed. For the year under
review, it was decided to continue to publish more
in-depth information about sustainability at the
Mercedes-Benz Group in a separate Sustainability
Report for the previous reporting year. It will be availa-
ble on the Group’s website on the Internet (additional
information @ group.mercedes-benz.com/sustainabil-
ity). Further information on the business model of the
Mercedes-Benz Group can be found in the chapter Cor-
porate Profile.
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Sustainability as a driver of change

The Mercedes-Benz Group aims to create value that is
sustainable — economically, environmentally and
socially. This is one of the core principles of the Group.
It applies not only to the Group’s own products and
production sites but also to its entire upstream and
downstream value chain. The Mercedes-Benz Group
translates this approach into its sustainable business
strategy and thus firmly embeds its sustainability issues
into its daily business. Among other things, the goal is
to fulfil the demands and expectations of the stake-
holders — i.e. customers, investors, employees, busi-
ness partners, non-governmental organizations (NGOs)
and society as a whole.

One of the most important goals at the Mercedes-Benz
Group is decarbonization, which the Group has made a
firm component of its sustainable business strategy.
The Group’s strategy includes the Ambition 2039 target,
which aims to make the entire Mercedes-Benz new
vehicle fleet net carbon-neutral! across all stages of the
value chain by 2039. Mercedes-Benz Cars and
Mercedes-Benz Vans are creating the necessary condi-
tions to become all-electric. The pace of transformation
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is determined by market conditions and customer
requirements. Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz
Vans are getting ready to be able to meet the various
customer requirements, be it an all-electric drivetrain or
an combustion engine — into the 2030s if necessary.

Areas of action and the foundations of sustainability

The Mercedes-Benz Group acts in line with the sustain-
able business strategy adopted by the Board of
Management of Mercedes-Benz Group AG in 2019 with
the agreement of the Supervisory Board. Sustainability
issues are an integral part of the business strategy.

The Mercedes-Benz Group’s sustainable business strat-
egy takes into account the regulatory requirements that
are relevant to its business operations, as well as rec-
ognized international frameworks, the expectations of
external and internal stakeholders, and global trends.
The Mercedes-Benz Group also conducts materiality
assessments on a regular basis in order to identify stra-
tegic areas of action. Here the Mercedes-Benz Group
bases its activities on the United Nation’s (UN) 17 Sus-
tainable Development Goals (SDGs) — especially SDGs
8 and 9 and 11 to 13 — among other factors, and in the
process concentrates on the areas where it can create
value added. It discusses the material areas of action
with the involvement of relevant stakeholder groups.
During the year under review, the Group confirmed the
six strategic areas of action shown below and, where
necessary, further specified the strategic ambitions
associated with these areas of action.

- Climate Change mitigation and air quality: Plans
call for the Mercedes-Benz new vehicle fleet to be net
carbon-neutral across the entire value chain by 2039
and to no longer have any impact on NO, levels in
urban areas by 2025.

- Resource conservation: The Mercedes-Benz Group
wants to decouple resource consumption from busi-
ness volume growth.

- More sustainable urban mobility: The Mercedes-
Benz Group wants to contribute to the improvement
of the quality of life in cities through mobility and
transport solutions.

- Traffic safety: The Mercedes-Benz Group is working
to make its vision of accident-free driving a reality as
it develops automated driving systems while also tak-
ing social and ethical issues into account.

- Data responsibility: Customer trust and the respon-
sible handling of customer data are the basis for sus-
tainable digital products and services.

- Human rights: The Mercedes-Benz Group assumes
responsibility and is committed to safeguarding
human rights along its own automotive value chain.

The Mercedes-Benz Group has defined three principles,
or enablers, that are crucial for achieving success in the
six areas of action: integrity, people and partnerships.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Materiality assessment

The Group conducted a comprehensive materiality
assessment in 2021 in order to determine which sus-
tainability topics are particularly relevant for the
Mercedes-Benz Group and its stakeholders. The analy-
sis was completed in summer 2022 and, following a
review of the areas of action, is applicable for the year
2023

This materiality assessment addressed the six strategic
areas of action as well as further potentially relevant
sustainability topics and trends. A total of 17 topics
were evaluated, and these were further divided into
sub-topics.

The analysis consists of several components: a desk
analysis, an international online survey as well as inter-
views with internal and external experts, an assessment
of the impact of the Mercedes-Benz Group’s business
activities on the environment and society (inside-out)
as well as an analysis of the external influences on the
Mercedes-Benz Group’s business activities (out-
side-in-dimension).

In addition, the sustainability issues resulting from the
analysis were reviewed with regard to their impact on
financial position, profitability and business develop-
ment. On this basis, the topics for the Non-financial
Declaration were defined. For this reason, not all strate-
gic areas of action are reflected in this Non-financial
Declaration.
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Managing sustainability

The Mercedes-Benz Group manages the work in the
strategic areas of action — alongside other tasks —
by means of an internal reporting process that uses
detailed scorecards. This process shall be supported
by clear lines of responsibility in the management and
organizational structures used at all of the divisions.

At the end of July 2023, the Supervisory Board decided
to establish at the Board of Management level a
cross-divisional steering and coordination function for
sustainability management throughout the Group.
Renata Jungo Briingger then took over this function of
Sustainability Coordinator on 1 August 2023. Her execu-
tive division was renamed Integrity, Governance & Sus-
tainability (previously Integrity and Legal).

The previous central management body for sustainabil-
ity — the Group Sustainability Board (GSB) — was
replaced by the Group Sustainability Committee (GSC)
during the year under review. This new body meets on a
quarterly basis and is chaired by Renata Jungo Briingger
in her capacity as Sustainability Coordinator. The com-
mittee, which is made up of representatives from top
management, is responsible for the holistic manage-
ment of ESG topics across all functions, divisions and
regions in line with goals and targets, KPIs and areas of
responsibility. The members of the GSC are also
responsible for addressing sustainability topics in the
functions they manage.

1 Further information on sales of plug-in hybrids and all-electric vehicles can be found in
the chapter Environmental Issues, Electrified Product Range

In addition, Sustainability Coordination Meetings
(SCMs) are held in which the GSC discusses sustainabil-
ity topics and issues with representatives from all rele-
vant divisions and specialist units. SCMs are conducted
regularly every 14 days and are chaired by the Sustaina-
bility Competence Office (SCO). The SCO itself provides
advice to the specialist units and helps them complete
the tasks assigned to them by the Board of Manage-
ment or the GSC. The SCO also monitors the progress
made in the six areas of action and the three enablers
defined in the sustainable business strategy. The
results of these analyses during the year are reported
to the GSC and the Board of Management of Mercedes-
Benz Group AG in the form of detailed scorecards at
least twice a year.

The Mercedes-Benz Group also uses the ten principles
of the UN Global Compact (UNGC) as a fundamental
guide for its business activities. As a founding member,
it is strongly committed to the UN Global Compact.
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The Mercedes-Benz Group’s internal principles and poli-
cies are founded on this international frame of refer-
ence and other international principles, including the
Core Labour Standards of the International Labour
Organization (ILO), the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (OECD) Guidelines for
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles
on Business and Human Rights.

Remuneration for the Board of Management and execu-
tives was adjusted in 2023. The changes were made in
order to reduce the complexity of the remuneration
system, create transparency and ensure an integrated
approach with regard to the incentives used to promote
sustainable business operations at the Group. In addi-
tion to financial targets, the variable remuneration for
members of the Board of Management and Level 1-3
executives, as well as for certain Level 4 managers,
contains short-term transformation targets relating to
CO, emissions, safety innovations and ESG stakeholder
management. In 2023, the variable components also
included long-term sustainability targets relating to the
share of unit sales accounted for by plug-in hybrid elec-
tric vehicles (PHEVs) and all-electric vehicles (BEVs)Y,
the inspection of high-risk production materials and
measures for ensuring diversity and inclusion. The vari-
able remuneration components also continue to include
non-financial targets relating to customers, employees
and integrity. (Further information @ group.mercedes-
benz.com/remuneration-bom)
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Risk and opportunity management

Detailed information on, among other things, the risk

and opportunity management system and the associ-
ated processes can be found in the Risk and Opportu-
nity Report chapter of this Annual Report.

Sustainability-related risks and opportunities are an
integral component of the Group-wide risk and oppor-
tunity management system. In identifying these risks
and opportunities, the Mercedes-Benz Group is guided
by the topics identified by the materiality assessment
and thus includes the areas of action of the sustainable
business strategy, for which concrete goals have been
assigned. These risks and opportunities are understood
to be conditions, events or developments involving ESG
factors, the occurrence of which may have an actual or
potential impact on the Mercedes-Benz Group’s profita-
bility, liquidity, capital resources, financial position and
reputation. This further includes any risks and opportu-
nities whose occurrence may have a positive or nega-

tive impact on the economy, the environment or society.

ESG topics — as they relate to the environment —
include, among other things, the effects of climate con-
ditions and changes. Risks can arise for the Group’s
transformation process as a result of changed political
conditions, technological developments and changing
markets. Labour law standards, occupational and prod-
uct safety, product liability and suppliers’ compliance
with labour law standards are examples of circum-
stances categorized as social issues that can harbour
risks. The area of governance is concerned with matters

such as stipulations arising from competition law and
measures to prevent corruption, for example, which can
lead to risks.

ESG-related risks and opportunities associated with the
Mercedes-Benz Group’s own business activities, busi-
ness relationships and products and services, and
which are very likely to have a serious negative impact
on the non-financial aspects in accordance with Sec-
tions 315c¢ and 289c¢ of the German Commercial Code
(HGB), are not currently apparent. Risks and opportuni-
ties in connection with the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD) are environment factors and are thus also iden-
tified and assessed as part of the risk management pro-
cess. (Further information @ group.mercedes-benz.
com/investors/share/esg)

Sustainable investment

The implementation of the Mercedes-Benz Group’s sus-
tainable business strategy requires massive amounts of
investment. For this reason, one of the Group’s goals is
to ensure that its securities are viewed even more
strongly by the capital market as a sustainable invest-
ment. To this end, the Mercedes-Benz Group maintains
a continuous dialogue with players on the capital mar-
ket as representatives of investors in equity and debt.
Various platforms are used here. For example, the sec-
ond digital ESG Conference was one of the formats
used by the Mercedes-Benz Group in the 2023 report-
ing year to provide information to investors and
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analysts on the latest developments relating to its sus-
tainable business strategy.

With regard to ESG communication, the Investor Rela-
tions & Treasury unit at Mercedes-Benz Group AG
works closely together with the company’s in-house
sustainability departments and is also integrated into
the relevant committees (e.g. the GSC). This is how
the company is responding to the fact that sustainable
investment has become a central investment strat-
egy — in particular for institutional investors, who set
especially high standards of transparency for external
reporting according to ESG criteria.

During the year under review, the Group updated its
Green Finance Framework from 2020 in order to posi-
tion the Mercedes-Benz Group even more effectively as
a company worthy of sustainable investment and to
enable it to utilize ESG-based capital for its business
development. This framework makes it possible for the
Group to finance investment targeted at the develop-
ment, production and customer financing of all-electric
vehicles through bonds and loans, for example. It was
on this basis that the Mercedes-Benz Group once again
issued bonds with terms of three and eight years in May
2023.


https://group.mercedes-benz.com/investors/share/esg/
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The framework is based on the Green Bond Principles
(the voluntary process guidelines of the International
Capital Market Association — ICMA) and the Green

Loan Principles, which are the joint voluntary process
guidelines of the Loan Market Association (LMA) and
the Asia Pacific Loan Market Association (APLMA). The
updated framework has also received certification with
the highest rating — “Dark Green” — from the Centre for
International Climate and Environmental Research
(CICERO), which also issued an “Excellent” rating for the
governance structure defined in the framework.

The Mercedes-Benz Group operates as an investor itself
when it invests the company’s pension assets. ESG
criteria are also playing an increasingly important role
in this area.

For German pension assets, the following objectives
have been defined for the consideration of ESG criteria:
creation of transparency in dealing with sustainability
aspects, utilization of opportunities from sustainable
developments and the appropriate consideration of
sustainability risks. For the majority of German pension
assets the investments are made by asset managers to
whom the Group issues individual mandates.

In coordination with the Investment Committees, the
Mercedes-Benz Group pays, as part of its sustainability
concept, increased attention to the consideration and
transparency of sustainability aspects in the investment
process. When the company makes sustainable invest-
ments, it also takes the associated risk and return
aspects into account. For liquid asset classes, the

Mercedes-Benz Group only works with investment man-
agers who have signed the UN Principles for Responsi-
ble Investment (PRI). The use of a negative list is
intended to exclude investing in companies and coun-
tries that do not fulfil the Group’s core requirements. By
implementing ESG-themed investments, the Mercedes-
Benz Group utilizes the opportunities offered by sus-
tainable developments. Furthermore, the Mercedes-
Benz Group focuses on gradually integrating
sustainability aspects — via benchmarks or sustainabil-
ity performance indicators, for example — into its man-
dates. To this end, the Group included sustainability
targets in some of its mandates with external asset
managers in 2023 and also firmly incorporated these
goals and targets into its investment guidelines. Taking
into account the available data coverage, the Group
was thus able to achieve a lower carbon footprint for its
asset classes equities and corporate bonds of the
German pension assets compared to the aggregated
benchmark. Whereas the aggregated benchmark is
determined by the indices awarded to the asset manag-
ers, the carbon footprint is calculated based on exter-
nally bought ESG data. In addition, the Mercedes-Benz
Group also established an internal reporting system for
various sustainability metrics for its German pension
assets.

The measures we have implemented as part of our sus-
tainability concept are regularly assessed and adapted
to current developments. Mercedes-Benz Pensions-
fonds AG takes into account adverse effects on sustain-
ability factors within the framework of the Sustainable
Finance Disclosure Regulation. For investing foreign
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pension assets, country-specific requirements regard-
ing consideration of ESG criteria apply.

Tax obligation

The Mercedes-Benz Group views itself as a responsible
company that endeavours to meet all of its global tax
obligations and use public funding responsibly. In this
way, the Group can also fulfil its social and ethical
responsibilities.

The Group’s tax strategy operates according to the
following principles in particular:

- By qualified and experienced experts and, if possible,
efficient and reliable processes, systems, methods
and controls the Mercedes-Benz Group wants to
ensure that the tax obligations by the Group compa-
nies are met and integrity standards are maintained.

- In line with the principle of being a good corporate
tax citizen (i.e. fulfilling its responsibility as a tax-
payer), the Mercedes-Benz Group conducts legal,
proactive and non-aggressive tax planning activities
on the basis of operational considerations (“tax
follows business”). The Mercedes-Benz Group also
strives to work even more cooperatively, transpar-
ently and constructively with the tax authorities.

In this process, it maintains its legal standpoints
and defends its interests wherever it believes such
actions are appropriate and legitimate.
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The Group tax strategy drawn up by the Board of Man-
agement of Mercedes-Benz Group AG defines the
framework of action here, and this strategy is further
specified and implemented by means of organizational
and content-related policies, guidelines and instruc-
tions. The tax strategy is regularly reviewed for appro-
priate adjustments.

The tax policies define the responsibilities, tasks and
obligations of those individuals in the Group who deal
with tax issues and also contain specific provisions for
ensuring that legal requirements are met. Management
is kept informed about relevant tax issues by means of
monthly reports and regular communications, as well as
when required. Moreover, it is involved in compliance
processes:

- Regular communication between CFO and
Head of Taxes

- Regular information to the Supervisory Board on risks
and opportunities as well as current regulatory issues

The Code of Conduct stipulates that all intentional vio-
lations of external and/or internal tax guidelines must
be reported and investigated. The same applies to any
failure to make corrections to procedures performed in
an erroneous manner, as outlined in our internally valid
Treatment of Violations Policy. Further information can
be found in the Integrity and Compliance chapter.

The Mercedes-Benz Group has established a Tax Com-
pliance Management System (Tax CMS) in order to
ensure effective tax compliance throughout the Group.
The Tax CMS is a separate sub-unit of the general intra-
Group Compliance Management System. The Tax CMS
also operates an active tax-risk management system
that is consistently applied throughout the Group in
order to monitor and check whether tax obligations are
being fulfilled, and also to support those responsible
for ensuring such fulfilment. Another goal here is to
identify and reduce tax risks at the Group, and thus the
associated personal risks that may be faced by the
employees active in this area. The system includes
numerous measures - for example, continuous moni-
toring of tax risks and the incorporation of tax risk
issues into the internal control system and the Group-
wide risk management process in line with the compa-
ny’s risk management policy. Based on the Code of
Conduct the Mercedes-Benz Group did not become
aware of any material violations during the reporting
year.

Sustainability in the supply chain

The Mercedes-Benz Group is committed to the respon-
sible procurement of production materials, non-produc-
tion materials and services.

The Group has incorporated the guidelines for sustain-
able supply chain management into the Responsible

Sourcing Standards (RSS). These are contractually stip-
ulated with direct suppliers and are applied worldwide.
The goal here is to prevent, minimize or, if possible, put
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a stop to any negative effects on human rights world-
wide. The RSS define the minimum requirements for
suppliers. They are already used as a basis for the ten-
dering process for suppliers of production materials.
The RSS require direct suppliers to communicate the
RSS provisions to their own employees and to their
direct suppliers, and ensure that the RSS are complied
with in their business processes and in the areas in
which they exert an influence. Suppliers are to conserve
natural resources and avoid environmental damage,
repair any damage that does occur, and compensate for
such damage that cannot be avoided or repaired.

Measures in the supply chain

The Mercedes-Benz Group uses a variety of measures
and concepts to ensure the fulfilment of its due dili-
gence obligations in the supply chain. This includes
training, preventive and corrective measures, risk analy-
ses, documentation for tracking and reporting purposes
and effectiveness checks. The Mercedes-Benz Group
uses these tools in order to increase the transparency
of the supply chain and ensures that the internationally
recognized human rights are upheld by business part-
ners as well, and that other social standards and envi-
ronmental requirements are met. The procurement
units for production materials, non-production materi-
als and services play a key role here. Further informa-
tion in the chapters Social Compliance and Environ-
mental Issues.
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Complaint management

The Business & People Protection Office (BPO) whistle-
blower system makes it possible for employees and
external whistleblowers around the world to report
rules violations. With regard to supply chains, sus-
pected violations of the Responsible Sourcing Stand-
ards can be reported via the BPO. If the misconduct or
problem falls within the supplier’s area of responsibility,
the supplier must take measures to immediately correct
or eliminate the problem. Further information about the
Compliance Programme can be found in the Integrity
and Compliance chapter.
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Environmental issues

As a player in the transport sector, the Mercedes-Benz
Group supports the Paris Climate Agreement. It is
convinced of the goals of the agreement and is working
to implement them in all of its divisions. About one fifth
of all greenhouse gas emissions in Europe are produced
as a result of the transport of people and goods on
streets and roads. The Mercedes-Benz Group is taking
deliberate measures to counteract this trend and has
made climate protection a core element of its business
strategy. The Group’s ambition is to make the entire
Mercedes-Benz new vehicle fleet net carbon-neutral
across all stages of the value chain by 2039.

In order to achieve this goal, the Mercedes-Benz Group
is transforming the products and services that are at
the heart of its business activities. The company also
takes into account climate protection in all of the life
cycle phases of its automobiles — from the supply
chain and its own manufacturing operations to the use
and disposal of the vehicles.

1 Net carbon-neutral means that no CO, emissions are created or any resulting
CO, emissions are offset by certified compensation projects.

Climate protection for vehicles

The Mercedes-Benz Group believes that the complete
electrification of its product range is the most impor-
tant lever of making its entire new vehicle fleet net car-

bon-neutral across all stages of the value chain by 2039.

The Mercedes-Benz Group is continuing to seek to
shape the transformation to an all-electric and soft-
ware-driven future. The Mercedes-Benz Group remains
focused and tactically flexible in terms of its strategy.
Accordingly, the Mercedes-Benz Group has adjusted
some of its electrification targets and target corridors
based on market conditions and customer require-
ments.

Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans are tak-
ing the necessary steps to go all-electric. The pace of
transformation is determined by market conditions and
customers. Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz
Vans plan to be in a position to cater to different cus-
tomer needs, whether it's an all-electric drivetrain or a
combustion engine, until well into the 2030s. Climate
protection is a key cornerstone of the Mercedes-Benz
Group’s sustainable business strategy. As early as
November 2021, the Mercedes-Benz Group under-
scored its commitment to this transformation during
the COP26 UN Climate Change Conference.
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Target horizon

Climate protection

A fleet of new Mercedes-Benz vehicles that is net

carbon-neutral along all stages of the value chain 2039
Climate protection for vehicles

Reduction of the CO, emissions per car in the new

vehicle fleet up to 50% along all stages of the value By the end

chain®?

of the decade

Increase the proportion of electrified® vehicles in the
fleet of new vehicles at Mercedes-Benz Cars to as
high as 50%!

In the second half
of the decade

Electrify all new vehicle architectures®?

In the second half
of the decade

Offer an electrified?® variant for every model from
Mercedes-Benz Carst

In the second half
of the decade

Offer an electrified* alternative for every model from
Mercedes-Benz Vans

Target achieved

Increase the proportion of electrified* vehicles in the
fleet of new vehicles at Mercedes-Benz Vans to more
than 50%!

By the end of
the decade

1 The pace of transformation is determined by market conditions and customers.

N

Compared to 2020 (value chain stages: procured goods, production, logistics, fuel and

energy generation, driving operation, disassembly and treatment processes)

w

Plug-in hybrids and all-electric vehicles
All-electric vehicles

FS



Annual Report 2023 |

Mercedes-Benz Group

Contents To Our Shareholders

Combined Management Report

Corporate Governance

Non-Financial Declaration

Responsibilities

The Board of Management of the Mercedes-Benz Group
is responsible for setting strategic goals, including tar-
gets for reducing the CO, emissions, and for monitoring
the progress made in achieving these goals. The Prod-
uct Steering Board (PSB) at Mercedes-Benz Cars is
responsible for the car fleet. In particular, this body
monitors the development of CO, emissions of the
Mercedes-Benz car fleet by comparing them with the
legally defined targets in markets subject to CO,-emis-
sion regulations. The PSB is assigned to the Committee
for Model Policy and Product Planning (AMP).

The Division and Product Strategy unit at Mercedes-
Benz Vans ensures compliance with the CO, fleet emis-
sion limits and reports on this regularly to the Van Exec-
utive Committee.

The Committee for Model Policy and Product Planning
and the Van Executive Committee regularly report to
the Board of Management of Mercedes-Benz Group AG
about the development of CO, emissions. The Board of
Management then decides which measures need to be
implemented. On the market side of the equation, price
and volume control measures can also affect our ability
to achieve our CO, targets.

Electrified product range
The Mercedes-Benz Group’s goal is to further expand its

range of electric vehicles. The Group’s commitment to
research and development is correspondingly strong.

The Mercedes-Benz Group has been offering all-electric
vehicles since 2018. During the year under review, the
Group presented the Mercedes-Maybach EQS SUV,
which brought the number of all-electric models in the
Mercedes-Benz Cars portfolio to nine in 2023. Plug-in
hybrids are also an important transitional technology
on the road to an all-electric future. Customers could
choose between more than 25 plug-in hybrid model
variants in the reporting year.

Electrified vehicles (xEV) at Mercedes-Benz Cars
accounted for 20% of the Group’s worldwide unit sales
in the year under review. All-electric models (BEVs)
accounted for 12% of the Group’s worldwide unit sales
in the year under review.

In the van segment as well, the Mercedes-Benz Group
is convinced of the ecological and economic advan-
tages of all-electric vehicles and has firmly anchored its
claim to leadership in electric mobility in its strategy. In
this way, Mercedes-Benz Vans is also setting the course
for an all-electric future, and beginning in 2026 all new
vans are to be developed as all-electric models exclu-
sively. All model series have already been systemati-
cally electrified, and today body manufacturers and
customers can choose an all-electric van in every seg-
ment — for both commercial and private use. The mod-
els here include the eVito, the EQV, the eSprinter, the
eCitan and the EQT. (WLTP: combined energy consump-
tion: 20.7-19.3 kWh/100 km; combined CO, emissions:
Og/km; CO, class: A).
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Electrified vehicles from Mercedes-Benz Vans
accounted for 5% of the Group’s worldwide unit sales
in the year under review.

Development of CO, emissions in Europe

The Mercedes-Benz Group has defined the CO, emis-
sions of its new passenger car fleet in Europe as one of
its most important non-financial performance indica-
tors. In the reporting year, the average CO, emissions of
the Mercedes-Benz new vehicle fleet in Europe (Euro-
pean Union, Norway and Iceland), applying the statu-
tory regulations, on the basis of internal data amount to
111g/km (including vans registered as passenger cars)
and were thus lower than in the previous year. Taking
the vehicles of the joint venture smart Automo-

bile Co., Ltd. into account in the Mercedes-Benz CO,
pool, the average CO, emissions in Europe (European
Union, Norway and Island) amounted to 109 g/km
according to internal calculations. This means that the
CO,-emission figures for the Mercedes-Benz Group
were significantly below the CO, targets in Europe in
2023. The Mercedes-Benz Group also expects that the
average CO, emissions of the Mercedes-Benz fleet in
Europe (European Union, Norway and Iceland) will be
further reduced in 2024. This development will be
especially favoured by the fact that the share of total
car sales accounted for by all-electric and plug-in
hybrid vehicles will continue to increase. Further infor-
mation can be found in the Outlook chapter.
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In the reporting year, the average CO, emissions of
vehicle category N1 light trucks (GVW of up to 3.5 tons)
in Europe (European Union, Norway and Iceland) as
measured on the basis of the legal regulations on the
basis of internal data amount to 204 g/km. This means
that the figures for Mercedes-Benz will be below the
CO, target. The Mercedes-Benz Group expects that
increased unit sales of all-electric vehicles will lead to
a further reduction of CO, emissions in 2024.

Development of CO, emissions in the United States

In the United States, fleet values are regulated by two
separate federal standards for limiting greenhouse
gases and fuel consumption in vehicle fleets: the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG) and the Corporate
Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) standard. For the 2023
model year, the GHG fleet figure is 170 g CO,/mi for the
car fleet and 259 g CO,/mi for the light duty truck (LDT)
fleet (vans and SUVs - based on latest forecast). Due to
an increase in the share of the total fleet in the United
States accounted for by electrified vehicles (xEV), the
Mercedes-Benz Group came in below its average fleet
target of 179 g CO,/mi for the car fleet. The target

value of 233 g CO,/mi for the light duty truck (LDT) fleet
(vans and SUVs) could not be reached. However, the
Mercedes-Benz Group was able to offset the remaining
difference through the purchase of external credits.

—-

Mercedes-benz China Ltd. (MBCL) is a joint venture between MB and Lei Shing Hong,

which is the importer and general sales company for imported finished vehicles in China.

N

Net carbon-neutral means that no CO, emissions are created or any resulting
CO, emissions are offset by certified compensation projects.

The models of the Mercedes-Benz Sprinter are subject
to the GHG regulation for Classes 2b and 3 with a gross
vehicle weight (GVW) of between 3.86 tons and 6.35
tons. The CO, targets in these classes depend on the
payload, the towing capacity and the drive type of the
vehicles. In the reporting year, the CO, emissions of
Mercedes-Benz medium duty vehicles (MDV) were

436 g CO,/mi, which is lower than the target value of
476 g CO,/mi. The Group expects its figures to also be
lower than the CO, target values in the years ahead.

Development of CO, emissions in China

In China, domestic and imported cars are reported sep-
arately and according to fleet consumption values,
unlike in Europe and the United States. This means the
figures for the imported fleet are the relevant figures for
Mercedes-Benz China (MBCL)!, which does not manu-
facture vehicles in the country. The target was

6.95 /100 km; the figure that was actually achieved was
8.46 /100 km taking into account off-cycle technolo-
gies (8.52 /100 km not taking into account off-cycle
technologies). MBCL plans to purchase external credits
in order to close consumption gaps in the fleet’s target
achievement at short notice.
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Climate protection
in the supply chain

Target Target horizon

Climate protection in the supply chain

All production materials procured by Mercedes-Benz

Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans are net carbon-neutral 2039

1 Measured on the basis of the annual procurement volume that, in turn, is based on
target figures updated monthly; guaranteed by means of signatures.

The Mercedes-Benz Group implements various projects
and measures in order to avoid and reduce CO, emis-
sions in its supply chains for services as well as for pro-
duction and non-production materials. This is why in
the future the Group intends to work only with partners
that share its view of sustainability with regard to the
climate, the environment and human rights and has
also incorporated net carbon neutrality? into the terms
of its contracts. As early as 2020, Mercedes-Benz Cars
and Mercedes-Benz Vans sent out to suppliers of pro-
duction materials the ambition letter, which is a decla-
ration of intent regarding net carbon-neutral products.
Signing the ambition letter is today a key criterion for
the awarding of contracts. By signing this document,
supplier companies commit themselves to supply
Mercedes-Benz cars and Mercedes-Benz vans only with
production material that is net carbon-neutral by 2039
at the latest — and thus to the Mercedes-Benz Group’s
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“Ambition 2039”. As a milestone, for example, contracts
were signed with two steel suppliers from Europe and
America in the year under review, which provide for
deliveries of CO,-reduced steel for current and future
model series. Progress on climate protection in the sup-
ply chain is reported at regular intervals in the Group
Sustainability Committee (GSC).

Resource conservation
in the supply chain

The supply chain also plays an important role in efforts to
conserve resources. The Mercedes-Benz Group wants to
decouple resource consumption from economic growth.
To achieve this goal, it is relying on the support of its sup-
pliers. With their help, the Group wants to continuously
increase the proportion of secondary and renewable
materials in its vehicles.

Plastics, steel and aluminium have been identified as par-
ticularly important such materials in Mercedes-Benz vehi-
cles. We need large volumes of these materials for the
production of our vehicles, and their extraction and pro-
cessing also consume large amounts of energy and
resources.

Plastics and recyclates: throughout their entire life
cycles, vehicles from the Mercedes-Benz brand are in
future to be more environmentally friendly and less
resource-intensive than before. The cornerstones of this
approach involve the use of recyclates and lightweight

materials, as well as recyclability. Mercedes-Benz Group
requirement specifications already define a minimum pro-
portion of recycled material for each component in new
Mercedes-Benz cars. This proportion varies depending on
the vehicle model and series in question. As part of its
sustainable business strategy, the Mercedes-Benz Group
also relies on the use of natural fibres and textiles as a
means of replacing conventional plastics with renewable
raw materials.

Steel: The use of secondary materials such as steel scrap
can reduce primary resource requirements in line with a
circular economy. For example, Mercedes-Benz AG and its
partner therefore ensure the recycling of scrap steel from
the Mercedes-Benz Cars plant in Sindelfingen, Germany.

Aluminium: Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz
Vans already use recycled materials, including recycled
aluminium, in numerous series-production vehicles. Alu-
minium is a light metal that can be recycled without any
loss of quality, and the recycling process for aluminium
uses less energy than would be required to produce new
aluminium. In order to continue increasing its use of recy-
cled materials, Mercedes-Benz AG is working with its sup-
pliers to develop aluminium alloys with high end-of-life
scrap potential — from old vehicles or packaging, for
example. In addition, by amending existing supply agree-
ments, Mercedes-Benz AG and its suppliers continued to
work on the decarbonization of the aluminium supply
chain for all of their production operations in Europe. At
least one third of the primary aluminium that will be used
for new electric models in Europe is to be produced using
energy from renewable sources.
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In 2020, secondary material targets were defined for
Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans, and these
were then firmly incorporated into the requirements for
contract awards. In the reporting year, the Company car-
ried out a model series-specific analysis at component
level in order to realize further potential for increasing
secondary materials. Project milestones and the status of
projects with regard to the use of secondary materials are
presented on a quarterly basis in the executive bodies for
the various model series. The responsible member of the
Board of Management of Mercedes-Benz Cars and the
responsible executive management team member of
Mercedes-Benz Vans are also provided with information
on a regular basis within the framework of the activities of
a committee that manages strategic sustainability matters.

With its Responsible Sourcing Standards, the Mercedes-
Benz Group has also defined other environmental require-
ments in its supplier agreements. Further information can
be found in the “Sustainability in the supply chain” section.

Suppliers of production materials to Mercedes-Benz Cars
and Mercedes-Benz Vans are expected to operate with an
environmental management system that is certified
according to ISO 14001 or EMAS. Depending on the spe-
cific risks, this also applies to suppliers of non-production
materials and services.

Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans are also
cooperating with organizations such as CDP (formerly Car-
bon Disclosure Project) so that they can depict the envi-
ronmental impact of their supply chains even more trans-
parently. The suppliers have been reporting on their
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environmental impact and climate protection efforts
within the framework of the CDP Supply Chain Programme
since 2019. CDP provides the corresponding tools for
recording, assessing and publishing environmental and
climate data.

Climate protection in production

Target Target horizon

Climate protection in production!
Reduction of CO, emissions (Scope 12 and 23) by 80%*

2030

Increase the share of energy from renewable sources

to cover 100% of energy consumption 2039

Milestone: increase the share of energy from renew-
able sources to cover energy consumption
- Cars: 70%

- Vans: 80% 2030

—-

In addition to the production sites of the consolidated subsidiaries, the production sites
of the following non-consolidated subsidiaries are included: Star Transmission srl (Cugir,
Romania), STARKOM, proizvodnja in trgovina d.o.o. (Maribor, Slovenia) and STARCAM
s.r.o. (Most, Czech Republic).

Scope 1 emissions are direct CO, emissions from sources for which the company is
directly responsible or that it directly controls.

Scope 2 emissions are indirect CO, emissions from purchased energy such as electricity
and district heating that are generated externally but consumed by the company.
Compared to 2018.

N

w

I

—-

The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate
assurance engagement of the sustainability report.

In 2018 the Scope 1 emissions amounted to 650,000 tons of CO,, while the

Scope 2 emissions totalled 1,040,000 tons of CO,.

In addition to the production sites of the consolidated subsidiaries, the production sites
of the following non-consolidated subsidiaries are included: Star Transmission srl
(Cugir, Romania), STARKOM, proizvodnja in trgovina d.o.o. (Maribor, Slovenia) and
STARCAM s.r.0. (Most, Czech Republic).

N

w

The Mercedes-Benz Group formulates the holistic goal
of making the mobility of the future more sustainable in
its sustainable business strategy. One of the most
important targets is the reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions. The Mercedes-Benz Group’s goal is to
achieve carbon-neutral production at its own produc-
tion plants by 2039. This is to be achieved by covering
energy consumption with 100% renewable energies.

In this way, the Mercedes-Benz Group intends to act in
accordance with the Paris Agreement on climate
change.

As it moves towards achieving this goal, CO, emissions
are to be consistently reduced or, wherever possible,
completely eliminated. In order to accomplish this, the
Mercedes-Benz Group is relying on the purchase of
green electricity, the expansion of renewable energy
sources at its locations and the implementation of a
sustainable heating supply system. The Mercedes-Benz
Group plans to reduce CO, emissions at its own plants
(Scope 1 and Scope 2) by 80% by 2030 compared to
2018. Production at all manufacturing locations oper-
ated by the Mercedes-Benz Group has been net car-

bon-neutral regarding Scope 1 and Scope 2 since 2022%.

Since 2022, all CO, emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) at
these production facilities that have been as yet una-
voidable have been offset by means of carbon offsets
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from qualified climate protection projectsl Remaining
emissions are released in particular by the combined
heat and power facilities that use natural gas to pro-
duce electricity and heat.

For the procurement of green electricity, the Mercedes-
Benz Group in Germany currently relies on a mix of
solar, wind and hydroelectric power for external elec-
tricity purchases. The Mercedes-Benz Group is also tak-
ing measures to expand the use of energy from renewa-
ble sources at its locations.

In 2022, the Mercedes-Benz Group already achieved
the goal of reducing CO, emissions at its own plants
(Scope 1 and 2) by 50% by 2030 compared to 2018 (tar-
get confirmed by the Science Based Targets initiative,
an initiative to set science-based climate targets)2.
During the reporting year, Mercedes-Benz Cars and
Mercedes-Benz Vans employed various measures that
enabled them to reduce CO, emissions in production
(Scope 1 and Scope 2) from 539! thousand tons in 2022
to 511t thousand tons in the year under review?, and
thus by 5%
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Resource conservation in production

Target Target horizon

Resource conservation in productiont

Reduce energy consumption per vehicle?
- Cars: -43%

- Vans: -25% 2030

Reduce water consumption per vehicle?
- Cars: -33%

- Vans: -28% 2030

Reduce waste volume for disposal per vehicle?
- Cars: -82%

- Vans: -85% 2030

Reduce total waste volume per vehicle3
- Cars: -35%

- Vans: -30% 2030

1 In addition to the production sites of the consolidated subsidiaries, the production sites
of the following non-consolidated subsidiaries are included: Star Transmission srl (Cugir,
Romania), STARKOM, proizvodnja in trgovina d.o.o. (Maribor, Slovenia) and STARCAM
s.r.o. (Most, Czech Republic).

2 As compared to the average for 2013/2014.

3 As compared to 2018.

The increasing demand for mobility is also leading to an
increase in the worldwide consumption of resources —

with effects on the environment and society. That's why
the goal of the Mercedes-Benz Group is to increasingly

decouple its consumption of resources from the growth
of its production volume.

The consumption of resources in production plays an
important role in the environmental compatibility of
vehicles. For this reason, the Mercedes-Benz Group is
working continuously to make production more efficient
and more environmentally compatible. In order to
improve its environmental footprint in production

operations, the Group has set reduction targets for
energy, water and waste at all of its production sites
worldwide.

In order to achieve its goals, the Group uses Group-
wide resource management with its environmental and
energy management systems to ensure that appropriate
measures are developed, adapted to challenges where
necessary, and monitored.

In order to ensure efficient, high-quality, and environ-
mentally friendly manufacturing operations, the Group
has established an environmental management system
certified in accordance with ISO 14001 at its production
sites around the world. All German manufacturing loca-
tions and the two European production sites in
Kecskemét, Hungary, and Vitoria, Spain, have also been
validated in accordance with EMAS. In addition, the
German production sites have had energy management
systems conforming to DIN EN ISO 50001 in place since
2012, and the Group has these systems certified every
three years. The Mercedes-Benz Group is currently also
implementing ISO 50001 systems at a number of indi-
vidual sites outside Germany, for example in Kecskemét
in Hungary, Jawor in Poland and Vitoria in Spain. In
addition, during the year under review the Mercedes-
Benz Group also moved ahead with the introduction on
an international scale of energy management systems
certified in accordance with ISO 50001. New manage-
ment systems were implemented in Pune, India, and
Sebes, Romania, for example.
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The effectiveness of the management systems is moni-
tored by external auditors as part of the certification
process (ISO 14001, EMAS, ISO 50001), as well as in the
environmental sector by internal environmental risk
assessments (environmental due diligence process).
The Group also has a standardized process in place for
reviewing and assessing its consolidated production
sites every five years. The results of this process are
reported to the respective plant and company manage-
ment so that any necessary optimizations can be car-
ried out.

Reduction of energy consumption

The optimization of energy efficiency enables the
Mercedes-Benz Group to decrease its energy consump-
tion and conserve resources, while reducing the CO,
emissions of its production processes.

The Mercedes-Benz Group regularly measures and
assesses essential energy consumption in order to
identify and take advantage of savings potential in the
areas of production and infrastructure. An innovative
energy management software system has been intro-
duced at Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans
in order to create transparency with regard to energy
procurement and energy consumption.

In its effort to save energy, the Mercedes-Benz Group
relies on the efficient management of energy supply
and building technology systems — for example by
means of needs-based management of local lighting, air
volume flow regulation in ventilation and exhaust air
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systems and load-dependent volume control of the air
supply in paint dryer units.

As a result of the implementation of these and other
energy efficiency measures, energy consumption

(incl. electricity, natural gas, district heat, heating oil
and liquefied petroleum gas) per vehicle at Mercedes-
Benz Cars in the reporting year was 12%! lower than in
2022. Due to similar effects, energy consumption per
vehicle at Mercedes-Benz Vans fell by 8%! compared to
the previous year?.

Efficient water utilization

The Mercedes-Benz Group developed the “Storm Water
Protection — Pollutant Discharge Elimination” standard
all the way back in 2014 so that its sites could initiate
targeted water protection measures. It contains guide-
lines on how rainwater management at production sites,
branches and workshops can prevent and reduce
potential pollution from previously contaminated rain-
water. In 2022, the Mercedes-Benz Group adopted a
Water Policy so that it might continue to effectively
contribute to the creation of a more sustainable water
management system. In addition, the Group set itself
the goal of no longer using drinking water in production
operations at any Mercedes-Benz manufacturing loca-
tions worldwide. In order to further minimize fresh

1 The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate
assurance engagement of the sustainability report.

2 In addition to the production sites of the consolidated subsidiaries, the production
sites of the following non-consolidated subsidiaries are included: Star Transmission srl
(Cugir, Romania), STARKOM, proizvodnja in trgovina d.o.o. (Maribor, Slovenia) and
STARCAM s.r.0. (Most, Czech Republic).

water consumption, the Mercedes-Benz Group also
intends to use hybrid cooling systems. The Group
launched an initial project in this area in Sindelfingen,
Germany, in June 2023 in cooperation with the munici-
pal wastewater management and disposal company.
The goal here is to employ a closed cycle to largely
replace the fresh water used in production with treated
municipal wastewater.

For years now, the Mercedes-Benz Group has been
using its own accounting method, which focuses in par-
ticular on fresh water, to monitor and assess its water
consumption. On this account, water consumption per
vehicle at Mercedes-Benz Cars decreased 8%! as com-
pared to 2022. Mercedes-Benz Vans was able to reduce
water consumption per vehicle by 6%! compared to the
previous year2

Less waste

The goal of the Mercedes-Benz Group is to keep the
waste volumes generated in its production operations
as low as possible. To this end, the Group seeks to
continuously reduce overall waste, including waste for
disposal. As it does so, the Mercedes-Benz Group’s top
priority is to prevent waste.

Consolidated Financial Statements

89

Further Information

In order to reduce total waste, it is important to ensure
transparency concerning the waste value streams

and to correctly separate the various types of waste.
The Mercedes-Benz Group generally works with
licensed and regularly certified waste disposal compa-
nies to ensure the professional disposal of our waste
materials in accordance with legal requirements.
Furthermore, it continues to reduce waste such as clip-
pings, sands, filter media and slurries through the
implementation of new or optimized production pro-
cesses.

The Mercedes-Benz Group also works with some suppli-
ers in order to avoid waste. For example, load carriers
and the materials used for securing loads and cargo are
now, where possible, reused in a closed cycle, as are
steel barrels (e.g. for thermal conductive paste, adhe-
sives and lubricants).

In the reporting year, Mercedes-Benz Cars reduced the
total amount of waste per vehicle by 9%! and the
amount of waste for disposal per vehicle by 42%*! com-
pared to 2022. At Mercedes-Benz Vans, total waste per
vehicle increased by 16%! as compared to 2022, while
waste volume for disposal per vehicle fell by 21%! dur-
ing the reporting year2
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Employee issues

Target Ta.rget
horizon

HR work in the transformation

Shape the transformation of the Mercedes-Benz Group for its

employees in a responsible, socially acceptable and future-ori-

ented manner Ongoing

Ensure lasting constructive cooperation between company and

employee representatives Ongoing

Further develop the “People Principles” and embed them in the

Group; create a common understanding of an agile and innova-

tive leadership culture in the transformation process Ongoing

Ensure market-conformant salary structures through compliance

with the Corporate Compensation Policy Ongoing

Support and further develop flexible and modern working time

models Ongoing

Training and further education

Ensure a high-quality and a needs-based professional portfolio

for training and dual study programmes Ongoing

Continuously develop the qualification programme for employ-

ees Ongoing

Diversity and inclusion

Improve inclusion for all employees in the Group Ongoing

Increase the proportion of women in senior management posi-

tions! to 30% 2030

Occupational health and safety

Enable employees to work in a healthy and safe environment Ongoing

Strengthen a sustainable safety culture by developing and com-

municating binding rules of conduct Ongoing

Use a globally uniform accident documentation system and Target

introduce it at the German production sites achieved

1 Management Level 3 and up — Mercedes-Benz Group worldwide (headcounts, fully con-
solidated companies).

HR work in the transformation

As a result of electrification, digitalization and the
increasing use of powerful artificial intelligence (AI)
systems, the job profiles of employees are also chang-
ing. Working processes and structures are changing just
as fundamentally as employee tasks and cooperation
within the Mercedes-Benz Group.

The aim of the Mercedes-Benz Group is to manage the
upcoming changes for its total of 166,056 employees
worldwide in a responsible, socially compatible and
future-oriented way. It meets the challenges and
requirements of the personnel transformation with a
corresponding personnel strategy, among other things.

The Mercedes-Benz Group continuously invests in the
qualification of its employees, is constantly expanding
its range of further qualification courses and at the
same time recruits new talent with appropriate skills
profiles. In order to attract such employees and retain
them for the long term, the Mercedes-Benz Group takes
measures to create and further enhance an attractive
and future-oriented working environment for its
employees, among other ways by offering them flexible
forms of work. Particularly in challenging times,
respectful and trust-based cooperation between the
workforce and the management is extremely important.
The Mercedes-Benz Group therefore promotes a diverse
and inclusive corporate, leadership and cooperative

1 Status 31 December 2023: active employees (employees including holiday workers,
without thesis writers, interns, working students, PhD students, senior experts and
trainees) of Mercedes-Benz Group
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culture. At the same time, the Group also wants to
provide its employees with a healthy and safe working
environment.

Firmly establishing work and social standards

The Mercedes-Benz Group is committed to fulfilling its
social responsibilities. As a participant in the UN Global
Compact, the Mercedes-Benz Group AG has committed
itself, among other things, to respecting key employee
rights. Based on the labour and social standards of the
International Labour Organization (ILO), Mercedes-Benz
Group AG revised and supplemented its own Group-
wide principles of social responsibility in 2021 and pub-
lished them as the Principles of Social Responsibility
and Human Rights.

Reported violations of the Integrity Code or other inter-
nal Group regulations, as well as legal regulations, that
pose a high risk to the Mercedes-Benz Group and its
employees or to other people are followed up by the
whistleblowing system BPO (Business & People Protec-
tion Office).

Responsible transformation

Depending on their product portfolio and the size of
their operations, the Mercedes-Benz Group sites, and
thus the company’s various groups of employees, are
affected to different degrees by digitalization and the
electrification of the automotive industry.
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A successful and responsible transformation process
requires goals as well as measures that are geared
towards them. To this end, various sites — primarily the
Powertrain and manufacturing plants, but also the sales
department — developed goals for their transformation
process. On the basis of these goals, the sites identified
key topics with corresponding measures. These meas-
ures primarily include training and retraining opportuni-
ties for employees. The company also makes it possible
for employees to move between different sites in order
to take on new jobs or continue to work at the corre-
sponding level of qualification.

One focus of HR work at the Mercedes-Benz Group is to
win over, motivate and empower employees for change.
For example, the TransformatiON initiative was
launched in the “Powertrain Network™ in 2022. With
this initiative, the company wants to explore new com-
munication channels in order to better inform, involve
and support employees during the transition. Transfor-
matiON focuses increasingly on information, interaction,
dialogue and feedback as central components.

In addition to courage, commitment and a willingness
to change, successful transformation requires security
above all. That's why the company signed an agreement
in 2017 that gives the employees at Mercedes-Benz
Group AG, Mercedes-Benz AG and Mercedes-Benz
Intellectual Property GmbH & Co. KG a job-security

1 The Powertrain Network stands for sites that are responsible for the production of
engines, transmissions, axles and components (major assemblies plants). These include
the Untertiirkheim, Hamburg and Berlin locations.

2 without logistic center

guarantee for the period until the end of 2029. This
works agreement generally excludes the possibility of
business-related layoffs until 31 December 2029.

The Mercedes-Benz Group in Germany has also made
agreements that will enable it to react flexibly to market
fluctuations and to retain the core workforce and jobs
within the Group. The provisions of the general works
agreement “DMove” have been extended until the end
of 2024 for the Mercedes-Benz Group AG and
Mercedes-Benz AG sites (plants and headquater) in
Germany?. At the Mercedes-Benz Group, temporary
workers supplement the core workforce; they do not
replace it.

Leadership culture

Managers have a special role and responsibility in the
transformation process. At the Mercedes-Benz Group,
the leadership culture and the way people work
together are therefore constantly evolving. The various
units and departments use the shared basis of the
Group-wide People Principles to focus on their own
specific areas and develop appropriate measures. The
principles serve as a basis for leadership and coopera-
tion at the Mercedes-Benz Group. Current offers and
suggestions support managers in their sustainable fur-
ther development and help them engage in lifelong
learning. Because learning and cultural development
take place at all levels, the Group introduced a format
tailored to top management in the reporting year in the
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form of Executive Inspiration Talks. It combines exter-
nal suggestions on the topic of leadership culture with
networking and cross-functional exchange.

The hybrid working environment has changed the
demands placed on managers within the Group. In
order to support managers as much as possible in their
roles and their tasks, the Mercedes-Benz Group offers
them training courses that focus on the opportunities
and the framework of leadership. In these courses,
managers learn in a targeted manner about the new
challenges relating to leadership with regard to innova-
tion, cooperation, sustainable development and per-
sonal resilience.

In order to continually improve its leadership and cor-
porate culture and further develop its work culture
within the framework of the transformation process, the
Mercedes-Benz Group conducts an extensive survey of
its employees worldwide every two years. This was
most recently done in 2023. The survey is a key indica-
tor of where the Group stands with regard to various
issues from the point of view of its employees, and
where there is still potential for improvement. Other
channels are also open for employees and managers to
provide feedback.
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Attractive and transparent remuneration

The Mercedes-Benz Group remunerates work in accord-
ance with the same principles at all of its companies
around the world. The global Corporate Compensation
Policy, which is valid for all groups of employees, estab-
lishes the framework conditions and minimum require-
ments for the design of the remuneration systems.
Among other things, it stipulates that the amount of the
remuneration is determined on the basis of the require-
ments of the job profile in question (taking into account,
for example, the person’s knowledge, expertise, respon-
sibilities and decision-making authority) and, where
appropriate, performance. However, it does not take
account of gender, origin or other personal characteris-
tics. In doing so, the Group also takes into considera-
tion local market conditions and benchmarks.

In 2023 the expenses for employees in the company
worldwide for a workforce numbering 168,336 on aver-
age (including temporary workers during holidays)
amounted to:

- €13,848 million on wages and salaries

- €2,376 million on social welfare services

- €409 million on retirement benefits

The variable remuneration for activities in management
positions at levels one to three comprises both a short-

term and, as a rule, a long-term component. The short-
term component is based not only on financial targets

but also on transformation goals and non-financial
targets. Since 2023, the long-term component has also
been based on ESG targets.

To measure the company’s success, sustainability
aspects are also be taken into account. Depending on
the results, employees who are covered by collective
wage agreements at Mercedes-Benz Group AG,
Mercedes-Benz AG and Mercedes-Benz Intellectual
Property GmbH & Co. KG and managers at management
level four (Executive) receive a success and profit-shar-
ing bonus since 2023.

The internal auditing department conducts random
annual internal audits to determine whether selected
aspects of the Corporate Compensation Policy are
being complied with. As part of these audits, no mate-
rial breach of the guideline was identified in 2023.

Flexible working-time models

The Mercedes-Benz Group continuously further devel-
ops its working culture — and thus its working-time
arrangements as well. It is increasingly relying on hybrid
forms of work, a mix of on-site and mobile working
depending on tasks and work processes. The “Remote
Working” general works agreement, valid since 2016,
was converted into a group works agreement at the
beginning of 2023. Thereby, and through the ongoing
exchange with the works council, the Group is creating
the necessary framework conditions for hybrid working
models in Germany and developing them further. For
example, employees of the Mercedes-Benz Group in

Consolidated Financial Statements

92

Further Information

Germany have also been able to temporarily work
remotely from abroad for private reasons since March
2023.

Depending on local conditions, Mercedes-Benz
Group AG, Mercedes-Benz AG, Mercedes-Benz Mobil-
ity AG and Mercedes-Benz Bank AG offer different
working-time arrangements. These include e.g. part-
time work and job sharing.

In addition, employees at Mercedes-Benz Group AG,
Mercedes-Benz AG, Mercedes-Benz Mobility AG,
Mercedes-Benz Bank AG and other subsidiaries can
agree to take a sabbatical ranging from three months to
one year. Employees who wish to obtain additional
qualifications — including pursuing a course of study at
a university — can also make arrangements to take a
three to five-year leave with a reinstatement guarantee.

Dialogue with employee representatives

The Mercedes-Benz Group acknowledges its employees’
right to form employee representative bodies and con-
duct collective bargaining in order to regulate working
conditions. It also recognizes their right to strike in
accordance with the applicable laws. Important part-
ners here include the local works councils, the General
Works Council, the Group Works Council, the European
Works Council and the World Employee Committee
(WEC). Collective bargaining agreements exist for the
majority of employees throughout the Group. Such
agreements apply to all employees who are subject to
collective bargaining agreements at Mercedes-Benz
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Group AG, Mercedes-Benz AG and other units at the
Group.

In Germany, the company and employee representative
bodies also maintain an ongoing and structured dia-
logue. The parties make every effort to take into
account both the economic interests of the Group and
the interests of its employees. The results of the ongo-
ing dialogues, and thus the rights of employees as well,
are defined, among other things, in a number of plant
and company-wide agreements. In the reporting year,
company and employee representative bodies reached
various agreements and arrangements. These include
the policy on remote work abroad for personal reasons
and the general works agreement on the Germany-wide
job ticket for public transportation. The parties also
concluded a Group-works agreement on employee par-
ticipation in digitalization. In particular, this includes a
business e-mail address for all employees in the pro-
duction environment of the Mercedes-Benz Group in
Germany.

The interests of trainees and young employees at the
various German sites are looked after specifically by the
local youth and trainee representatives, who in turn
organize themselves across all sites as part of a General
Youth and Trainee Representation (GJAV).

Training and further qualification

The Mercedes-Benz Group employs a sustainable per-
sonnel development and planning approach, because in
times of mobility transition and digitalization it needs
highly qualified employees with the right skills, be it for
electric mobility or for various key digital topics. It
therefore continuously invests in training and profes-
sional development programmes for its employees and
continues to adjust its qualification and HR develop-
ment programmes. The range of training professions
offered by the Mercedes-Benz Group and the courses
of study offered in dual work-study programmes in Ger-
many are also changing as a result, as are the qualifica-
tion and personnel development programmes.

Organization and agreements

Various company and collective-bargaining regulations
form the basis of the Germany-wide training and quali-
fication processes at Mercedes-Benz Group.

Personal and company-related qualification at
Mercedes-Benz Group AG, Mercedes-Benz AG and its
subsidiaries in Germany is regulated, among other
things, by the Voluntary General Works Agreement on
the Qualification of Employees and the General Works
Agreement on the Use of External eLearning Platforms
for Qualification Measures as well as comparable com-
pany and collectively agreed policies. They serve to
standardize the qualification process, structure it more
efficiently and integrate external training elements into
the learning portfolio.
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Trainees and students

In Germany, the Mercedes-Benz Group offers profes-
sional training and a dual work-study programme for
internationally recognized bachelor courses of study at
various company sites. The courses are supplemented
by practical assignments, both in Germany and abroad.

The Mercedes-Benz Group has established a Mercedes-
Benz Training System for Germany that standardizes
company-related training content across all sites and
divisions. The goal here is to create high-quality and
efficient training programmes that are attractive to train-
ees and participants of dual work-study programmes.

The Mercedes-Benz Group provides future-oriented
training as needed and continuously reviews its portfo-
lio of training professions and courses of study in Ger-
many. In this review process it not only reacts to cur-
rent developments but also anticipates future
requirements and technological innovations. Since 2021,
Mercedes-Benz AG has been increasing the number of
IT trainees, and in autumn of 2022 it also integrated the
additional qualification Artificial Intelligence from the
Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Since the report-
ing year, internally designed qualification modules such
as Data-based action, Programming and Cyber security
have also been taught as part of technical vocational
training. The new dual study programme “Sustainable
Management” will start in 2024.
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Qualification and learning programmes
for employees

In 2022, the Group launched the Turn2Learn initiative
worldwide for the qualification of employees. It com-
bines a wide range of learning opportunities via external
learning platforms with customized training and strate-
gic learning paths. This allows employees to combine
different options to suit their needs — digitally and in
person.

The Group’s own specialized TechAcademies, also
organized under the umbrella of Turn2Learn, provide
targeted and needs-oriented training for employees in
research and development and in production-related
areas. For example, the TechAcademy Production and
Supply Chain Management at Mercedes-Benz AG analy-
ses current and future personnel requirements for pro-
duction areas and cross divisional functions — for
example, in quality assurance. The TechAcademy uses
the analyses to develop future-oriented qualification as
well as retraining measures in line with the needs of
specific target groups.

A Tech Academy that offers needs-based future-ori-
ented training components has also been established
for employees in the development units at the
Mercedes-Benz AG in Germany. These training compo-
nents are specifically tailored to the requirements of
the development units.

In order to actively promote the digital transformation
in production, the D.SHIFT part-time qualification pro-
gramme was launched in 2021. D.SHIFT is a retraining
programme specifically for production employees at
German sites that focuses on acquiring digital skills and
ultimately involves employees switching to a future-ori-
ented job profile. The programme was continued in
November 2023 and the number of available slots was
expanded.

Within the sales organization of Mercedes-Benz

Group AG, the Mercedes-Benz Global Training business
unit serves as the central pillar for the development and
qualification of employees of the German and interna-
tional sales organization. The focus is on the training
and certification of sales and service personnel as well
as dealer management. In addition, comprehensive fur-
ther training and various product training courses are
offered. The unit also focuses on training content on
electrics/electronics (E/E) and high-voltage, especially
for employees in the repair and service sector.

In 2023, the emphasis continued to be on qualifications
that are crucial for the successful implementation of
the Group’s sustainable business strategy and digitali-
zation.
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Diversity and inclusion

The Mercedes-Benz Group is committed to tolerance,
openness and fairness, and promotes diversity and
inclusion. With appropriate measures and activities,
it wants to foster a working environment in which
employees, regardless of their age, ethnic origins and
nationality, gender and gender identity, physical or
intellectual capacity, religion and worldview, sexual
orientation and social origins, can freely develop their
talents.

This approach is embedded in the Mercedes-Benz
Group’s Integrity Code and in the Principles of Social
Responsibility and Human Rights, among other things.

Strategic areas of action

Diversity and inclusion are part of the sustainable busi-
ness strategy of the Mercedes-Benz Group. The strate-
gic areas of action for promoting diversity and inclusion
involve the advancement of women, internationality
and inclusion.

- The advancement of women: the Mercedes-Benz
Group would like to fill more senior management
positions (Level 3 and up) with women. The target
here is to increase the share of women in such posi-
tions to 30% by 2030.
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As early as 2006, the Mercedes-Benz Group set itself
the target of continuously and sustainably increasing
the proportion of women in executive positions. As of
31 December 2023, women occupied 25.7%! of the
senior management positions at the Mercedes-Benz
Group worldwide. The Mercedes-Benz Group uses rel-
evant data from its human resources reporting sys-
tems to review the progress made in increasing the
proportion of women in top management positions.
The results are reported to the Board of Management
of the Mercedes-Benz Group AG in a standardized
form on a regular basis.

- Internationality: the Mercedes-Benz Group also
seeks to promote internationality, a global way of
thinking and the cultural diversity of its workforce in
order to continue its success as a global company.
Among other things, the Mercedes-Benz Group does
this by encouraging its employees to take on interna-
tional assignments.

- Inclusion: the Mercedes-Benz Group welcomes and
values the uniqueness of each team member and pro-
motes equal opportunities and an inclusive working
environment.

Management of diversity and inclusion at the Group
The Mercedes-Benz Group expects its employees to
treat one another in a respectful, open and fair manner.

Managers serve as role models here and thus have a

1 Headcounts, fully consolidated companies

special responsibility for ensuring a corporate culture
marked by appreciation. The Mercedes-Benz Group pre-
sented its understanding of diversity and inclusion in its
“Unigueness makes us strong” mission statement, which
was signed by all members of the Board of Manage-
ment.

The framework and processes here are designed by the
Group-wide Integrity function and the Diversity & Inclu-
sion Management function. The latter is part of Human
Relations. It defined the three strategic areas of action
in cooperation with the members of the Board of Man-
agement of Mercedes-Benz Group AG and initiates
overarching projects, training programmes and aware-
ness-raising measures.

The diversity and inclusion management system is
grounded in the principle of inclusion for all employees.
The idea here is to always attract highly qualified spe-
cialists and managers to the Group and support their
professional development.

Mercedes-Benz Group employees who have been vic-
tims of discrimination, bullying or sexual harassment, or
who observe improper behaviour by colleagues, can
report such violations of policy to their supervisors, the
HR department, the counselling service, their plant
medical services organization, the Works Council or the
Management Representatives Committee. Additional
points of contact include the Group’s Business & People
Protection Office (BPO) whistleblower system and the
Infopoint Integrity.
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In addition to these internal contact points, there has
been an external online information and advice plat-
form for Mercedes-Benz Group employees in Germany
since 2022. It provides information on the topics of
sexual harassment, discrimination and bullying and
includes the option of anonymous counselling.

Awareness-raising and qualification measures
for employees

The Mercedes-Benz Group utilizes various measures to
make employees around the world more aware of issues
relating to diversity and inclusion. These include, among
other things, qualification programmes, information
events and special mentorship programmes for women.
At the Mercedes-Benz Group’s annual Diversity Day,
employees can consciously experience diversity, take in
new perspectives and understand how all employees
can profit from diversity and equal opportunity.

For Diversity Day 2023, employees were able to
go through four diversity online training courses in
the Global Diversity Community on the employee
portal, which offer specific content for employees
and managers.
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Occupational health and safety

The Group utilises a holistic occupational health and
safety management system. It aims to prevent work
accidents, work-related illnesses and occupational dis-
eases to the greatest extent possible and also counter-
act health risks. The Group also wants to maintain the
health and performance of its employees in the long
term and promote their well-being. The focus here is
mainly on preventative measures that the Group contin-
uously reviews and develops further.

Requirements, policies, organization and
responsibilities

The Mercedes-Benz Group’s occupational safety strat-
egy includes standards for the design of workplaces
and work processes in order to systematically reduce
occupational and health-related risks. There are inter-
national Group policies on occupational health and
safety as well as uniform principles that must be
adhered to. The internal guidelines are based on inter-
national standards and require compliance with
national laws. They emphasize the responsibility of
managers and the personal responsibility of employees.

The international Group Occupational Health and Safety
Policy specifies binding tasks, duties, necessary bodies
and communication requirements for all controlled and
consolidated companies. This policy is based on the
ISO 45001 standard. The policy is valid for all employ-
ees as well as temporary workers whose work and/or
workplace is controlled by the organization.

Occupational health and safety issues throughout the
Group are managed by the Health & Safety unit, which
is part of Human Relations. The topics are regularly dis-
cussed and decided on in various committees.

Risk management

Risk management follows the Group policy on occupa-
tional health and safety and defines instruments and
risk assessment processes that are to be implemented
locally. The Mercedes-Benz Group’s Health & Safety unit
takes a preventative approach so that employees do
not have accidents or suffer from impaired health. In
order to identify significant risks at an early stage, an
evaluation (safety due diligence) is carried out every
five years at all consolidated and controlled production
sites with more than 500 employees. Risk assessment
is an important tool for evaluating potential risks and
defining measures. At the Mercedes-Benz Group, this is
done with the help of standardized and globally availa-
ble software, for example. The Mercedes-Benz Group
also assesses the mental and ergonomic stress caused
by workplaces and the working environment.

Company health management and mental health

The Mercedes-Benz Group offers its employees in Ger-
many occupational health advice and screening as well
as measures and services from the company’s own
health programme and social counselling service. The
company health management system in Germany aims
to promote the mental and physical health and well-be-
ing of the employees. Internationally, the
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Mercedes-Benz Group focuses on medical care, preven-
tion strategies and the ergonomic design of workplaces.

Management of occupational safety

At various sites, the Mercedes-Benz Group has its man-
agement systems for occupational health and safety
(OHS) voluntarily certified in accordance with the ISO
45001 standard. In 2023, the Jawor site (Poland)
received voluntary certification of its management sys-
tem in accordance with ISO 45001 for the first time.
Every five years, officers from Corporate Safety use the
previously mentioned safety due diligence process to
check the safety standards at the Group-owned pro-
duction sites to ensure they comply with those of the
binding Group policy concerning occupational health
and safety and determine whether a functioning occu-
pational health and safety management system is in
place. The international Mercedes-Benz CKD sites in
India, Vietnam, Thailand and Malaysia as well as the
AMG production plants in the UK and Germany were
evaluated as planned in 2023. The results were com-
municated to and followed up in the relevant commit-
tees.

The Group also raises its employees’ awareness of ergo-
nomics and occupational safety. In order to create a
sustainable “safety-first culture” and permanently
reduce the number of accidents at work, the Mercedes-
Benz Group launched the “We work SAFE!” initiative in
2022 and continued it in the reporting year.
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In 2023, the Group provided its employees with inten-
sive training on six principles of safe working practices
and on how to deal with significant hazards. The focus
was initially on sites in Germany. As part of the initiative,
the Mercedes-Benz Group also assesses risks in coop-
eration with external companies. To further increase
safety in this context, it has stepped up checks on con-
struction sites and introduced a conseguences man-
agement system for any incorrect behaviour detected.

A reporting procedure helps the Mercedes-Benz Group
achieve its occupational health and safety targets.
Since 2023, a uniform accident documentation system
has been available to the Group worldwide, from which
standardized key figures can be derived in compliance
with applicable data protection regulations.

Every accident is analysed in order to determine the
sequence of events and initiate preventative measures.
Data on accidents from which other sites can learn and
derive measures is sent to all occupational safety
experts at all sites worldwide. The Mercedes-Benz
Group uses the information provided by the system

to produce monthly reports on Group-wide accident
statistics.

During the reporting year, the Mercedes-Benz Group’s
production sites had an accident frequency of 3.8%2.

—-

Mercedes-Benz Group, consolidated and controlled production sites including
selected high-risk development areas and the Global Logistics Center (Scope
corresponds to that of previous years): number of occupational accidents registered
in the system with at least one day of absence per 1 million hours of attendance.

The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate
assurance engagement of the sustainability report.

N
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Social issues

Traffic safety

Target Target horizon
Further improve accident-prevention systems Ongoing
Make vehicles even safer for occupants during an acci-

dent and afterwards Ongoing
Make vehicles even safer for other road users, such as

pedestrians Ongoing
Increase overall safety in road traffic by means of safety

initiatives Ongoing
Expand the automation of driving functions for SAE Lev-

els 2-4 Ongoing
Continue the integration of social and ethical aspects

into SAE Level 2-4 automated driving systems Ongoing

Safety is part of the brand essence of Mercedes-Benz.
Accident-free driving — this vision drives the Mercedes-
Benz Group and is a fixed component of its sustainable
business strategy. The Group’s driver assistance sys-
tems are intended to offer drivers and other occupants
a high level of safety. These systems can help drivers
avoid or safely manage critical situations on the road in
order to protect both vehicle occupants and other road
users.

Holistic safety concept

Real-life safety is the safety philosophy at the
Mercedes-Benz Group. For decades, the Mercedes-Benz
Group’s own systematic accident research, which is
integrated into vehicle development, has formed the
basis for new safety systems. This research also analy-
ses real accidents and uses the knowledge gained from
such analyses to assess new technologies from a vehi-
cle safety perspective.

The Mercedes-Benz Group utilizes its holistic Integral
Safety concept in its vehicle development activities.
This concept describes how Mercedes-Benz divides the
utilization of safety systems into four phases: assis-
tance during driving, preparation for a possible acci-
dent, protection during an accident and help after an
accident. The Group’s safety measures establish a
bridge between active and passive safety within these
four phases — i.e. between accident prevention (phases
1 and 2) and protection when an accident occurs
(phases 3 and 4). The objectives and decisions in the
area of road safety are assured by the Steering Commit-
tee Integral Safety (LK IS) and implemented in conjunc-
tion with the participants of the product projects. The
LK IS reports directly to the Research & Development
Executive Committee of Mercedes-Benz AG.
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Cooperation to further improve vehicle safety

The goal of increasing safety on the road can only be
achieved though collaboration, and that is why the
Mercedes-Benz Group establishes partnerships and
participates in research projects. The Mercedes-Benz
Group has been involved in the “Tech Center i-protect”
strategic cooperation project since 2016. The project
includes partners from business, government and sci-
entific institutes. Within this cooperation the Mercedes-
Benz Group is working on projects such as new restraint
systems for future vehicle interiors. It is also utilizing
digital accident research methods and trying out new
approaches, such as the use of accident simulations
involving digital models of human beings.

The Mercedes-Benz Group also uses educational pro-
grammes to raise public awareness of vehicle safety
and road safety.

Advantages and risks of the new systems

Fewer accidents, greater road safety: this is one of the
objectives associated with the utilization of automated
and autonomous vehicle systems. In pursuing these
goals, the Mercedes-Benz Group also considers ethical
and legal risks associated with automated systems.
Thus they are already taken into account in product
development. The company is implementing data pro-
tection principles and standards along the entire value
chain in accordance with the “privacy by design” maxim.
The Group is also integrating ethical considerations into
conditionally automated and highly automated driving
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systems through the use of its “ethics by design” princi-
ple and continuously further develops these systems.

The Group uses an integrated approach to answer the
technical, legal, ethical and certification and safety-rel-
evant questions relating to automated driving at
Mercedes-Benz Cars. This approach is part of the tech-
nical Compliance Management System. To this end, an
interdisciplinary committee structure has been set up
to deal with issues such as the responsible use of data
and taking into account the needs of all road users who
encounter automated vehicles on the road. The objec-
tive of this approach is to increase both the safety and
the acceptance of the Group’s products.

Assistance and safety systems

Innovations in assistance and safety systems are evalu-
ated on the basis of the contribution they make to road
safety, both at the vehicle level and for road safety in
general. The Mercedes-Benz Group's specialists are
continuously working on increasing road safety and
equipping vehicles — across several SAE levels right up
to automated driving — with ever more powerful

—

Further information: ITHS test results:
C-Class @ https:/
GLC-Class @ http
GLE-Class @ http
suv/2024

Further information: Euro NCAP test results:

EQE SUvV @ https://www.euroncap.com/en/results/mercedes-benz/ege+suv/50192,
Special assessment for assistance systems @ https://www.euroncap.com/en/ratings-re
wards/assisted-driving-gradings

Availability and use of the DRIVE PILOT functions on motorways depend on equipment,
countries and applicable laws.

ihs.org/ratings/vehicle/mercedes-benz/c-class-4-door-sedan/2023,
hs.org/ratings/vehicle/mercedes-benz/glc-4-door-suv/2023,

hs.org/ratings/vehicle/mercedes-benz/gle-class-4-door

N

w

assistance systems that can help to prevent accidents
or reduce their severity. For example, Mercedes-Benz

vehicles equipped with driving assistance systems can
support drivers when they steer, brake and accelerate
(SAE Level 2).

Driving assistance systems can react differently to the
danger of a collision, depending on the situation. The
Active Brake Assist system, which comes as standard
equipment in Mercedes-Benz cars, is a good example of
this. Active Brake Assist can help reduce the severity
of — or entirely prevent — accidents involving vehicles
ahead or pedestrians crossing the carriageway. Speed
Limit Assist, for example, notifies the driver of the cur-
rent speed limit. It has been standard equipment in the
Mercedes-Benz A-Class since 2018. Since then, it has
also been integrated into further models and its fea-
tures have been expanded.

Ratings and awards

Models from Mercedes-Benz Cars repeatedly earn top
marks in safety tests conducted by independent insti-
tutes, such as the holistic testing program NCAP and
the holistic ratings of the U.S. Insurance Institute for
Highway Safety (IIHS)!. The latter assesses not only
crash safety but also accident-prevention and lighting
systems.

The Mercedes-Benz C-Class, GLC-Class and GLE-Class
received the ITHS 2023 TOP SAFETY PICK+ award for
the 2023 model year.
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In addition, the Mercedes EQE received top Euro NCAP?
ratings twice: the maximum rating of five stars in the
Euro NCAP safety ratings and the overall rating of “very
good” for the optional driving assistance package in the
special rating for assistance systems. The E-Class also
received an overall rating of “very good” in the special
assessment for assistance systems.

Assistance and automation functions

The DRIVE PILOT® has been available to order in Ger-
many since May 2022. Under certain conditions, the
system enables conditional driving automation on
motorways (SAE Level 3).

Mercedes-Benz AG plans to deliver the first vehicles
with DRIVE PILOT at the beginning of 2024. The special
2024 model year EQS sedans and S-Classes will be
available through participating authorized Mercedes-
Benz dealerships in California and Nevada. DRIVE PILOT
takes over the driving task in heavy traffic or in traffic
jam situations on suitable motorway sections at speeds
of up to 40 mph (up to 60 km/h in Germany).


https://www.euroncap.com/en/ratings-rewards/assisted-driving-gradings
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Responsible and transparent
representation of interests

Target Target horizon

Responsible political advocacy regarding the key issues

for achieving sustainable business goals Ongoing

There are many challenges associated with the sustain-
able development of the transport sector as well as
climate change mitigation and the conservation of
resources. To overcome these challenges, the
Mercedes-Benz Group attaches great importance to a
partnership-based dialogue between politics, business
and society. This is exactly what the External Affairs unit
at the Mercedes-Benz Group seeks to accomplish.

As an actor in the transport sector, the Mercedes-Benz
Group supports the Paris Climate Agreement and is
convinced of its goals. That’s why the sustainable
business strategy of the Mercedes-Benz Group also
defines the representation of the Group’s interests in
the political arena.

The legally required registration in the German Lobby
Register, as well as the Group’s own lobbying principles,
commit Mercedes-Benz Group AG to comply with the
Code of Conduct for Interest Representatives under the
Lobby Register Act. Mercedes-Benz Group AG is also
entered in the transparency register of the Baden-Wiirt-
temberg state parliament. Entries in other transparency
registers at the level of German states are currently

being considered and may be made in the near future.
By accrediting its political representatives in the Euro-
pean Parliament’s Transparency Register, Mercedes-
Benz Group AG fulfils the transparency requirements
at the EU level.

The Group also uses its own Mercedes-Benz Group
Climate Policy Report to inform about its political
positions. In addition, the Mercedes-Benz Group pub-
lishes further information regarding its stance on rele-
vant and strategic issues as well as issues affecting
its stakeholders on the corporate website (@ group.
mercedes-benz.com/responsibility/advocacy).

The Mercedes-Benz Group bases its political advocacy
on principles of transparency and responsibility and is
guided by the Integrity Code, which is valid throughout
the Group (further information on this can be found on
the Group website @ group.mercedes-benz.com/inves-
tors/share/esg).

Governance

The External Affairs (EA) unit is the central coordinating
body for political dialogue at the national and interna-
tional levels as well as for other politically relevant
interest groups along the value chain. It is located in
Stuttgart (Germany) and falls under the responsibility
of the Chairman of the Board of Management. The EA
unit shapes the Mercedes-Benz Group’s relations via a
global network with offices in Berlin (Germany), Brus-
sels (Belgium), Beijing (China) and Washington (USA), as

well as corporate representations in respective markets.
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The Head of External Affairs is a permanent member of
the Group Sustainability Committee (GSC) and supports
the committee’s work on political issues. In addition,
External Affairs cooperates closely with the members of
the Board of Management and the specialist depart-
ments on questions related to the representation of our
interests in the political arena. To this end, the unit
organizes the meetings of the Governmental Affairs
Committee for various Board of Management divisions
and specialist departments.

The Mercedes-Benz Group uses Group-wide established
compliance processes to address risks in connection
with the political representation of its interests. The
Business & People Protection Office (BPO) whistle-
blower system accepts complaints and reports relating
to compliance issues.

The Mercedes-Benz Group conducts mandatory training
courses on a regular basis to ensure that employees
comply with statutory requirements and internal guide-
lines and policies. The executive division Integrity,
Governance & Sustainability is responsible for the con-
tent of the training courses. EA supports the courses
when needed by contributing its political expertise.

At the beginning of their employment, employees out-
side External Affairs whose positions also require them
to represent the Mercedes-Benz Group in the political
environment of their market (e.g. plant management
positions) generally participate in a special onboarding
process that prepares them for their tasks and makes
them aware of relevant policies.


https://group.mercedes-benz.com/responsibility/advocacy/
https://group.mercedes-benz.com/investors/share/esg/
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Donations to political parties and other political
organizations

The Mercedes-Benz Group’s Lobbying, Political Contri-
butions and Party Donations policy defines responsible
approaches to be used in connection with grants, dona-
tions to political parties, and other instruments for rep-
resenting the company’s interests in the political realm.
The company also has a Donations and Sponsorships
Policy in place.

Mercedes-Benz Group AG did not make any financial or
non-financial donations to political parties during the
reporting period. This decision was not based on cur-
rent political or economic events.

Stakeholder dialogue

Together with stakeholders, the Mercedes-Benz Group
supports the opinion-forming process at both the
national and international level in order to promote the
sustainable business goals and the transformation of
the automotive industry. The Group also addresses rel-
evant future-oriented questions that go beyond the
issues that are important to the automotive industry
and incorporates the results into its strategy.

In order to ensure political discussions with a broad
range of interest groups, representatives from the
Mercedes-Benz Group take part in key events at the
regional, national and international level. Here are a few
examples:

- As part of External Affairs’ Regional Political Dialogue
discussion series in Stuttgart (Germany), Mercedes-
Benz Group Board of Management members came
together with representatives of state and local gov-
ernments to discuss the steps needed to transform
the automotive industry.

- At the seventh annual event of the Strategiedialog
Automobilwirtschaft Baden-Wdirttemberg in Berlin
(Germany), politicians and the leaders of Baden-Wdirt-
temberg’s automotive sector discussed the necessary
framework conditions for a successful transformation
of the automotive industry to future-oriented mobility
solutions.

- Inthe reporting year, representatives of the Group
took part in the Urban Future Global Conference in
Stuttgart (Germany). The Conference’s agenda
included, among other topics, resource-conserving
consumption, heat-resilient urban districts, cli-
mate-neutral energy supply and social participation.

- The Mercedes-Benz Group took part in the European
Round Table of Industry (ERT) in the reporting year.
The aim of the forum is to develop long-term busi-
ness-friendly strategies in cooperation with the Euro-
pean Commission.

- The China Development Forum (CDF) is an annual
international forum organized by the State Council of
China. At the CDF, the CEO of the Mercedes-Benz
Group emphasized the importance of further imple-
menting China’s open-door policy and of maintaining
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a balanced data regulation in order to ensure eco-
nomic growth and technological innovation.

During the Sustainability Dialogue in Stuttgart (Ger-
many) in 2023, representatives from the Advisory Board
for Integrity and Sustainability and representatives from
government, business and NGOs took part in a work-
shop where they drew up criteria for the development
of partnerships. Partnerships that have a more global
degree of application may be more effective.

The Mercedes-Benz Group engages in a targeted dia-
logue with local stakeholders from government and
society when planning new projects or when the need
arises to address issues relating to its sites. Board
members are also involved in the local dialogue. The
aim here is to reconcile the interests of the sites in
question with the wishes and concerns of local resi-
dents and establish conditions that benefit all of the
parties involved.

The External Affairs unit is responsible for direct discus-
sions with people from the political arena and members
of interest groups and associations that are committed
to sustainable development. Together with the ESG
Stakeholder Management unit, External Affairs is also
involved in various sustainability initiatives and net-
works. Some of the most important initiatives here are
the UN Global Compact (UNGC), econsense - German
Business Forum for Sustainable Development, and the
World Business Council for Sustainable Development.
Among the associations, the memberships in the Euro-
pean Automobile Manufacturers' Association (ACEA),
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the Alliance for Automotive Innovation and the German
Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA) are par-
ticularly notable.

Further information on the work in associations can be
found in the Mercedes-Benz Group Climate Policy Report.
(@ sroup.mercedes-benz.com/investors/share/esg)
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Integrity and compliance

Target Target horizon

With its integrity activities, the Mercedes-Benz Group

pursues the following central goals:

- Minimizing risks through knowledge of and compliance
with the Integrity Code

- Promoting ethical conduct — within the mandatory
rules and frameworks and beyond

- Employees and managers behave and act in an ethical
and responsible manner

- Defining integrity-related priorities and challenges and
provide employees with guidance

- Enhancing the culture of integrity in a targeted manner

through feedback from integrity measurements Ongoing

With its compliance activities, the Mercedes-Benz Group

particularly pursues the following central goals:

- Respect and uphold human rights

- Comply with anti-corruption regulations

- Preserve and promote fair competition

- Ensure compliance with product requirements

- Complying with data protection laws and strengthen-
ing customer trust by handling data responsibly

- Comply with all applicable embargoes and sanctions

- Prevent money laundering and terrorist financing Ongoing

The Mercedes-Benz Group is convinced that only those
whose actions are ethical and legally responsible
remain successful in the long term. This is especially
the case during times of upheaval and transformation.
Hence, integrity and compliance are very important to
the Mercedes-Benz Group.

A corporate culture of integrity

Putting integrity into practice contributes to the suc-
cess of the Mercedes-Benz Group. That's why integrity
is a central element of the Mercedes-Benz Group’s cor-
porate culture and an enabler that is an integral part of
the company’s sustainable business strategy. For the
Group, this involves more than just obeying laws and
regulations. The Mercedes-Benz Group also aligns all its
actions with its corporate principles, which in particular
include fairness, diversity, responsibility, respect, open-
ness and transparency.

Organization and areas of responsibility

At the Mercedes-Benz Group, integrity, compliance and
legal affairs are combined into the executive division
Integrity, Governance & Sustainability. It supports all
corporate units in their efforts to embed these topics in
daily business activities.

“Integrity Management & Corporate Responsibility” is
part of this Board of Management division. Among other
things, it works to promote and enhance integrity within
the Mercedes-Benz Group and create a shared under-
standing of integrity. The aim is to assist the business
units in embedding integrity into their day-to-day work
on their own responsibility. The goal is to avoid possible
risks that can arise due to unethical behaviour and thus
to contribute to the long-term success of the Mercedes-
Benz Group. The Head of Integrity Management & Cor-
porate Responsibility reports directly to the member of
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the Board of Management responsible for Integrity,
Governance & Sustainability.

Integrity Code and corporate principles

The Mercedes-Benz Group requires and empowers its
employees to consistently uphold its corporate princi-
ples. The Integrity Code, which is valid throughout the
Group, provides them with guidance because it serves
as the shared standard of values, defines the guidelines
for all conduct and helps the company make the right
decisions.

The Integrity Code is binding on all employees of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG and all the Group companies
worldwide. It includes, among other things, regulations
concerning corruption prevention measures, respect for
human rights, data management and compliance with
technical product requirements. The Integrity Code that
was revised in 2022 was communicated to employees
at the beginning of the reporting year; it is available on
the employee portal in eleven languages along with all
the key information on its application.

The Mercedes-Benz Group has also formulated a special
set of requirements for managers in the Integrity Code.

In particular, it expects managers to serve as role mod-

els through their ethical behaviour.
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Information, dialogue and training

The Mercedes-Benz Group established its Infopoint
Integrity in order to promote a culture of integrity at the
Company. The Infopoint works with experts for legal
and human resources topics, data protection, compli-
ance as well as diversity and sustainability, among
others, and serves as the central point of contact for
questions concerning ethical behaviour for all of the
Group’s employees. It either provides direct support or
connects employees with the appropriate contacts.

The Integrity Network, which is made up of representa-
tives from the business units, aims to embed integrity
in day-to-day business and make it tangible for employ-
ees. The semi-annual member reports also provide
insights into the integrity activities of the business
units. The Integrity Network implemented the package
of measures of the “Integrity Experience”. This was
based on individually combinable modules on various
integrity topics, which were provided by the Integrity
Management department. With the help of these meas-
ures, employees were able to consciously reflect on
their own actions in their day-to-day work.

In addition, the Annual Integrity Meeting was held in
May 2023 with members of the Board of Management,
members of the Integrity Network and an external
expert. Under the motto “Integrity meets... TRANSFOR-
MATION?”, the participants discussed how integrity can
be implemented in one’s day-to-day professional life in
times of change.

In addition, the employees in administrative areas at
Mercedes-Benz Group AG and in the consolidated
Group companies regularly have to complete a manda-
tory online training course about integrity that is based
on the Integrity Code. Because managers serve as role
models, they perform an especially important task with
regard to compliance, integrity, legal matters and sus-
tainability. In order to help them as much as possible to
carry out this role, the online training programme also
includes a special mandatory management module.

Employee survey

The Mercedes-Benz Group consistently works on its
understanding of integrity, continually refines it further
and repeatedly reviews itself. In addition to the feed-
back from the Integrity Network, the employee survey
is an important measure for these activities.

The results of the PULSE23 employee survey showed
that the perception of the culture of integrity among
employees has improved since the last employee sur-
vey. The basis for this is an environment of trust in
which managers are also open to criticism, and unethi-
cal behaviour and mistakes in the working environment
can be openly and constructively addressed. The
results are used in the follow-up process to derive
measures and thus further strengthen the culture of
integrity.
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The survey results have a direct influence on the remu-
neration of the management.

All managers and employees can access the Integrity
Toolkit via the employee portal. It includes tools for
possible follow-up activities based on the respective
results of the employee survey.

Plans call for the culture of integrity within the
Mercedes-Benz Group to be reassessed as part of the
next employee survey, among other things.

The Advisory Board as an important driving force

Another driving force for the Group’s sustainability work
is the Advisory Board for Integrity and Sustainability.
The board’s members are independent external special-
ists from the fields of science and business as well as
from civic organizations, and include experts who pos-
sess specialized knowledge regarding environmental
and social policy, the development of traffic and mobil-
ity, and human rights and ethical issues. The members
of the Advisory Board support the Mercedes-Benz
Group with constructive criticism on questions related
to integrity, sustainability and corporate responsibility.
The Advisory Board convenes several times a year in
meetings that are chaired by the member of the Board
of Management responsible for Integrity, Governance &
Sustainability. One of these annual meetings specifically
serves to exchange information with other members of
the Board of Management and members of the Supervi-
sory Board. During the Sustainability Dialogue in Stutt-
gart (Germany), the responsible managers from the
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various specialist units meet with the Advisory Board
members to discuss the areas of action and enablers
identified in the sustainable business strategy and also
to talk about targets, strategies, measures and the
results achieved with these. The Advisory Board also
holds regular meetings with managers and other
employees to discuss specific topics. In 2023, the Advi-
sory Board dealt with topics such as human rights, data
responsibility, the responsible use of artificial intelli-
gence and the further development of the sustainable
business strategy.

Value-based compliance
management

Value-based compliance is an indispensable part of the
Mercedes-Benz Group’s daily business activities and is
firmly embedded in its corporate culture. The Group is
strongly committed to responsible conduct. It expects
its employees to comply with laws, regulations and vol-
untary self-commitments, and helps them do so. The
Mercedes-Benz Group has laid down these expecta-
tions in a binding form in its Integrity Code. Through its
Compliance Management System (CMS), the Mercedes-
Benz Group aims to promote compliance with laws and
policies. The necessary measures are defined by the
compliance organization in a process that also takes
the company’s business requirements into account in
an appropriate manner. The CMS consists of basic prin-

ciples and measures that promote compliant behaviour.

It is applied worldwide. The CMS encompasses seven

elements that build on one another: Compliance Val-
ues; Compliance Targets; Compliance Organization;
Compliance Risks; Compliance Programme; Training;
and Monitoring and Improvement.

Each year, the Mercedes-Benz Group checks the pro-
cesses and measures of the CMS and conducts analy-
ses to find out whether the measures are appropriate
and effective. For these activities, it relies on informa-
tion from the Group companies as well as additional
locally gathered information. The Group also monitors
their processes on the basis of key performance indica-
tors. To determine these indicators, the Mercedes-Benz
Group checks, among other things, whether formal
requirements are being met and whether the content is
complete. It also takes into account the knowledge
gained through both internal and independent external
assessments.

Whenever new legal requirements or findings from risk
analyses call for adjustments, the Mercedes-Benz
Group adapts the CMS accordingly. The Group compa-
nies are required to implement the improvement meas-
ures derived from this process. In addition, the respon-
sible management committees are informed about the
results of their monitoring process.

Compliance organization

The compliance organization at the Mercedes-Benz
Group is structured functionally, regionally and along
the value chain. As a result, it can provide effective
support — for example, by means of guidelines and
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advice. Contact persons are available to each function
and region. In addition, a global network of local
officers makes sure that the Group’s compliance stand-
ards are met. The contact persons help the manage-
ment at the Group companies implement the compli-
ance programme at their respective sites.

The Compliance Board provides guidance regarding
overarching compliance topics and monitors whether
the associated Group measures are effective. The
Board’s mission is to react promptly to changes in busi-
ness models and the business environment, deal with
regulatory developments and continuously enhance the
CMS. The Compliance Board consists of representatives
of the compliance, integrity and legal affairs area. It
meets regularly and as needed, and is chaired by the
Chief Compliance Officer (CCO).

The CCO reports directly to the member of the Board of
Management responsible for Integrity, Governance &
Sustainability as well as to the Audit Committee of the
Supervisory Board. He or she also reports regularly to
the Board of Management at regular intervals and as
needed on matters such as the status of the CMS and
its further development, as well as the Business & Peo-
ple Protection Office (BPO) whistleblower system. The
CCO is also the Vice President Legal Product & Technol-
ogy and the Human Rights Officer.

In addition, the CCO reports to the Group Risk Manage-
ment Committee. From the Mercedes-Benz Group’s per-
spective, the structure of the reporting lines safeguards
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the independence of the compliance organization from
the business divisions’

Main objectives for compliance management

Combating corruption

The Mercedes-Benz Group has committed itself to fight-
ing corruption — because corruption undermines fair
competition and thereby harms all of society. The
Group’s corruption prevention measures extend beyond
compliance with national laws and also encompass the
guidelines from the OECD Convention on Combating
Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Busi-
ness Transactions (1997) and the United Nations Con-
vention against Corruption (2003).

The Corruption Prevention Compliance Programme at
the Mercedes-Benz Group is based on its CMS.

Promoting fair competition

The Group-wide Antitrust Compliance Programme is ori-
ented to national and international standards for ensur-
ing fair competition. The programme establishes a bind-
ing, globally valid Group standard that defines how
matters of antitrust law are to be assessed. In addition
to Mercedes-Benz Group AG’s central Legal and Com-
pliance department, the Group’s global divisions can
turn to local legal and compliance advisers. Employees
receive further support through advice hotlines, guide-
lines and practical support.

Ensuring compliance with product requirements

For the Mercedes-Benz Group, technical Compliance
means adhering to technical and regulatory require-
ments, laws and standards. The objective here is to
identify risks within the product creation process (prod-
uct development and certification) at an early stage and
to implement preventive measures. For this purpose,
the Group established a technical Compliance Manage-
ment System (tCMS) in its automotive divisions. Its
objective is to ensure that Mercedes-Benz Cars and
Mercedes-Benz Vans comply with all legal and regula-
tory requirements throughout the entire product devel-
opment and certification process. The tCMS defines
values, principles, structures and processes in order to
provide employees with guidance and orientation,
especially with regard to challenging questions on how
to interpret technical regulations.

The “Speak up” and “Judgement calls” commitment
statements provide all employees in the development
and certification units with a basis for a common
understanding of responsible behaviour in the product
creation process. They were drawn up jointly by Integ-
rity Management and R&D departments and are further
embedded by internal departmental measures.

Responsible handling of data

Ensuring the protection of personal data (data privacy)
and information security is a top priority at the
Mercedes-Benz Group. The Mercedes-Benz Group
regards the protection of personal data and the security
of IT systems as essential components of comprehen-
sive data governance. The key aims are the sustainable
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design of data-based business models and the respon-
sible, ethical and legally compliant use of data in the
interests of customers, employees and other stakehold-
ers. To achieve these strategic goals, the Mercedes-
Benz Group is pursuing a systematic approach. Key ele-
ments are the data governance structure, the data
vision, the data culture and the aforementioned Data
CMS.

The implementation of data governance in the divisions
of the Mercedes-Benz Group is the responsibility of
the various bodies for data and data analytics. Within
the Mercedes-Benz Group there is also a Digital Gov-
ernance Board that includes members of the Board of
Management. This body defines the framework for
Group-wide core topics of digital governance and thus
supports the digital transformation of the Group. The
Chief Officer Corporate Data Protection at the
Mercedes-Benz Group is responsible for the perfor-
mance of the tasks required by law to ensure compli-
ance with data protection rules.

The Mercedes-Benz Group’s commitment to the respon-
sible use of data is anchored in its data vision. In the
period from November 2022 to May 2023, the
Mercedes-Benz Group focused on revising this guide-
line, which is known as the Mercedes-Benz Data Vision,
and deriving and launching measures to increase cus-
tomer confidence. The key message of the guideline is:
“For the Mercedes-Benz Group, customer trust and the
responsible use of customer data are the basis for sus-
tainable digital products and services.”
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The Mercedes-Benz Group’s Data CMS supports the
Group in the systematic and risk-based implementation
of measures to ensure compliance with the data pro-
tection requirements. It takes into account the existing
applicable data-protection regulations.

The Mercedes-Benz Group wants to further strengthen

its customers’ trust in Mercedes-Benz’s data processing.

To this end, the Mercedes me Privacy Center is con-
stantly being enhanced, with the aim of making the pri-
vacy settings as clear and intuitive as possible. Custom-
ers use the Mercedes me Privacy Center to obtain an
overview of what personal data of theirs is processed
for which purpose. They should be able to easily decide
and set the purposes for which Mercedes-Benz and
certain third parties may use this data. The Privacy
Center already covers various such processing activi-
ties, and more are planned. The portal can be accessed
on the web and via the new version of the Mercedes me
App launched in the year under review.

The Mercedes-Benz Group is also working on the further
development and implementation of data sharing solu-
tions. In cooperation with partners such as cities,
municipalities and insurers, it tries to make data availa-
ble in a way that benefits the general public while pro-
tecting privacy — for example, by sharing vehicle data
with cities in order to increase road safety. In addition,
the Mercedes-Benz Group is continuously working on
technologies to promote privacy, and it made new
developments available internally in the reporting year.
The aim is to include privacy-enhancing technologies,

among others, in the product design process right from
the start.

Prevention of money laundering and terrorist
financing

Money laundering and the financing of terrorism cause
tremendous damage to the economy and society. Even
an accusation of money laundering can compromise a
company’s reputation and could have financial conse-
quences for the Mercedes-Benz Group, as well as for its
stakeholders.

For this reason, the Mercedes-Benz Group established a
two-pillar model (trade in goods and mobility services)
which takes into account the different regulatory
requirements in the area of goods trading on the one
hand and the area of financial services on the other.
Moreover, the Mercedes-Benz Group defines prevention
and combating of money laundering and the financing
of terrorism as central compliance goals in the Group’s
Integrity Code.

The integrated compliance approach also checks appli-
cable sanction lists and restrictions on certain goods
and implements measures for the prevention of money
laundering and the financing of terrorism. On the one
hand, these measures aim to prevent supranational and
national sanctions and goods-related embargoes from
being violated or evaded. On the other, it seeks to com-
bat third-party activities that are suspected of involving
money laundering, the financing of terrorism, organized
crime and other types of corporate crime.
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Compliance risks

The Mercedes-Benz Group evaluates its companies and
corporate departments systematically each yearin
order to reduce compliance risks. In this process, the
Mercedes-Benz Group uses, for example, centrally
available information about its companies, such as rev-
enue, business models and relations with business
partners. If necessary, other locally sourced information
is supplemented. The results of the compliance risk
analysis form the basis of compliance risk management
and are therefore also the basis for defining measures.

Compliance programme

The compliance programme comprises principles and
measures that are designed to reduce compliance risks
and counteract violations of laws and regulations. The
individual measures are based on the knowledge
gained through the Group’s systematic compliance risk
analysis. The Mercedes-Benz Group focuses, among
other things, on the following aspects: the continuous
raising of awareness of compliance issues, preventative
training measures, the systematic tracking of informa-
tion received regarding misconduct, and the formula-
tion of clear standards for the behaviour of business
partners.

In order to ensure an independent external assessment
of the Compliance Programme, Mercedes-Benz

Group AG commissioned KPMG AG Wirtschaftspri-
fungsgesellschaft to audit the Group’s CMS for Corrup-
tion Prevention, Antitrust and technical Compliance in
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accordance with Standard 980 of the Institute of Public
Auditors in Germany. These audits, which were based
on the principles of appropriateness, implementation
and effectiveness, were successfully completed for our
CMS Corruption Prevention in late 2019, for our tCMS
(focus on emissions) in late 2020 and for our CMS Anti-
trust in late 2021. The latter was the second such audit,
the first having been conducted in 2016.

The whistleblower system BPO

The Business & People Protection Office (BPO) whistle-
blower system enables all employees worldwide, as
well as external informants, to report violations of the
rules. The BPO is available around the clock to receive
information, which can be sent by e-mail or normal mail
or by filling out a special online form. External toll-free
hotlines are also available in Brazil, Japan, South Africa
and the United States. Reports can also be submitted
anonymously if local laws permit this. In Germany,
whistleblowers have access to additional contact points
such as an external neutral intermediary and other
external reporting channels (e.g. the federal govern-
ment’s external reporting office at the Federal Office of
Justice, the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority’s
(BaFin’s) whistleblower office, and the whistleblower
system of the Bundeskartellamt (federal competition
authority).

The information provided to the BPO whistleblower sys-
tem enables the Mercedes-Benz Group to learn about
potential risks and thus to prevent damage to the Group
and its employees or to third parties, as well as to pro-
tect individuals who might be harmed by misconduct. A
globally valid Group policy defines BPO procedures and
the corresponding responsibilities. It aims to ensure a
fair and transparent procedure that takes into account
both the protection of the whistleblower and the princi-
ple of proportionality for the persons affected by the
allegation. The policy also defines the standard by
which the Mercedes-Benz Group assesses breaches of
the rules and decides on the consequences.

If, following a risk-based initial assessment, the BPO
classifies an incident as a breach of regulations with a
high risk for the Mercedes-Benz Group, its employees or
other persons, it refers the case to an investigation unit.
The BPO accompanies the subsequent investigation
until the case is closed. Examples of high-risk rule vio-
lations include offences related to corruption, breaches
of antitrust law and violations of anti-money laundering
regulations, as well as infringements of binding techni-
cal provisions or environmental protection regulations.
Personal matters, such as incidents of sexual harass-
ment or human rights violations, are also considered
high-risk rule violations.

The BPO refers information on all other breaches involv-
ing risk to the responsible department — such as HR,
Corporate Security or Data Privacy. The relevant depart-
ments follow up the information and clarify the cases
on their own responsibility. Examples include theft,
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breach of trust, and undue enrichment valued at less
than €100,000 — if the violation does not fall into the
category of corruption.

In an effort to constantly increase trust in the BPO
whistleblower system and make it even better known to
employees, the Mercedes-Benz Group uses various
communication measures to provide extensive informa-
tion materials in a variety of languages. In addition, the
company regularly informs employees about the type
and number of reported violations and makes case
studies available in an anonymous form on a quarterly
basis.

Reported violations

In the reporting year, 55 new cases were opened with
75 persons affected by the allegation (previous year:

58 cases/72 persons). In total, 54 persons were proven
to have committed violations with a high risk for the
company, its employees or other persons. Of these, six
violations belonged in the category of passive corrup-
tion. Six violations fell into the category of undue
enrichment or theft in excess of €100,000, seven into
the category of damage over €100,000. 12 violations fell
into the category of reputational damage. In 15 cases of
violations, accusations of inappropriate behaviour of
employees toward other employees were confirmed —
e.g. violation of psychological/physical integrity, sexual
harassment or racism. Eight confirmed violations with
high risk referred to other categories.
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With regard to the confirmed violations, the Mercedes-
Benz Group decides on appropriate response measures
in line with the principles of proportionality and fair-
ness. The personnel measures in 2023 included
admonishments, warnings and terminations without
notice.

Sales partners and suppliers

The Mercedes-Benz Group expects not only its employ-
ees to comply with laws and regulations. The Group
also places clear compliance requirements on its sales
partners and suppliers, because it regards integrity and
conformity with regulations as a precondition for trust-
based cooperation. The Mercedes-Benz Group formu-
lates in detail what it expects from its business partners
in the Business Partner Standards (BPS) and specifically
for its suppliers in the Responsible Sourcing Standards
(RSS); both documents are publicly available on the
Group website.

In the selection of direct sales partners and in existing
sales partnerships, the Mercedes-Benz Group ensures
that its business partners comply with laws and
observe ethical principles. For this purpose, we use a
globally standardized, risk-based Sales Business Partner
Due Diligence Process. All new sales partners are sub-
jected to a due diligence process. A partnership is only
possible if this process is successfully completed. The
risk-based review takes into account, among other
things, the planned business model, the country risk
and the involvement of third parties and government
contacts. The concrete risks are determined using

additional specific questionnaires. During the ongoing
cooperation with the sales partners, the existing due
diligence processes are reviewed on an ad hoc or cycli-
cal basis depending on the risks identified. Another
component of the due diligence process is permanent
monitoring, in which the Group continuously checks
existing sales partners in relevant databases and valid
sanctions lists in order to identify potential breaches of
integrity. If a partner fails to comply with the Group
standards or if there are breaches of integrity that can-
not be resolved, the Mercedes-Benz Group reserves the
right to terminate the selection process or the coopera-
tion. In conjunction with the procurement departments,
the Group is constantly enhancing the existing pro-
cesses for the selection of and cooperation with its
suppliers.

On the basis of the BPS and RSS standards and the
Integrity Code, the Mercedes-Benz Group makes web-
based Compliance Awareness Modules (CAMs) avail-
able to both for sales business partners and suppliers.
These modules are intended to sensitize them to rele-
vant integrity and compliance requirements such as
those related to anti-corruption measures and technical
Compliance. Through these measures, the Mercedes-
Benz Group also offers its sales business partners and
suppliers extensive assistance for dealing with possible
relevant compliance risks.
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Communication and training

The Mercedes-Benz Group offers an extensive range of
compliance training courses that are based on its Integ-
rity Code — for example, courses for employees in
administrative areas and for members of the Supervi-
sory Board and the executive management of Group
companies.

The contents and topics of the training courses are tai-
lored to the roles and functions of the respective target
group. The Mercedes-Benz Group regularly analyses the
need for its training programme, expands or adapts it as
necessary and conducts evaluations.
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Social compliance

Target Target horizon

Define and implement protective measures for 100% of
the Mercedes-Benz Group’s production raw materials

which pose an increased risk of human rights violations 2028
Milestone: Assessment of 70% of all production raw

materials used by the Mercedes-Benz Group with an

increased risk of human rights violations and definition

of necessary improvement measures 2025

Milestone: Assessment of 50% of all production raw
materials used by the Mercedes-Benz Group with an
increased risk of human rights violations and definition

of necessary improvement measures Target achieved

Review of 100% of product groups sourced from service
supply chains posing an increased risk of human rights

violations 2026

The goal of the Mercedes-Benz Group is to combine
achieving business success with acting responsibly
toward the environment, people and society — and
doing so along the entire value chain.

The expansion of electric mobility in particular is also
putting a spotlight on the respect for human rights
within the automotive supply chain, because the pro-
duction of battery cells requires the use of raw materi-
als such as lithium and cobalt. These raw materials
often come from countries where there is a risk that
they are mined under conditions that could be critical
from a human rights standpoint.

In addition to its own commitment to respecting
human rights, the Mercedes-Benz Group is observing
growing interest in the topic of human rights among
consumers, civil society organizations, investors and
rating agencies.

Respect for human rights has key importance for the
Mercedes-Benz Group and is an obligation as well as a
mission for the Group. For this reason, upholding
human rights is an area of action of its sustainable busi-
ness strategy. The Mercedes-Benz Group also intro-
duced a corresponding risk-based system to uphold
ongoing human rights due diligence obligation. The
measurable targets and key figures for the system are
defined in the sustainable business strategy.

Policy commitment

The Mercedes-Benz Group is committed to ensuring
that human rights are respected and upheld along the
entire value chain in all Group companies and by part-
ners, particularly suppliers. The Principles of Social
Responsibility and Human Rights reflect this self-com-
mitment. They supplement and specify the Integrity
Code with respect to the principles of human rights and
good working conditions and are binding for all manag-
ers and employees of the Mercedes-Benz Group AG as
well as the consolidated Group companies worldwide.
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Organizational embedding

Overarching activities relating to human rights issues
are managed by the Mercedes-Benz Group AG execu-
tive division Integrity, Governance & Sustainability. This
division is responsible for the Principles of Social
Responsibility and Human Rights as well as for enhanc-
ing the human rights due diligence obligations within
the Mercedes-Benz Group via the Group’s Human Rights
Respect System (HRRS). The responsible member of the
Board of Management continues to develop the topic in
line with the targets set by the Board of Management
and the Supervisory Board. To this end, this member
regularly obtains information and corresponding reports
about the Company’s human rights activities.

The Chief Compliance Officer of the Mercedes-Benz
Group is also the Group’s Human Rights Officer. He is a
member of the Group Sustainability Committee and
reports to the Board of Management member responsi-
ble for Integrity, Governance & Sustainability. The
Human Rights Officer is responsible for monitoring
compliance with the Principles of Social Responsibility
and Human Rights and the HRRS. He reports annually
and as needed to the Mercedes-Benz Group AG Board
of Management and other bodies on particularly rele-
vant human rights issues and the status of implementa-
tion of the Principles of Social Responsibility and
Human Rights.
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The Social Compliance department helps with the defi-
nition of human rights due diligence requirements
within the Mercedes-Benz Group and towards suppliers.
Moreover, it works closely with the specialist units
responsible for operational implementation of the com-
pany’s human rights due diligence obligations, and with
the procurement units in particular.

Human Rights Respect System (HRRS)

The HRRS is the Mercedes-Benz Group’s approach to
fulfilling its human rights due diligence obligations. It
encompasses the protection of our own employees
through the Group-wide Social Compliance Manage-
ment System (Social CMS) in Group companies as well
as processes for human rights due diligence in supply
chains as part of Supplier Compliance Risk Manage-
ment (SCRM) for direct suppliers (Tier 1) and, risk-based,
indirect suppliers (beyond Tier 1).

The HRRS should be understood as a due diligence
cycle that basically consists of four steps: 1. Risk
assessment, 2. Programme implementation, 3. Monitor-
ing, and 4. Reporting. It is designed to systematically
identify risks and potential and actual negative impacts
of business activities on the respect for human rights
early on, avoid such effects and, if necessary, to initiate
countermeasures.

The Mercedes-Benz Group continues to expand the
HRRS step by step and also involves external stake-
holders and experts in this process. The stakeholders
include rights holders such as employees and their

representatives, as well as local residents. For example,
the Mercedes-Benz Group also holds talks with interna-
tional NGOs and other organizations concerning the
human rights risks arising from the extraction of certain
raw materials.

Social Compliance Management System

Through the Social CMS, the Mercedes-Benz Group
identifies and addresses in particular those human
rights risks that may arise in the workforces of its own
Group companies. Employee rights are also addressed
systematically and on a risk basis as part of the Social
CMS. With the Social CMS, the Mercedes-Benz Group
has integrated the issue of human rights into the
Group-wide, systematic compliance risk management
process for the Group companies.

Supplier compliance risk management

As part of Supplier Compliance Risk Management
(SCRM), the Mercedes-Benz Group conducts a risk
assessment of its Tier 1 suppliers of its procurement
departments for production materials, non-production
materials and services at least once a year. Following
an initial overarching risk assessment, the specific risks
are determined using specific questionnaires. Should
there be any indication revealed, the responsible pro-
curement department initiates an extensive examina-
tion of the situation.
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Identification of risk raw materials and services

In order to examine the risks associated with raw mate-
rials, the Mercedes-Benz Group first analysed the raw
materials present in a vehicle and prioritized them on
the basis of various factors. It has identified 24 critical
raw materials. The list is reviewed annually on the basis
of certain criteria, such as the country risk of the main
mining countries, and updated if necessary.

The Group plans to gradually examine these 24 critical
raw materials in more detail between now and 2028
and to define corresponding measures. This review
consists of three steps:

1. Increasing transparency along the raw material supply
chains — especially with regard to certain compo-
nents in a Mercedes-Benz, such as battery cells. To
this end, Mercedes-Benz AG contacts, among others,
the suppliers of the relevant components and asks
them to disclose their supplier structure.

2.Identification of risk hotspots in the raw material sup-
ply chains, e.g. on the basis of the specific risks in the
individual mining countries.

3.Definition and implementation of measures for the
risk hotspots and review of whether they are effective
over the long term.
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In the reporting year, the Mercedes-Benz Group was
able to complete 57% of the process of reviewing all 24
raw materials, thus achieving its target for 2023. The
achievement describes the progress in the overall pro-
cess of assessing all 24 raw materials, which includes
fully complete and partially complete assessments.

The Mercedes-Benz Group also carefully checks the
services it uses. Services that are particularly critical
from a human rights perspective were identified as part
of an impact assessment. The analysis resulted in a list
of 27 services that are potentially critical in terms of
human rights.

We regularly conduct such risk mapping in order to
address current developments and adapt our risk clas-
sification if necessary. The main human rights risks for
the identified services are then determined on a step-
by-step and supply chain-specific basis and appropri-
ate measures are defined.

Requirements for suppliers

The Mercedes-Benz Group is committed to the respon-
sible procurement of production materials, non-produc-
tion materials and services.

The Group has incorporated the guidelines for sustaina-
ble supply chain management into the Responsible
Sourcing Standards (RSS). They define minimum
requirements and expectations for direct suppliers and
contractually oblige them to comply with these require-
ments, to communicate them to their employees and

upstream stages of the value chain and to monitor com-
pliance with them in their business processes and
sphere of influence.

The goal here is to prevent, minimize or, if possible,
bring to an end any negative impacts on human rights
worldwide. The RSS are an integral part of all new
orders for Tier 1 suppliers and the key contractual docu-
ment for minimum and sustainability requirements.
They are applied worldwide.

Measures in the supply chain

The Mercedes-Benz Group uses a variety of measures
and concepts to ensure the fulfilment of its due dili-
gence obligations in the supply chain. This includes
training, preventive and corrective measures, risk analy-
ses, documentation for tracking and reporting purposes
and effectiveness checks. With these instruments, the
Mercedes-Benz Group intends to increase transparency
in the supply chain and to ensure that internationally
recognized human rights are upheld by business part-
ners as well, and that other social standards and envi-
ronmental requirements are met. The procurement
units for production materials, non-production materi-
als and services play a key role here.

In addition, Tier 1 suppliers were continuously screened
for human rights violations and breaches of environ-
mental standards in the reporting year. The objective is
to identify possible violations at an early stage on the
basis of the latest supplier data. Should there be any
indication revealed, the responsible procurement
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department initiates an extensive examination of the
situation.

The Mercedes-Benz Group also continued to conduct
audits at Tier 1 suppliers in 2023, when it made 744
on-site inspections. Among other things, anomalies were
detected with regard to working hours, the communica-
tion of our sustainability standards and business ethics.

If on-site inspections reveal deficiencies at a supplier,
the Mercedes-Benz Group calls on the supplier to
improve the relevant processes. If the supplier does
not sufficiently remedy the criticised processes, the
Group makes individual decisions regarding the next
steps. In especially severe cases, these decisions can
be made by management bodies. As a last resort, this
can also lead to the discontinuation of the Mercedes-
Benz Group’s business relationship with a supplier.

Raising awareness of human rights issues

The Integrity Code and the Principles of Social Respon-
sibility and Human Rights are binding for all employees
of the Mercedes-Benz Group as well as the consoli-
dated Group companies. Both are the subject of the
mandatory basic online module Integrity@Work, which
also covers topics related to integrity and compliance
and must be completed every three years by all
employees of the administration of Mercedes-Benz
Group AG as well as the consolidated Group companies.
In 2023, human rights compliance training was also
introduced for all managers of Mercedes-Benz

Group AG and consolidated Group companies
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worldwide to familiarize them with the requirements of
human rights due diligence in accordance with their
respective function.

Since 2018, Mercedes-Benz AG has been cooperating
with the Drive Sustainability initiative on the implemen-
tation of measures to make production material suppli-
ers in various focus countries more aware of the impor-
tance of sustainability and provide them with
information on this issue. The Group selected the
respective countries jointly with the initiative.

Complaints management

The BPO whistleblower system enables employees and
external whistleblowers worldwide to report rules viola-
tions. The Mercedes-Benz Group can thus become
aware of potential human rights risks, can prevent dam-
age to the Group and its employees or to third parties,
and protects individuals who might be harmed by mis-
conduct.

With regard to supply chains, suspected violations of
the Responsible Sourcing Standards can be reported
via the BPO. If the misconduct or problem falls within
the supplier’s area of responsibility, the supplier must
take measures to immediately correct or eliminate the
problem.
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EU Taxonomy

One of the important goals of the Commission Action
Plan on Financing Sustainable Growth in the context of
the European Green Deal is to divert capital flows to
sustainable investments. This is also the logic behind
the EU Taxonomy Regulation (EU 2020/852) that came
into force in mid-2020. This regulation governs the
establishment of a standardized and legally binding
classification system that defines the types of eco-
nomic activity in the EU that are considered to be Tax-
onomy-aligned - and thus environmentally sustainable
with regard to six environmental objectives established
by the regulation:

- Climate change mitigation

- Climate change adaptation

- Sustainable use and protection of water and marine
resources

- Transition to a circular economy

- Pollution prevention and control

- Protection and restoration of biodiversity and
ecosystems

Companies that are required to publish a Non-Financial
Declaration must also comply with the Taxonomy Regu-
lation. According to Article 8 of the Taxonomy Regula-
tion, the Taxonomy-aligned proportions of revenue,
capital expenditure and operating expenditure
accounted for by environmentally sustainable economic
activities are to be reported on an annual basis.

Taxonomy-eligibility

Taxonomy-eligibility is assessed in an initial step. For an
economic activity to be Taxonomy-eligible, that activity
must be mentioned and explained in further detail in
the delegated acts for the Taxonomy Regulation. The EU
delegated acts (Commission Delegated Regulation (EU)
2021/2139 and its supplement, Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2023/2485), which was adopted by the
European Commission in June 2023, contain descrip-
tions of relevant economic activities and technical
screening criteria for the environmental objectives cli-
mate change mitigation and climate change adaptation.
The supplement to the delegated regulation includes
new technical screening criteria that refer to both the
existing economic activities and to new economic activ-
ities. Furthermore, a new EU delegated act (Commis-
sion Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/2486) containing
economic activities and technical screening criteria rel-
evant for the remaining environmental objectives, was
published in 2023.

The economic activities relevant to the Mercedes-Benz
Group in this context are to be found under the envi-
ronmental objectives climate change mitigation, climate
change adaptation and transition to a circular economy.
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On the basis of the descriptions contained in the dele-
gated acts relating to climate change mitigation, the
following Taxonomy-eligible economic activities have
been identified for the Group:

- Economic activity 3.3 encompasses manufacture of
low-carbon technologies for transport in connection
with the production of cars and vans

- Economic activity 6.5 encompasses leasing and
financing of low-carbon cars and vans

- Economic activity 6.6 encompasses leasing and
financing of low-carbon commercial vehicles

- Economic activity 6.15 encompasses infrastructure
enabling low-carbon road transport and public trans-
port (charging infrastructure)

In a Commission Notice (2022/C 385/01) published
by the European Commission on 6 October 2022, the
Commission stated that the term “low-carbon” only
relates to the assessment of Taxonomy-alignment
within the framework of the technical screening crite-
ria and is not relevant for reporting on the Taxono-
my-eligible economic activity 3.3. With regard to car
manufacturer in particular and as an example, the
document shows that the activity “manufacture of
low-carbon vehicles” also includes vehicles with com-
bustion engines. For the Mercedes-Benz Group, this
clarification by the European Commission means that
the manufacture of all Group vehicles is to be classi-
fied as Taxonomy-eligible.
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Economic activity 6.5 relates to leasing and sales
financing of all cars and vans purchased from third
parties.

Economic activity 6.6 essentially covers the remaining
commercial vehicle portfolio of Mercedes-Benz Mobility
after the spin-off and hive-down of the Daimler com-
mercial vehicle business (see Note 3 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

Economic activity 6.15 relates to the establishment
and operation of company-owned charging infrastruc-
ture by means of high-power charging stations, which
are a prerequisite for zero tailpipe CO, operation of
zero-emissions road transport.

The economic activities in specific energy sectors con-
tained in the supplement to the delegated act relating
to the climate goals are only present to an immaterial
extent at the Mercedes-Benz Group and are per-
formed exclusively in support of carrying out eco-
nomic activity 3.3.

The economic activities contained in the delegated acts
relating to climate change adaptation are only present
to an immaterial extent at the Mercedes-Benz Group
and are reported exclusively under the environmental
objective climate change mitigation.

The Taxonomy-eligible economic activity 5.4 that
encompasses the sale of second-hand goods, which
are purchased by the Mercedes-Benz Group from third
parties, was identified on the basis of the descriptions

in the delegated act relating to the transition to a cir-
cular economy. For the 2023 reporting year, simplified
reporting obligations apply for economic activities
newly introduced by the delegated acts. These stipulate
that only reporting in relation to Taxonomy-eligibility is
required. The Mercedes-Benz Group reports economic
activity 5.4 as Taxonomy-eligible but not environmen-
tally sustainable. An assessment of Taxonomy-align-
ment has not been carried out.

The individual economic activities are additionally to be
classified according to enabling activities and transi-
tional activities. An enabling activity is an economic
activity that makes a substantial contribution to one or
more environmental objectives by directly enabling fur-
ther activities to also make a substantial contribution.
At the Mercedes-Benz Group this mostly applies to the
economic activities 3.3 and 6.15. A transitional activity,
in contrast, is an economic activity for which there is no
technological and economically feasible low-carbon
alternative but which makes a substantial contribution
to climate change mitigation by supporting the transi-
tion to a climate-neutral economy.
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Taxonomy-alignment

In a further step, Taxonomy-alignment must be
assessed for Taxonomy-eligible economic activities.
Only Taxonomy-eligible activities can be considered as
environmentally sustainable activities, or as being Tax-
onomy-aligned, provided they meet certain technical
screening criteria. Here, the fulfilment of certain techni-
cal screening criteria with regard to the relevant eco-
nomic activities must make a substantial contribution
to an environmental objective defined by the Taxonomy
Regulation and, on the basis of defined “do no signifi-
cant harm” criteria (DNSH criteria), also exclude the
possibility of significant interference with another envi-
ronmental objective. It must also be ensured that mini-
mum standards are met with regard to issues such as
upholding human rights or combating corruption (mini-
mum safeguards).

Fulfilment of a substantial contribution to the
environmental objective climate change mitigation
According to the delegated act, all vehicles below the
current limit value of 50g CO,/km per vehicle (in
accordance with the WLTP) as defined in the technical
screening criteria make a substantial contribution to the
climate change mitigation environmental objective. At
Mercedes-Benz Group all-electric vehicles as well as
the majority of plug-in hybrid vehicles are below this
threshold. These vehicles are hereafter referred to as
“low-carbon vehicles”.
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Furthermore, according to the delegated act, high-
power charging stations that are intended for the oper-
ation of vehicles with zero tailpipe CO,-emissions make
a substantial contribution to the environmental objec-
tive climate change mitigation.

Exclusion of the possibility of significant
interference on the basis of the “do no significant
harm?” criteria

In a second step, compliance with the DNSH criteria for
the further environmental objectives for the respective
economic activities was analysed on the basis of the
defined criteria in the reporting year.

With regard to economic activity 3.3, the fulfilment of
these criteria was basically assessed at the level of
those consolidated production sites where low-carbon
vehicles or associated components are currently being
manufactured or plans call for them to be manufac-
tured in the future.

With regard to economic activity 6.5, the analysis of the
criteria is to be performed on the basis of the low-car-
bon vehicles in the leasing and financing portfolio. In
addition to Group-brand vehicles, the vehicle portfolio
also includes vehicles from other manufacturers. The
latter are reported as Taxonomy-eligible but not Taxon-
omy-aligned, as it is not currently possible to carry out
an adequate DNSH analysis due to the current data
availability.

With regard to economic activity 6.15, the fulfilment of
the DNSH criteria was reviewed at the level of the oper-
ational high-power charging stations.

Climate change adaptation

With regard to economic activity 3.3, the EU Taxonomy
requires a climate risk analysis to be carried out. In
accordance with the DNSH requirements, this analysis
was carried out for taxonomy-relevant production sites
in connection with economic activity 3.3, in order to
assess potential physical climate-related risk factors on
the basis of material climate risks in line with Appendix
A (Annex I) of the delegated act of the EU (Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2021/2139). The analysis took into
account climate scenarios from the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and different time hori-
zons, including 2040. Adaptation measures were ana-
lysed on the basis of the results.

In addition, the verificiation of the DNSH criteria for
economic activity 6.5 is essentially based on the con-
sideration of use and environmental conditions, such
as heat and cold requirements in the context of vehicle
development and testing.

With regard to economic activity 6.15, potential climate
risks according to Appendix A (Annex I) of the delegated
act of the EU (Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139)
were assessed by relevance for the implementation of
the economic activity and manufacturer’s specifications
for the charging stations were taken into account.
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Sustainable use and protection of water

and marine resources

With regard to economic activity 3.3, fulfilment of the
DNSH criteria according to the Taxonomy Regulation is
intended to be ensured mainly on the basis of estab-
lished environmental management systems and the
internal environmental risk assessment (environmental
due diligence process). The company has established
environmental management systems at its own produc-
tion sites around the world in accordance with ISO
14001. In addition, all German and the two European
manufacturing locations in Kecskemet (Hungary) and
Vitoria (Spain) have also been validated in accordance
with EMAS. As part of the internal environmental risk
assessment, consolidated production sites are evalu-
ated according to a number of factors, including those
relating to water quality, in a five-year cycle. Recom-
mendations for minimizing risks are then drawn up, pri-
oritized and tracked. The Group also uses external data
sources to identify sites that harbour potential risks
relating to water scarcity.

With regard to economic activity 6.15, the analysis shall
assess that the use of the charging infrastructure does
not give rise to any significant risk to the water quality

and the water scarcity corresponding to the DNSH cri-

teria.
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Transition to a circular economy

With regard to economic activity 3.3, the EU Taxonomy
Regulation requires an assessment and, if possible, the
application of measures that promote the transition to a
circular economy, including the use of secondary mate-
rials, high durability of products and waste manage-
ment in production. When developing products, the
Mercedes-Benz Group considers the concept of circular
economy from the very start and has set itself the over-
arching goal of increasing its use of secondary materials
in vehicles. In addition, the DNSH criteria for economic
activity 6.5 are taken into account through the imple-
mentation of the legal requirements on recyclability and
reusability for passenger car models and light commer-
cial vehicles.

The Mercedes-Benz Group is intensifying its efforts to
use lower volumes of raw materials and other materials
in its production operations. In accordance with the
waste hierarchy, the company’s primary goal is to avoid
waste. For its own production sites worldwide, the
Mercedes-Benz Group has set reduction targets for fac-
tors such as total waste volume and waste volume for
disposal per vehicle. Waste management is also a com-
ponent of the Group’s internal environmental risk
assessment.

For economic activity 6.15, the applicable DNSH criteria
were analysed and checked for adherence. This
includes the verification of the recycling or disposal of
waste generated during construction and demolition.

Pollution prevention and control

With regard to the DNSH criteria, for economic activity
3.3 under Appendix C (Annex I) of the delegated act of
the EU (Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139), the Tax-
onomy Regulation refers to the concept of avoiding the
manufacturing, placing on the market or use of
restricted and reportable substances subject to current
European legislation on chemicals. The implementation
of internal processes for specification, approval and
control is intended to ensure compliance with European
regulations (according to Appendix C) and respective
national legislations. The Global Automotive Declarable
Substance List (GADSL) forms the basis for the prohibi-
tion and declaration requirement of substances in
Mercedes-Benz products. The Mercedes-Benz Group
also defines specifications for substitution analyses,
and thus for the use of less critical hazardous sub-
stances.

With regard to economic activity 6.5, the DNSH criteria
refer to compliance with various product-related Euro-
pean regulations and directives. As a result, all-electric
vehicles are currently considered in the Taxono-
my-aligned scopes of economic activity 6.5.

In due consideration of the applicable legislation and of
a Notice (C/2023/267) published by the EU Commission
on 20 October 2023, only tyres corresponding to the
two highest classes for rolling resistance coefficients
available on the market and at the same time the high-
est class for external rolling noise available on the mar-
ket fulfil DNSH requirements for the respective vehicles.
For the assessment of the respective classes available
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on the market, the data of the European Product Data-
base for Energy Labelling (EPREL) shall be used. The
time of market placement of the vehicles in the leasing
and financing portfolio was used for the analysis, and a
percentage share of the vehicles with the respective
highest tyre classes according to EPREL was deter-
mined on the basis of a representative time period. This
proportion is applied to the leasing and financing port-
folio of all-electric vehicles worldwide wherever the
corresponding data is available.

For economic activity 6.15, the applicable requirements
from the Taxonomy Regulation on noise, vibration, dust
and pollutants must be complied with.

Protection and restoration of biodiversity and
ecosystems

To demonstrate the requirements for economic activity
3.3, ecologically sensitive or protected areas in the
neighbourhood of sites are documented and taken into
account as part of the internal environmental risk
assessment (environmental due diligence process). Fur-
thermore, environmental impact assessments or com-
parable audits outside the EU are carried out in the
context of a new site or the extension of an existing site,
if legally required. In addition, the Group has estab-
lished environmental management systems in accord-
ance with ISO 14001 at its production sites.

During the reporting year, an environmental impact
assessment was not required for the charging infra-
structure (economic activity 6.15) that was put into
operation. Furthermore, the locally applicable



Annual Report 2023 |

Mercedes-Benz Group

Contents To Our Shareholders

Combined Management Report

Corporate Governance

Non-Financial Declaration

requirements in the construction and approval process
according to the DNSH requirements were taken as a
basis.

The analysis of the DNSH requirements for economic
activities 3.3 and 6.15 forms the basis for considering
the taxonomy-compliant shares. With regard to eco-
nomic activity 6.5, the reductions due to the DNSH
requirements of the environmental objective pollution
prevention and control were taken into account in the
Taxonomy-alignment of revenues and investments.

Fulfilment of minimum safeguards

An economic activity can only be classified as environ-
mentally sustainable within the meaning of the Taxon-
omy if it is also conducted in accordance with certain
minimum standards that are based on international
frameworks. Here, Article 18 of the Taxonomy Regula-
tion references the OECD Guidelines for Multinational
Enterprises, the United Nations Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights (including the basic princi-
ples and rights from the eight core conventions defined
in the International Labour Organization’s Declaration
on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work), and the
International Bill of Human Rights. The Taxonomy Regu-
lation itself does not further specify the standards.

The report published by the Platform on Sustainable
Finance in October 2022 (Final Report on Minimum
Safeguards) assists companies with the interpretation

of the scope and application of the minimum standards.

This report forms the foundation for the application of
minimum standards and the associated reporting at the

Mercedes-Benz Group. Key issue areas here are human
rights and labour rights (see the chapters Social compli-
ance and Occupational health and safety), the preven-
tion of corruption and the promotion of fair competition
(see the chapters Compliance management system,
Combating corruption and Promoting fair competition),
and responsible tax practices (see the chapter Tax obli-
gation). The verification of compliance here basically
involves demonstrating compliance with the existence of
corresponding due diligence processes at the Group
level and the fact that no judicial rulings relating to seri-
ous violations in the aforementioned areas have been
made in the final instance.
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Reporting on the Taxonomy-aligned
proportions of environmentally
sustainable economic activities

The sections below present information on the propor-
tion of revenue, capital expenditure and operating
expenditure accounted for by environmentally sustaina-
ble economic activities at the Mercedes-Benz Group.

The individual figures for revenue, capital expenditure
and operating expenditure are precisely allocated to a
specific economic activity and environmental objective.

The calculations for the key figures are based on the
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance
with IFRS. The provision of comparative information,
except where concerning the economic activities
newly introduced by the delegated acts supplement-
ing the Taxonomy Regulation, was legally required in
the reporting year.
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Revenue
2023 Criteria for a substantial contribution 2022,
Proportion
of Taxono-
my-aligned
(A1) or
Climate Climate DNSH criteria Taxonomy- Category: Category:
Proportion change change Circular (“do no signifi- ~ Minimum |eligible (A.2) enabling transitional
Economic activities Code! Revenue? of revenue? mitigation  adaptation Water economy Pollution Biodiversity cant harm”)® safeguards revenue activity activity
in millions of
euros in% | Y;N;N/EL® Y;N;N/EL® Y;N;N/EL® Y;N;N/EL® Y; N; N/EL® Y; N; N/EL® Y/N Y/N in % E T
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Manufacture of low-carbon technologies for transport CCM 3.3 20,704 14% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y 10% E
Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles CCM 6.5 319 0% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y 0%
Infrastructure enabling low-carbon road transport and public transport CCM 6.15 0% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y - E
Revenue from environmentally sustainable activities (Taxono-
my-aligned) (A.1) 21,023 14% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y 10%
of which enabling activity 20,704 14% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y 10% E
of which transitional activity 0 0% 0% 0% T
A.2 Taxonomy-eligible activities that are not environmentally sustain-
able (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL*  EL; N/EL*
Manufacture of low-carbon technologies for transport CCM 3.3 107,045 70% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 72%
Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles CCM 6.5 21,561 14% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 15%
Freight transport services by road CCM 6.6 1,683 1% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 1%
Sale of second-hand goods CE5.4 448 0% N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL N/EL -
Revenue from Taxonomy-eligible activities that are not
environmentally sustainable (not Taxonomy-aligned) (A.2) 130,737 85% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 88%
A. Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible activities (A.1+ A.2) 151,760 99% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 98%
B. TAXONOMY NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Revenue of Taxonomy non-eligible activities 1,458 1% 2%
Total (A +B) 153,218 100% 100%

1 The Code constitutes the abbreviation of the relevant environmental objective to which the economic activity is eligible to make a substantial contribution. Climate change mitigation: CCM, climate change adaptation: CCA, water and marine resources: WTR, circular economy: CE, pollution prevention and control: PPC,

biodiversity and ecosystems: BIO.

Description: Y — Yes, T y-eli

ible and T: y

o wN

Description: EL — Eligible, Taxonomy-eligible activity for the relevant objective, N/EL — Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.
A breakdown of the DNSH criteria has not been provided here, as activities may only be designated as Taxonomy-aligned when any significant effect on the other environmental objectives has been ruled out.

The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate assurance engagement of the sustainability report. An exception to this is the total (total A + B), which was audited with reasonable assurance as a Group key figure.

ligned activity with the relevant environmental objective, N — No, Taxonomy-eligible but not Taxonomy-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective, N/EL — Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.
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The following table shows the scope of the Taxonomy-
eligibility and the Taxonomy-alignment for the revenue
by environmental objective:

Revenue proportion/total revenue!

Taxonomy-
alignment
per objective

Taxonomy-
eligibility
per objective

Climate change mitigation (CCM) 14% 85%
Climate change adaptation (CCA) 0% 0%
Water and marine resources (WTR) 0% 0%
Circular economy (CE) 0% 0%
Pollution prevention and control (PPC) 0% 0%
Biodiversity and ecosystems (BIO) 0% 0%

Taxonomy-eligibility of revenue

For the share of Taxonomy-eligible revenue (under A. in
the table Revenue), the Taxonomy-eligible revenue is
considered in relation to the total revenue of the Group.
In this process, the denominator takes into account the
consolidated revenue generated by Group companies
that are to be included in the calculations. The revenue,
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of income,
amounted to €153,218 million in the reporting year
(2022: €150,017 million) (see Note 5 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

The numerator was calculated by examining this reve-
nue to determine how much of it was generated in con-
nection with the manufacturing, the leasing or the
financing of vehicles; the operation of high-power

1 The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate
assurance engagement of the sustainability report.

charging stations; or the sale of second hand-goods
which were purchased from third parties by the
Mercedes-Benz Group. This applies to almost all of
the revenue generated by the Mercedes-Benz Group.
In the previous year, the revenues from the sale of
second-hand goods, which Mercedes-Benz Group
purchased from third parties, were assigned to the
revenue from Taxonomy non-eligible activities. Since
the reporting year, this revenue has been assigned to
the economic activity 5.4.

Taxonomy-alighment of revenue

In order to calculate the Taxonomy-aligned proportion
of economic activities (under A.1in the table Revenue),
revenues were examined to determine whether they
were generated with low-carbon vehicles in order to
assess whether a substantial contribution had been
made to climate change mitigation. Compliance with
the DNSH criteria was also monitored.

Revenue
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For the major proportion of the revenue, in particular
from the new and used vehicle business and leasing
and sales financing activities, a direct attribution was
made of the revenue accounted for by low-carbon
vehicles. With regard to other revenue components,
especially revenue from the spare parts business and
service and maintenance contracts, or attribution of
discounts granted for large procurement volumes, it is
not possible to directly assign revenue to low-carbon
vehicles. In these cases, suitable allocations were
therefore used for the various revenue components.
These classifications are based on current or historical
vehicle sales data for the fleet that is currently on the
market and data on production volumes. In the reporting
year, the share of Taxonomy-aligned revenue increased
to 14%?. The main reasons for this were an increase in
unit sales of all-electric vehicles and the expansion of
the product portfolio for low-carbon vehicles.

The revenues shown below are included as an
aggregation across the various economic activities.

2023 2022

Proportion of Proportion of

Taxonomy-aligned Total Taxonomy-aligned Taxonomy-aligned Total Taxonomy-aligned
revenue! revenue revenue! revenuet revenue revenue!
in millions of euros in millions of euros in % in millions of euros in millions of euros in %

Revenue according to IFRS
15 20,223 136,987 15% 14,419 136,008 11%
Other revenue 800 16,231 5% 575 14,009 4%
Total 21,023 153,218 14% 14,994 150,017 10%
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Capital expenditure

2023 Criteria for a substantial contribution 2022
Proportion of
Taxono-
my-aligned
(A.1) or Taxon-
Proportion Climate Climate DNSH criteria omy-eligible Category: Category:
Capital ex-  of capital change change Circular (“do no signifi- ~ Minimum (A.2) Capital enabling transitional
Economic activities Code!  penditure?expenditure? mitigation  adaptation Water economy Pollution Biodiversity cant harm”)> safeguards | expenditure activity activity
in millions of
euros in% | Y;N;N/EL® Y;N;N/EL® Y;N; N/ZEL®  Y; N; N/EL®Y; N; N/EL® Y; N; N/ELS Y/N Y/N in % E T
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Manufacture of low-carbon technologies for transport CCM 3.3 4,605 21% Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y 20% E
Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles CCM 6.5 585 3% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y 2%
Infrastructure enabling low-carbon road transport and public transport CCM 6.15 30 0% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y - E
Capital expenditure of environmentally sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 5,220 24% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y 22%
of which enabling activity 4,635 22% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y 20% E
of which transitional activity 0 0% 0% 0% T
A.2 Taxonomy-eligible activities that are not environmentally sustain-
able (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL*  EL; N/EL*
Manufacture of low-carbon technologies for transport CCM 3.3 4,065 19% EL EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 22%
Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles CCM 6.5 12,186 57% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 56%
Capital expenditure of Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally
sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 16,251 76% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 78%
A. Capital expenditure of Taxonomy-eligible activities (A.1+A.2) 21,471 100% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
B. TAXONOMY NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure of Taxonomy non-eligible activities 0 0% 0%
Total (A + B) 21,471 100% 100%

1 The Code constitutes the abbreviation of the relevant environmental objective to which the economic activity is eligible to make a substantial contribution. Climate change mitigation: CCM, climate change adaptation: CCA, water and marine resources: WTR, circular economy: CE, pollution prevention and control: PPC,
biodiversity and ecosystems: BIO.

The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate assurance engagement of the sustainability report. An exception to this is the total (total A + B), which was audited with reasonable assurance as a Group key figure.

Description: Y — Yes, Taxonomy-eligible and Taxonomy-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective, N — No, Taxor ligible but not T: y-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective, N/EL — Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.
Description: EL — Eligible, Taxonomy-eligible activity for the relevant objective, N/EL — Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.

A breakdown of the DNSH criteria has not been provided here, as activities may only be designated as Taxonomy-aligned when any significant effect on the other environmental objectives has been ruled out.

o B w N
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The following table shows the scope of the Taxonomy-
eligibility and the Taxonomy-alignment for the capital
expenditure by environmental objective:

Proportion of capital expenditure/total capital expenditure®

Taxonomy-
alignment
per objective

24%

Taxonomy-
eligibility
per objective

76%

Climate change mitigation (CCM)

Climate change adaptation (CCA) 0% 0%
Water and marine resources (WTR) 0% 0%
Circular economy (CE) 0% 0%
Pollution prevention and control (PPC) 0% 0%
Biodiversity and ecosystems (BIO) 0% 0%

1 The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate assurance engage-
ment of the sustainability report.

Taxonomy-eligibility of capital expenditure

For the share of Taxonomy-eligible capital expenditure
(under A. in the table Capital expenditure), the Taxono-
my-eligible capital expenditure is considered in relation
to the total relevant capital expenditure of the Group.

All additions to intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as defined in IFRS 16
in accordance with the statements of changes in
non-current assets as well as additions to equipment on
operating leases, including the additions to the named
assets as part of company acquisitions are taken into
account in the denominator. Equipment on operating
leases only takes into account vehicles acquired by deal-
ers from outside the Group. Goodwill acquired is not
taken into account here. If a divestment is planned, capi-
tal expenditure on non-current assets is only taken into

account until the point in time at which they were first
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.
The relevant additions to the assets to be taken into
account amounted to €21,471 million in the reporting
year (2022: €18,369 million) (see Notes 11,12 and 13 in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements).
Additions that result from a purchase in the context of
a company acquisition are of secondary importance in
the reporting year.

According to the Commission Notice (2022/C 385/01)
that the European Commission published on 6 October
2022, the definition of an economic activity is charac-
terized by the achievement of an output. In line with
the Mercedes-Benz Group’s business model, the
numerator was therefore determined by examining
whether capital expenditure is made in connection with
the manufacturing of vehicles, the establishment of the
charging infrastructure or the implementation of trans-
port solutions for people and goods. This applies to
nearly all of our investments.

Taxonomy-alignment of capital expenditure

To calculate the Taxonomy-aligned proportion of eco-
nomic activities (under A.1in the table Capital expendi-
ture), capital expenditure was examined to determine
the extent to which it was associated with low-carbon
vehicles (economic activities 3.3 and 6.5) and with
high-power charging stations (economic activity 6.15) in
order to assess whether a substantial contribution had
been made to climate change mitigation. Table Capital
expenditure (p. 121) shows the Taxonomy-aligned capi-
tal expenditure, aggregated across all economic activi-
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ties. Compliance with the DNSH criteria was
also monitored.

The size of the share of Taxonomy-aligned expenditure
of total capital expenditure is mainly due to the dispro-
portionately low share of Taxonomy-aligned vehicles

in the additions to the equipment on operating leases.
As a result, this share only partially reflects our invest-
ments in sustainable products for the future.

When looking at Taxonomy-aligned investments in
intangible assets (mainly in capitalized development
costs) and property, plant and equipment of the
Mercedes-Benz Group shows much higher shares of
Taxonomy-aligned capital expenditure (table Capital
expenditure).

All of the capital expenditure of the Mercedes-Benz
Group during the reporting year included in the numer-
ator of the economic activities 3.3 and 6.5 relates to
assets or processes in the context of already existing
technologies which are connected to already existing
Taxonomy-aligned economic activities 3.3 and 6.5. For
most of the capital expenditure relating to the industrial
business, a direct attribution was made to all-electric
vehicle projects. In the case of capital expenditure in
low-carbon plug-in hybrids and assets that are used to
produce both vehicles with combustion engines and
low-carbon vehicles, suitable allocations based on
planned vehicle sales figures for the respective model
series or vehicle platforms were used. Capital expendi-
ture that is not directly related to the manufacturing
process was allocated on the basis of the planned unit
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sales figures for low-carbon vehicles. With regard to Capital expenditure

financial services, it is possible to match the additions 2023 2022
to equipment on operating leases directly to low-car- Proportion of Proportion of
bon vehicles. At 24%! the percentage of Taxono- Taxonomy-aligned Total Taxonomy-aligned Taxonomy-aligned Total Taxonomy-aligned

capital expenditure! capital expenditure capital expenditure! capital expenditure! capital expenditure capital expenditure?

my-aligned capital expenditure was at the prior-year

. L in millions of euros in millions of euros in % in millions of euros in millions of euros in %
level. There was a sharp addition to capitalized devel-

] Intangible assets 2,764 4,513 61% 1,874 3,480 54%

opment costs, the effect of which was offset by the -

. . X . Property, plant and equip-

higher total capital expenditure compared to the previ- ment 1768 3,718 48% 1,507 3,421 24%
ous year. Right-of-use assets 130 469 28% 391 923 42%

Equipment on operating
CapEx plan for economic activity 6.15 leases 558 12,771 4% 285 10,545 3%
A capital expenditure (CapEx) plan that has been Total 5,220 21,471 24% 4,057 18,369 22%

adopted by management must exist for capital expendi-
ture that leads to an expansion of Taxonomy-aligned
economic activities or enables the conversion of Taxon-
omy-eligible economic activities into Taxonomy-aligned
economic activities. At the Mercedes-Benz Group this
affects capital expenditure for economic activity 6.15
Infrastructure enabling low-carbon road transport and
public transport (charging infrastructure) that is
expected to fall under the environmental objective cli-
mate change mitigation. The Board of Management of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG has adopted the planned
capital expenditure for the construction of Mercedes-
Benz own high-power charging stations as part of the
corporate planning covering the period 2024 to 2028.
The CapEx plan contains total capital expenditure in the
amount of around €1.4 billion (whereof €30 million are
accounted for in the reporting year).

1 The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate
assurance engagement of the sustainability report.
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Operating expenditure

2023 Criteria for a substantial contribution 2022
Proportion of
Taxono-
my-aligned
(A.1) or Tax-
onomy-eligi-
Proportion Climate Climate DNSH criteria ble (A.2) Category: Category:
Operating of operating change change Circular (“do no signifi- ~ Minimum operating enabling transitional
Economic activities Code! expenditure?expenditure? mitigation  adaptation Water economy Pollution Biodiversity cant harm”)® safeguards | expenditure activity activity
in millions of
euros in% | Y;N;N/EL® Y;N;N/EL® Y; Ny N/EL® Y5 N; N/ZEL® Y, N; N/EL® Y; N; N/ELS Y/N Y/N in % E T
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Manufacture of low-carbon technologies for transport CCM 3.3 2,336 32% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y 35% E
Operating expenditure of environmentally sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 2,336 32% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y 35%
of which enabling activity 2,336 32% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y 35% E
of which transitional activity 0 0% 0% 0% T
A.2 Taxonomy-eligible activities that are not environmentally sus-
tainable (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL* EL; N/EL*  EL; N/EL*
Manufacture of low-carbon technologies for transport CCM 3.3 4,970 68% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 65%
Operating expenditure of Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally
sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 4,970 68% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 65%
A. Operating expenditure of Taxonomy-eligible activities (A.1+A.2) 7,306 100% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
B. TAXONOMY NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Operating expenditure of Taxonomy non-eligible activities 0 0% 0%
Total (A +B) 7,306 100% 100%

1 The Code constitutes the abbreviation of the relevant environmental objective to which the economic activity is eligible to make a substantial contribution. Climate change mitigation: CCM, climate change adaptation: CCA, water and marine resources: WTR, circular economy: CE, pollution prevention and control: PPC, biodiversity and eco-
systems: BIO.

The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate assurance engagement of the sustainability report.

Description: Y — Yes, T: y-eligible and T: y-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective, N — No, Taxonomy-eligible but not Taxonomy-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective, N/EL — Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.

Description: EL — Eligible, Taxonomy-eligible activity for the relevant objective; N/EL — Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.

A breakdown of the DNSH criteria has not been provided here, as activities may only be designated as Taxonomy-aligned when any significant effect on the other environmental objectives has been ruled out.

o B wN
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The following table shows the scope of the Taxono-
my-eligibility and the Taxonomy-alighment for the
operating expenditure by environmental objective:

Proportion of operating expenditure/total operating expenditure!

Taxonomy- Taxonomy-

alignment eligibility

per objective  per objective

Climate change mitigation (CCM) 32% 68%
Climate change adaptation (CCA) 0% 0%
Water and marine resources (WTR) 0% 0%
Circular economy (CE) 0% 0%
Pollution prevention and control (PPC) 0% 0%
Biodiversity and ecosystems (BIO) 0% 0%

Taxonomy-eligibility of operating expenditure

For the share of Taxonomy-eligible operating expendi-
ture (under A. in the table Operating expenditure), the

Taxonomy-eligible operating expenditure is considered
in relation to the relevant operating expenditure of the
Group.

The operating expenditures to be taken into account in
the denominator correspond to a figure that was exclu-
sively calculated within the framework of taxonomy
reporting, as they are elements of the individual func-
tional costs. These operating expenditures include
non-capitalized research and development costs and
costs arising from short-term leasing agreements. In
addition, according to the delegated act relating to Arti-
cle 8 of the Taxonomy Regulation, expenditure from

1 The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate
assurance engagement of the sustainability report.

building renovation measures and certain maintenance
and repair expenses (basically labour and material
costs as well as purchased services) relating to prop-
erty, plant and equipment are included. These compo-
nents of the relevant operating expenditures were col-
lected exclusively from the manufacturing companies
on the basis of materiality considerations.

In a manner similar to the approach taken for capital
expenditure, the relevant operating expenditures were
also examined here for the determination of the numer-
ator on the basis of the materiality considerations men-
tioned above to determine whether they are related to
the manufacture of vehicles. This applies to the operat-
ing expenditure described.

Operating expenditure

Consolidated Financial Statements

125

Further Information

Taxonomy-alighment of operating expenditure

In order to calculate the Taxonomy-aligned proportion
of economic activities (under A.1in the table Operating
expenditure), operating expenditure was examined to
determine the extent to which it was associated with
low-carbon vehicles in order to assess whether a sub-
stantial contribution had been made to climate change
mitigation. Compliance with the DNSH criteria was also
monitored.

The operating expenditure shown below is included as
an aggregation across the various economic activities:

2023 2022

Taxonomy-aligned
operating expendi-

Proportion of Taxon- Taxonomy-aligned
Total operating omy-aligned operat- operating expendi-

Proportion of Taxon-
Total operating omy-aligned operat-

turet expenditure ing expenditure! turet expenditure ing expenditure?
in millions of euros in millions of euros in % in millions of euros in millions of euros in %

Non-capitalized research
and development costs 2,089 6,230 34% 2,149 5,602 38%
Other operating expenditure 247 1,076 23% 191 1,062 18%
Total 2,336 7,306 32% 2,340 6,664 35%
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The non-capitalized research and development costs
can mostly be directly incorporated into the calculation
of the numerator on the basis of their allocation to
all-electric vehicle projects. Appropriate allocations
based on anticipated future unit sales figures of the
low-carbon share of the model series or the vehicle
platform were used for research and development
costs that cannot be directly allocated (model series or
vehicle platforms that include plug-in hybrids as well as
purely combustion engine vehicles). It was also not
possible to directly match the other components of rel-
evant operating expenditure to low-carbon vehicles.
The inclusion in the numerator was based on suitable
allocations of current production volumes. The share of
Taxonomy-aligned operating expenditure was 32%! in
the reporting year. The reason for the lower proportion
of Taxonomy-aligned operating expenditure is essen-
tially the decrease in non-capitalized research and
development costs attributable to low-carbon vehicles
with a simultaneous increase in the total non-capital-
ized research and development costs.

1 The key figures were audited in order to obtain limited assurance as part of a separate
assurance engagement of the sustainability report.
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Overall Assessment of the Financial Year

The Mercedes-Benz Group successfully held its ground
in a challenging and volatile market environment,
thanks to the normalization of global automobile pro-
duction and the remaining order backlog from the pan-
demic period. As a result, revenue was slightly above
the prior-year figure. This was primarily due to improved
pricing at the automotive segments.

In the past year, the Group achieved EBIT on a par with
the previous year. At the beginning of the year, it had
expected EBIT to be slightly below the prior-year figure.
The Group’s EBIT forecast was already raised during the
year, primarily due to the positive results performance
in the Mercedes-Benz Vans segment.

The free cash flow of the industrial business even sig-
nificantly exceeded the previous year’s figure as a result
of lower working capital than expected. At the begin-
ning of the reporting year, the figure had been expected
to remain at the previous year’s level. The forecast was
already raised during the year to a figure slightly above
the previous year’s level.

1 The Mercedes-Benz CO, pool not only includes newly registered Mercedes-Benz cars,
but also vans that were registered as passenger cars and, since 2023, vehicles from
the joint venture smart Automobile Co., Ltd. (smart vehicles). The average CO, emissions
are determined using the WLTP type test procedure.

According to internal calculations, the average CO,
emissions of the Mercedes-Benz CO, pool! in Europe
(European Union, Norway and Iceland) amounted to
109 g/km in the reporting year. The emissions were thus
significantly below the prior-year value of 115 g/km.

It should be noted that the internal calculation of the
value of 109 g/km was the first time that vehicles from
the joint venture smart Automobile Co., Ltd. were
included in the Mercedes-Benz CO, pool. Excluding
these smart vehicles, the value of 111 g/km was only
slightly below the previous year’s figure. This is due to
a more difficult than expected market environment for
electrified vehicles in Europe.

Robust demand for Top-End and all-electric vehicles
from Mercedes-Benz Cars supported the development
in unit sales and revenue, which, as expected, remained
at the previous year’s level.

The segment had expected an adjusted return on sales
of between 12 and 14%. Improved pricing, particularly in
the first half of the year, combined with continued high
cost discipline led to an adjusted return on sales of

12.6%. This confirmed the assessment made at the
beginning of the year.

At 0.9, the adjusted cash conversion rate was also
within the forecast range.

Sustained cost discipline enabled investments in prop-
erty, plant and equipment, which at the start of the year
had been expected to be significantly above the pri-
or-year level, to be held at the same level. Research and
development expenditure was also significantly higher
than in the previous year, because the new, electromo-
bility-oriented platform generation and the associated
drive concept, as well as the focus on digitalization and
automated driving, led to a higher-than-expected
increase. The company had expected research and
development expenditure to be slightly above the pri-
or-year level.
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Mercedes-Benz Vans can look back on an extraordi-
narily successful year. A continued very high demand for
Mercedes-Benz vans resulted in unit sales and revenue
significantly above those of the previous year. This
underlines the strategy of focussing on profitable
growth in the premium segment. At the beginning of the
year, unit sales were expected to be at the previous
year’s level; revenue was expected to be slightly above
the previous year’s level.

Thanks to a compelling level of product quality and util-
ity, a significant improvement in pricing, a very favoura-
ble product mix, comprehensive initiatives to reduce
costs on the product, production and company levels
and an increase in productivity, an adjusted return on
sales of 15.1% was achieved. This figure was thus
slightly above the range of between 13% and 15%,
which had already been raised significantly during the
year.

The adjusted cash conversion rate also increased to 1.0
as a result of the business performance being signifi-
cantly better than expected at the beginning of the year.

As expected, investments in property, plant and equip-
ment and research and development expenditure were
significantly higher than in the previous year.

Mercedes-Benz Mobility closed 2023 within the
expected range despite a declining interest margin due
to higher interest rates and increased competition in
the financial services sector. Furthermore, the business
activities in Russia were sold as planned, but nonethe-
less negatively impacted results. The opening of the
first Mercedes-Benz Charging Hubs in the fourth quarter
laid the foundation for the Group’s own global high-
power charging network.

Contract volume was slightly above the prior-year level.
At the beginning of the reporting year, Mercedes-Benz
Mobility had expected contract volume to decline
slightly. The main reasons for the deviation from the
forecast were the growth in the area of dealer financing
and higher average financing and leasing volumes for
new contracts.

Revenue at Mercedes-Benz Mobility was on a par with
the previous year. The original forecast of a level signifi-
cantly below the previous year was exceeded due to
higher customer income as a result of passing on
increased interest rates and a higher average financing
and leasing volume for new contracts.

With an adjusted return on equity of 12.3%, the forecast
range was achieved.
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Comparison between the figures forecast for 2023 and their actual development

Forecast for 2023

In-year adjustments

Actual development in 2023

Mercedes-Benz Group

Revenue

At the prior-year level

€153,218 million (+2%) Slightly above the prior-year level

EBIT

Slightly below the prior-year level

Q2: At the prior-year level

€19,660 million (-4%) At the prior-year level

Free cash flow of the industrial business

At the prior-year level

Q2: Slightly above the prior-year level

€11,316 million (+39%) Significantly above the prior-year level

CO, emissions of the new car fleet in Europe

Significantly below the prior-year level

111g/km (-3%) excluding smart vehicles! slightly below the prior-year level
109 g/km (-5%) including smart vehicles? significantly below the prior-year level

Mercedes-Benz Cars

Unit sales At the prior-year level 2,044,051 vehicles (+0%) At the prior-year level
Revenue At the prior-year level €112,756 million (+1%) At the prior-year level
Adjusted return on sales 12%-14% 12.6%

Adjusted cash conversion rate 0.8-1.0 0.9

Investments in property, plant and equipment

Significantly above the prior-year level

€3,345 million (+2%) At the prior-year level

Research and development expenditure

Slightly above the prior-year level

Qt: Significantly above the prior-year level

€9,099 million (+14%) Significantly above the prior-year level

Mercedes-Benz Vans

Unit sales

At the prior-year level

Q1: Slightly above the prior-year level
Q2: Significantly above the prior-year level

447,790 vehicles (+8%) Significantly above the prior-year level

Revenue

Slightly above the prior-year level

Ql: Significantly above the prior-year level

€20,288 million (+18%) Significantly above the prior-year level

QlL: 11%-13%

Adjusted return on sales 9%-11% Q2: 13%-15% 15.1%
Q1: 0.6-0.8
Adjusted cash conversion rate 0.5-0.7 Q2:0.7-0.9 1.0

Investments in property, plant and equipment

Significantly above the prior-year level

€351 million (+76%) Significantly above the prior-year level

Research and development expenditure

Significantly above the prior-year level

€873 million (+58%) Significantly above the prior-year level

Mercedes-Benz Mobility

New business

Slightly above the prior-year level

€62,014 million (+7%) Slightly above the prior-year level

Contract volume

Slightly below the prior-year level

Ql: At the prior-year level

€135,027 million (+2%) Slightly above the prior-year level

Revenue

Significantly below the prior-year level

Q1: Slightly below the prior-year level
Q3: At the prior-year level

€26,718 million (-1%) At the prior-year level

Adjusted return on equity

12%-14%

12.3%

1 The internally calculated value for 2022 did not include vehicles of the joint venture smart Automobile Co., Ltd. (smart vehicles).
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Takeover-Relevant Information and Explanation

Report pursuant to Section 315a and Section 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

Composition of share capital

The issued share capital of Mercedes-Benz Group AG
amounted to approximately €3,070 million as of

31 December 2023. It is divided into 1,069,837,447 reg-
istered no-par-value shares, each of which accounts for
approximately €2.87 of the share capital. Pursuant to
Section 67 Subsection 2 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (AktG), rights and duties relating to the Com-
pany exist from the shares only for those persons and
entities entered in the register of shareholders. With
the exception of treasury shares, from which the Com-
pany does not have any rights, all shares confer equal
rights to their holders.

The rights and obligations arising from the shares are
derived from the provisions of applicable law, in par-
ticular Sections 12, 53a ff.,118ff. and 186 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Each share of Mercedes-
Benz Group AG confers the right to one vote and, if
applicable, with the exception of any new shares poten-
tially not entitled to dividends, to an equal portion of
the profits in accordance with the dividend payout
approved by the Annual General Meeting. The only
exceptions here are the treasury shares held by the
Company. There were 28.9 mill. treasury shares held by
the company at 31 December 2023.

Restrictions on voting rights and on the transfer

of shares

The Company does not have any voting rights or other
rights from treasury shares. In the cases described in
Section 136 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG),
the voting rights are excluded by law.

Shares in Mercedes-Benz Group AG acquired by
employees within the context of the employee share
programme may not be disposed of until the end of the
following year. Eligible participants in the Performance
Phantom Share Plans (PPSPs) of Executive Level 1 and
eligible members of the Board of Management are
obliged by the Plans’ terms and conditions and by the
Stock Ownership Guidelines to acquire the Company’s
shares with a part of their Plan income or out of their
own funds up to a defined target volume. Eligible par-
ticipants from Executive Level 1 are obligated to hold
these shares for the duration of their employment

at the Group. For eligible members of the Board of
Management, the required retention period has been
extended to two years after the end of their contract
(with effect from 1 January 2023).

Provisions of applicable law and of the articles of
association concerning the appointment and
dismissal of members of the Board of Management
and amendments to the articles of association
Members of the Board of Management are appointed
and dismissed on the basis of Sections 84 and 85 of
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and Sec-
tion 31 of the German Codetermination Act (MitbestG).
In accordance with Section 84 of the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG), the members of the Board of
Management are appointed by the Supervisory Board
for a maximum period of office of five years. The rules
of procedure of the Supervisory Board stipulate that the
initial appointment of members of the Board of Man-
agement is generally limited to three years. Reappoint-
ment or the extension of a period of office is permissi-
ble, in each case for a maximum of five years. In 2022,
the Supervisory Board also adopted a flexibly struc-
tured further shortening of the appointment period in
the case of appointments and reappointments of indi-
viduals 58 years of age and older at the time their term
of office begins.



Annual Report 2023 |

Mercedes-Benz Group

Contents To Our Shareholders

Combined Management Report

Corporate Governance

Takeover-Relevant Information and

Explanation

Pursuant to Section 31 of the German Codetermination
Act (MitbestG), the Supervisory Board appoints the
members of the Board of Management with a majority
comprising at least two thirds of its members’ votes. If
no such majority is obtained, the Mediation Committee
of the Supervisory Board has to make a suggestion for
the appointment within one month of the vote by the
Supervisory Board in which the required majority was
not reached. The Supervisory Board then appoints the
members of the Board of Management with a majority
of its own members’ votes. If no such majority is
obtained, voting is repeated and the Chair of the Super-
visory Board then has two votes. The same procedure
applies for dismissals of members of the Board of Man-
agement.

In accordance with Article 5 of the articles of associa-
tion, the Board of Management has at least two mem-
bers. The number of members is decided by the Super-
visory Board. Pursuant to Section 84 Subsection 2 of
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Supervi-
sory Board can appoint a member of the Board of Man-
agement as the Chairperson of the Board of Manage-
ment. If a required member of the Board of
Management is lacking, an affected party can apply in
urgent cases for that member to be appointed by the
court pursuant to Section 85 Subsection 1 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Pursuant to Sec-
tion 84 Subsection 3 of the German Stock Corporation
Act (AktG), the Supervisory Board can revoke the
appointment of a member of the Board of Management
as the Chairperson of the Board of Management if there
is an important reason to do so.

Pursuant to Section179 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (AktG), amendments to the articles of associa-
tion require a resolution of the General Meeting and, in
accordance with Section181 Subsection 3 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG), such changes take
effect upon being entered in the commercial register.

Amendments to the articles of association that only
affect the wording can be decided upon by the Supervi-
sory Board in accordance with Article 7 Subsection 2 of
the articles of association. The General Meeting has
also passed resolutions expressly authorizing the
Supervisory Board to amend the wording of the articles
of association in accordance with the use of the
Approved Capital 2023 and the Conditional Capital
2020, as well as subsequent to the expiration of the
authorization, use, and conversion/option periods in
each case.

Unless otherwise required by applicable law or the arti-
cles of association, resolutions of the General Meeting
are passed pursuant to Section 133 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and pursuant to Article 16
Sentences 1 and 2 of the articles of association with a
simple majority of the votes cast and, if required, with a
simple majority of the share capital represented. Pursu-
ant to Article 16 Sentence 3 of the articles of associa-
tion, the dismissal of a shareholder-elected member of
the Supervisory Board requires a majority of at least
three quarters of the votes cast. Pursuant to Section 179
Subsection 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act
(AktG), any amendment to the purpose of the Company
requires a three-quarters majority of the share capital
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represented at the General Meeting; no use is made in
the articles of association of the possibility to stipulate
a larger majority of the share capital.

Authorization of the Board of Management to issue
or buy back shares

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 5 April
2018, the Board of Management was authorized, with
the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase the
share capital of the Company in the period until 4 April
2023, wholly or in partial amounts, on one or several
occasions, by up to a total of €1 billion by issuing new
registered shares of no par value in exchange for cash
or non-cash contributions, and, with the consent of the
Supervisory Board under certain conditions and within
defined limits, to exclude shareholders’ subscription
rights (Approved Capital 2018). No use was made of the
Approved Capital 2018 up to the time the authorization
period ended on 4 April 2023.

The Annual General Meeting held on 3 May 2023 again
authorized the Board of Management to increase the
share capital by up to a total of €1.0 billion in the period
until 2 May 2028 with the approval of the Supervisory
Board against cash and/or non-cash contributions
(Approved Capital 2023). The authorization enables the
exclusion of shareholders’ subscription rights under
certain conditions and within defined limits subject to
the consent of the Supervisory Board.

Under these defined conditions, subscription rights can,
among others, be excluded in the event of a capital
increase against non-cash contributions for the
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purpose of an acquisition, and in the case of a capital
increase against cash contributions if the issue price of
new shares is not significantly below the market price
at the time of issue.

The total number of shares issued against cash and/or
non-cash contributions under this authorization with
the exclusion of shareholders’ subscription rights may
not exceed 10% of the share capital at the time when
this authorization takes effect.

This limit is to include shares which (i) are issued or
sold during the period of this authorization with the
exclusion of subscription rights in direct or analogous
application of Section 186 Subsection 3 Sentence 4 of
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and which (ii)
are or can or must be issued to service bonds with con-
version or option rights or conversion or option obliga-
tions, provided that the bonds are issued after this
authorization takes effect with the exclusion of share-
holders’ subscription rights with analogous application
of Section 186 Subsection 3 Sentence 4 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

Approved Capital 2023 was not utilized within the
reporting period.

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 8 July
2020, the Board of Management was authorized, with
the consent of the Supervisory Board, to issue during
the period until 7 July 2025 convertible bonds and/or
bonds with warrants or a combination of those instru-
ments (commercial paper) in a total nominal amount of
up to €10 billion with a maximum term of ten years, and
to grant the owners/lenders of those bonds conversion
or option rights to new, registered shares of no par
value in the Company with a corresponding amount of
the share capital of up to €500 million, in accordance
with the terms and conditions of those convertible
bonds or bonds with warrants. The bonds may be
issued in exchange for consideration in cash, but also
for consideration in kind, in particular for interests in
other companies. The respective terms and conditions
may also provide for mandatory conversion or an obli-
gation to exercise the option rights. The bonds can be
issued once or several times, wholly or in instalments,
or simultaneously in various tranches. They can also be
issued by subsidiaries of the Company pursuant to Sec-
tion 15ff. of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

Among other things, the Board of Management was also
authorized under certain circumstances, within certain
limits and with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to
exclude shareholders’ subscription rights to the bonds.
Subscription rights can, under these defined conditions,
be excluded when bonds are issued in exchange for
non-cash contributions, particularly within the frame-
work of a merger or acquisition and when bonds are
issued in exchange for cash contributions if the issue
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price is not significantly below the theoretical market
price of the bonds at the time of the issuance.

Any issuance of bonds with the exclusion of subscrip-
tion rights may only be carried out under the authoriza-
tion if the arithmetical proportion of the share capital
attributable to the total of the new shares to be issued
on the basis of such a bond does not exceed 10% of the
share capital at the time when this authorization takes
effect or — if this value is lower — at the time when it is
exercised. If, during the period of the authorization until
it is exercised, use is made of other authorizations to
issue or sell shares in the Company or to issue rights
enabling or requiring subscription to shares in the Com-
pany and subscription rights are excluded, this is to be
counted towards the aforementioned 10% limit.

In order to service the debt of the convertible bonds
and/or bonds with warrants issued as a result of the
authorization, the Annual General Meeting of 8 July
2020 also approved a conditional increase in the share
capital of up to €500 million (Conditional Capital 2020).

No use was made of this authorization to issue convert-
ible and/or warrant bonds during the reporting period.
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By a further resolution of the Annual General Meeting
on 8 July 2020, the Board of Management was author-
ized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to
acquire the Company’s own shares until 7 July 2025 for
all legal purposes in a volume of up to 10% of the share
capital at the time of the resolution of the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting or — if this amount is lower — at the time
when the authorization is exercised. With the consent
of the Supervisory Board, the shares can be used, with
the exclusion of shareholders’ subscription rights, for,
among other things, corporate mergers and acquisi-
tions, or can be sold for cash to third parties at a price
that is not significantly below the market price at the
time of the sale. The acquired shares can also be used
to service debt on convertible bonds and/or bonds with
warrants, or can be issued to employees of the Com-
pany and employees and members of executive bodies
of subsidiaries pursuant to Section 15ff. of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Company’s own
shares can also be cancelled.

During the period of the authorization, the total of the
Company’s own shares used with the exclusion of
shareholders’ subscription rights may not exceed 10%
of the share capital at the time when the authorization
takes effect or — if this amount is lower — at the time
when it is exercised. If, during the period of the authori-
zation until it is exercised, use is made of other authori-
zations to issue or sell shares in the Company or to
issue rights enabling or requiring subscription to shares
in the Company and subscription rights are excluded,
this is to be counted towards the aforementioned 10%
limit.

In a volume of up to 5% of the share capital existing at
the time of the resolution of the Annual General Meet-
ing, the Board of Management was authorized, with the
consent of the Supervisory Board, to acquire the Com-
pany’s own shares also with the application of deriva-
tive financial instruments (put or call options, forwards
or a combination of these financial instruments). The
terms of the derivatives may not exceed 18 months and
must be terminated at the latest on 7 July 2025.

This authorization was made use of to acquire the Com-
pany’s own shares during the reporting period. With the
approval of the Supervisory Board, the Board of Man-
agement resolved a share buyback programme on

16 February 2023. The acquisition of treasury shares
worth up to €4 billion (not including incidental costs)
on the stock exchange over a period of up to two years
began on 3 March 2023. The repurchased shares are to
be cancelled at a later date. From March to December
2023, as part of the share buyback programme,

28.9 million of the Company’s own shares were repur-
chased, representing 2.7% of the share capital.
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Material agreements subject to change of control
Mercedes-Benz Group AG has concluded various mate-
rial agreements, as listed below, that include clauses
regulating the possible event of a change of control, as
can occur, amoung others, as a result of a takeover bid:

- A non-utilized syndicated credit line for a total
amount of €11 billion, which the lenders are entitled
to terminate if (i) Mercedes-Benz Group AG becomes
a subsidiary of another company, or (ii) Mercedes-
Benz Group AG becomes controlled either individually
or jointly by one or more persons acting together. For
the purposes of the syndicated credit line, subsidiary
in relation to a company means another company (i)
that is controlled directly or indirectly by the
first-mentioned company, (ii) of which more than 50%
of the subscribed share capital (or other equity) is
held directly or indirectly by the first-mentioned com-
pany, or (iii) which is a subsidiary of another subsidi-
ary of the first-mentioned company. Control for the
purposes of the syndicated credit line means (i) the
right to determine the affairs of a company, (ii) the
right to control the composition of the managing
board or similar bodies, or (iii) the right to control the
composition of the supervisory board (if elected by
the shareholders).

- A master cooperation agreement on wide-ranging
strategic cooperation with Renault S.A., Renault-Nis-
san B.V. and Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., as well as with
Mitsubishi Motors Corporation. In the case of a
change of control of one of the parties to the agree-
ment, each of the other parties has the right to
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terminate the agreement. A change of control as
defined by the master cooperation agreement occurs
if a third party or several third parties acting jointly
acquire, legally or economically, directly or indirectly,
at least 50% of the voting rights in the company in
question or are authorized to appoint a majority of
the members of its managing board. Under the master
cooperation agreement, several cooperation agree-
ments were concluded between Mercedes-Benz
Group AG on the one side and Renault and/or Nissan
on the other, which provide for the right of termina-
tion for a party to the agreement in the case of a
change of control of another party. With the excep-
tion of the master cooperation agreement, the afore-
mentioned cooperation agreements were transferred
from the former Daimler AG to Mercedes-Benz AG in
2019.

- An agreement with BAIC Motor Co., Ltd. related to a
jointly held company for the production and distribu-
tion of cars of the Mercedes-Benz brand in China, by
which BAIC Motor Co., Ltd. is given the right to termi-
nate the agreement or exercise a put or call option in
the case that a third party acquires one third or more
of the voting rights in Mercedes-Benz Group AG.

- An agreement between Mercedes-Benz Group AG,
BMW AG and Audi AG related to the acquisition of the
companies of the HERE Group and the associated
establishment of There Holding B.V. In the event of a
change of control of one of the parties to the agree-
ment, the agreement obliges the party in question to
offer its shares in There Holding B.V. to the other

parties to the agreement (shareholders). A change of
control of Mercedes-Benz Group AG occurs if one
person gains control over Mercedes-Benz Group AG,
whereby control is defined as (i) having control of
more than 50% of the voting rights, (ii) being able to
control more than 50% of the voting rights eligible to
vote at the General Meetings on all or nearly all mat-
ters, or (iii) the right to determine the majority of the
members of the Board of Management or of the
Supervisory Board. A change of control also occurs if
competitors of the HERE Group or certain possible
competitors of the HERE Group in the technology
industry acquire a shareholding of at least 25% of
Mercedes-Benz Group AG. If none of the other parties
acquire these shares, the agreement gives them the
right to dissolve There Holding B.V.

An agreement between Mercedes-Benz Group AG and
BMW AG which contains basic provisions for joint
ventures between Mercedes-Benz Mobility Ser-

vices GmbH and group companies of BMW AG in the
field of mobility services (one joint venture each in
the areas of ride hailing and charging as well as a joint
venture that is structured as a holding for the afore-
mentioned joint ventures). A change of control is
defined as the acquisition by a third party of more
than 50% of the voting rights or shares, or the conclu-
sion of a control agreement over Mercedes-Benz
Group AG by a third party. In the event of a change of
control, the contract includes mechanisms that can
lead to sole ownership by one of the shareholders
(shoot-out process).

134

Further Information



Annual Report 2023 |

Mercedes-Benz Group

Contents To Our Shareholders

Outlook

Outlook

The statements made in the Outlook chapter are based
on the plans of the Mercedes-Benz Group for 2024 as
approved by the Board of Management with the agree-
ment of the Supervisory Board. These plans are based
on the premises the company sets regarding the eco-
nomic situation and the development of automotive
markets. It involves assessments made by the Group,
which are based on analyses by various renowned eco-
nomic research institutes, international organizations
and industry associations, as well as on the internal
market analyses of the Group sales companies.

The premises regarding the economic situation and the
development of automotive markets continue to be
characterized by an exceptional degree of uncertainty.
In addition to unexpected macroeconomic develop-
ments, uncertainties for the global economy and the
business development of the Mercedes-Benz Group
may arise in particular from geopolitical events and
trade policy. Among them are the current Middle East
conflict, the Russia-Ukraine war and other potential
regional crises. Other uncertainties that are particularly
worth mentioning include an exacerbation of tensions
between the United States and China and a further
deterioration of political relations between the Euro-
pean Union and China.
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Further supply chain disruptions and, in particular,
availability bottlenecks for critical components remain
significant risk factors. Sharp rises in energy and com-
modity prices, higher-than-expected inflation rates and
interest rates, potential disruptions of the financial
market and an even more pronounced slowdown in
economic growth in individual regions or worldwide
may also have an impact on the development of the
world economy and the automotive markets.

The risks and opportunities that can arise as a result of
deviations from the forecasts of the development of the
world economy and automotive markets that are pre-
sented below are described in the Risk and Opportunity
Report.

The continuous planning process makes it possible for
the Group to ensure that available opportunities can be
exploited and that the organization can respond appro-
priately to unexpected risks. This in turn means that
expectations regarding anticipated business develop-
ment can be adjusted in line with the latest forecasts of
the development of automotive markets.
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The world economy
and automotive markets

The world economy

The Group expects the world economy to continue to
grow at a slower pace in 2024. This slowdown will mainly
be driven by the major industrial countries, whose eco-
nomic development, at least in the first half of the
year, will likely be affected by persistently high inter-
est rates. In contrast, the monetary easing cycle that
started in numerous emerging markets in 2023, should
serve to support economic growth in those countries.

With regard to the euro zone, the absence of monetary
and fiscal policy stimuli can be expected to lead to
continued economic weakness in the first half of the
year at least. Given the insufficient order situation and
persistently high interest rates, no real recovery to
speak of can be expected for industrial sectors in par-
ticular. Similarly to the situation in 2023, economic out-
put for the year as a whole is expected to increase only
slightly in 2024.
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The dampening effects of the previous interest rate
hikes in the United States will likely become more
apparent, since they will no longer be cushioned by
positive fiscal measures as had been the case in 2023.
For the year as a whole, the Mercedes-Benz Group
therefore expects the US economy to grow by less than
in 2023.

The Chinese economy is likely to be weighed down
again in 2024 by the continued consolidation of the
country’s real estate sector and by less dynamic
demand from abroad. China can therefore be expected
to record lower overall growth this year than in 2023.

In the light of these developments, the growth of the
world economy is expected to be 2 to 2.5% in the cur-
rent year — significantly below the long-term average.
This is all the more likely in light of the fact that no posi-
tive effects to speak of can be expected in 2024 as a
result of government stimulus measures or a further fall
in prices for energy and raw materials.
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Automotive markets

These restrained macroeconomic conditions are likely
to have an increasingly negative effect on the growth of
automotive markets around the world. Last year, the
normalization of global vehicle production and the
reduction of order backlogs that had accumulated dur-
ing the COVID-19 pandemic had a favourable effect on
sales development in various markets. This year, how-
ever, the impact of weaker consumer demand will likely
become increasingly noticeable on the world’s automo-
tive markets.

We can therefore expect to see only slight growth in the
global car market compared with the previous year.
Following a double-digit increase in 2023, a market vol-
ume only slightly above the prior year’s level is now
expected for Europe in the current year. Unit sales for
the US light vehicle market are also likely to slightly
exceed the level recorded in the previous year. A slight
increase in market volume is also expected for China.

Growth in key van markets is expected to slow notice-
ably in 2024. In Europe, the market segment for mid-
size and large vans is likely to remain at the previous
year’s level. The segment for small vans in Europe is
expected to expand slightly. The US market for large
vans will likely remain at the same level as in the prior
year. On the other hand, significant growth can be
expected for the mid-size van segment in China.
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Outlook for the
key performance indicators

Mercedes-Benz Group
The Mercedes-Benz Group expects to generate revenue
in 2024 that is on the level of the previous year.

Based on the development of the different segments,
the Group expects EBIT to be slightly lower than in the
previous year in what will remain a challenging market
environment.

The free cash flow of the industrial business reached
a very high level in 2023. The automotive segments are
also planning significantly higher investments in prop-
erty, plant and equipment than in the previous year.

As a result, the Mercedes-Benz Group expects the free
cash flow of the industrial business in 2024 to be
slightly below the prior-year level.
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Mercedes-Benz Cars

Mercedes-Benz Cars expects unit sales in 2024 to be
at the level of the previous year. The share of electri-
fied vehicles (XEV) in total unit sales is expected to
range between 19% and 21%.

The development of revenue at Mercedes-Benz Cars is
in line with the sales forecast and is expected to be at
the previous year’s level.

With stable pricing and declining raw material prices,
but also inflation- and demand-related additional costs
in the supply chain and a slight decline in the used car
business, Mercedes-Benz Cars anticipates an adjusted
return on sales of between 10% and 12% based on the
expected sales development.

The adjusted cash conversion rate for Mercedes-Benz
Cars is expected to be within a range of between 0.8
and 1.0 for the year 2024.

Mercedes-Benz Cars anticipates a significant increase
in investments in property, plant and equipment in
2024. The key drivers here are primarily investments in
new vehicle architectures, the electrification of the
product portfolio, and the expansion of digitalization.
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The transformation towards a sustainable business
strategy means that research and development costs
in 2024 are expected to be at the previous year’s level.

Mercedes-Benz Vans

Due to macroeconomic uncertainties, Mercedes-Benz
Vans expects unit sales in 2024 to be slightly below
the prior-year level. The share of electrified vehicles
(xEV) in total unit sales is expected to be increased to
between 6% and 8% by the all-electric models eCitan
and EQT (WLTP: combined energy consumption 100
kWh/km: 20,7-19,3; combined CO, emissions: 0 g/km;
CO, class: A) and the new eSprinter.

Due to its focus on profitable growth, Mercedes-Benz
Vans expects revenue in 2024 to be at the prior-year
level.

The continued high level of cost discipline is having
positive effects, while opposing advance expenditure
for the new all-electric van architecture VAN.EA is hav-
ing a negative impact. In total, this results in a planned
adjusted return on sales of between 12% and 14%.

The adjusted cash conversion rate for the Mercedes-
Benz Vans division is expected to be within a range of
0.6 to 0.8.
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The Mercedes-Benz Vans division anticipates a signifi-
cant increase in investments in property, plant and
equipment in 2024. This increase will be primarily
driven by the further transition to an all-electric
Mercedes-Benz Vans fleet of the next generation.

Mercedes-Benz Vans also expects a significant
increase in the area of research and development
expenditure in 2024. The focus of research and
development is on electric drive systems, automated
driving and digitalization.

Mercedes-Benz Mobility

Mercedes-Benz Mobility expects a slight increase in
new business in 2024, while contract volume and
revenue will remain at the prior-year level.

Adjusted return on equity is expected to be within a
range of between 10% and 12% in 2024. The forecast
decrease compared to the previous year is mainly due
to an expected drop in interest result and expenses for
the further expansion of charging activities.
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Dividend

In line with a sustainable dividend policy, the
Mercedes-Benz Group sets the dividend based on a
distribution ratio of 40% of the net profit attributable to
Mercedes-Benz Group shareholders. The free cash flow
from the industrial business is also taken into consider-
ation when setting the dividend.

At the Annual General Meeting to take place on 8 May
2024, the Board of Management and the Supervisory
Board will propose the payment of a dividend of €5.30

per share entitled to a dividend for the year 2023 (2022:

€5.20). Subject to further share buybacks prior to the
Annual General Meeting 2024, this represents a total
distribution of €5.5 billion (2022: €5.6 billion).
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2023 reporting year

Forecast for 2024

Mercedes-Benz Group

Revenue! €153,218 million At the prior-year level
EBIT! €19,660 million Slightly below the prior-year level
Free cash flow of the industrial business! €11,316 million Slightly below the prior-year level

Mercedes-Benz Cars

Unit sales! 2,044,051 vehicles At the prior-year level

Share of electrified vehicles (xEV)b?2 20% 19-21%

Revenue €112,756 million At the prior-year level

Adjusted return on sales 12.6% 10-12%

Adjusted cash conversion rate 0.9 0.8-1.0

Investments in property, plant and equipment! €3,345 million Significantly above the prior-year level
Research and development expenditure! €9,099 million At the prior-year level

Mercedes-Benz Vans

Unit sales!

447790 vehicles

Slightly below the prior-year level

Share of electrified vehicles (xEV)b?2

5%

6-8%

Revenue €20,288 million At the prior-year level

Adjusted return on sales 15.1% 12-14%

Adjusted cash conversion rate 1.0 0.6-0.8

Investments in property, plant and equipment! €351 million Significantly above the prior-year level
Research and development expenditure! €873 million Significantly above the prior-year level
Mercedes-Benz Mobility

New business! €62,014 million Slightly above the prior-year level

Contract volume

€135,027 million

At the prior-year level

Revenue

€26,718 million

At the prior-year level

Adjusted return on equity*

12.3%

10-12%

1 Key performance indicator.

2 Replaces the previous key performance indicator, CO, emissions of the new car fleet in Europe, from 2024.

Further Information
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Overall statement on future
development

The Mercedes-Benz Group will continue to concentrate
on achieving profitable growth in the coming years in
the market for luxury cars and premium vans, as well as
for sales financing. The Group believes that the focus
on vehicles in the Top-End and Core product categories
will make it possible to achieve sustainable solid
results, even in a challenging market environment.

The Mercedes-Benz Group is consistently moving
ahead with its efficiency measures in order to ensure
it can cover the high level of advance expenditure that
is required for the necessary transformation towards
an all-electric future. Furthermore, the Group believes
that the gradual and sustainable improvement of price
and product positioning, especially with regard to the
electrified vehicle portfolio, will enable it to overcome
the challenges it will face as part of the transformation
towards an all-electric future.

Against this backdrop and supported by the Group’s
brand strengths and innovative capabilities, the
Mercedes-Benz Group looks forward with confidence
to the year 2024.
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Risk and Opportunity Report

The Mercedes-Benz Group is exposed to a large number
of risks that are directly linked with the business activi-
ties of Mercedes-Benz Group AG and its subsidiaries or
that result from external influences. The Group under-
stands a risk as the danger that events, developments
or actions will prevent the Group or one of its segments
from achieving its targets. The risks include both mone-
tary and non-monetary risks.

At the same time, it is important to identify opportuni-
ties in order to safeguard and enhance the competitive-
ness of the Mercedes-Benz Group. The Group defines
an opportunity as the possibility, due to events, devel-
opments or actions, of safeguarding or surpassing the
planned targets of the Group or of a segment.

In order to identify business risks and opportunities at
an early stage and to assess and manage them actively,
the Board of Management applies appropriate and
effective management and control systems, which have
been brought together in an overall risk and opportunity
management system. Risks and opportunities are not
offset.

Risk and opportunity
management system and
internal control system

Overview of the Mercedes-Benz
Group’s control and monitoring
system

The Mercedes-Benz Group as a whole pursues the
three-line model to ensure an integrated control and
monitoring system.

The operating units in the form of the individual seg-
ments, Group functions, organizational units and Group
companies form the first line. Their task is to ensure the
implementation of internal and external guidelines, and
they are responsible for the implementation of controls,
operational risk management and risk management
processes in their respective units.
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In the second line, the risk management system, the
accounting-related internal control system, the compli-
ance management system, Group Security and Global
Cyber & Information Security act as governance func-
tions.

They define the corresponding minimum requirements
and standards for methods, processes and systems for
use in the first line and set the framework for coopera-
tion. Their tasks also include regular reporting to the
Board of Management and the Supervisory Board. They
also support the first line in the corresponding imple-
mentation.

In the third line, Corporate Audit monitors the appro-
priateness and effectiveness of the implemented
processes and the governance functions of the first
and second lines through independent and risk-ori-
ented audits. It monitors whether the statutory condi-
tions and the Group’s internal policies concerning the
control and risk management system of the Group are
adhered to and the associated processes are appro-
priately designed. If required, measures are initiated in
cooperation with the respective management.
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The Group Risk Management Committee (GRMC) is
responsible for ensuring the continuous improvement
of the risk management system and the internal control
system (including the compliance management system)
and for assessing their appropriateness and effective- Board Of Management
ness with regard to the Group’s risk situation and the
scope of the business activities. It is chaired by the
members of the Board of Management of Mercedes-
Benz Group AG responsible for Finance & Controlling/ A

Supervisory Board/Audit Committee

Mercedes-Benz Mobility and Integrity, Governance & T —— E—— E
Sustainability. In addition, the GRMC, was composed as Operational.units Governance fu;lctions Independent.audit g.i
of 31 December 2023 of representatives from =
Mercedes-Benz Group Finance, the Legal Affairs depart- Risk management system g
ment, the Compliance unit, Corporate Security, Global -
Cyber & Information Security and the member respon- Internal control system (ICS)*

sible for finance of the Board of Management at ngfi':ft';z;s

Mercedes-Benz Mobility AG. The Corporate Audit Organizational units Compliance management system Corporate Audit

department contributes material findings on the inter- and entities

nal control and risk management system. Corporate Security

The Board of Management, Audit Committee and Global Cyber & Information Security
Supervisory Board are informed regularly and as
needed about potential significant control weaknesses, Ensurin_g compli‘ancg with external andP Definition ?f requireme_nts «—
the appropriateness and effectiveness of the imple- internal requirements by and support of the 1st line

mented controls and the risk situation. The Audit Com-
mittee and the Supervisory Board of Mercedes-Benz | |
Group AG and the Supervisory Boards of Mercedes-
Benz AG and Mercedes-Benz Mobility AG are responsi- * Internal control system with regard to the accounting process (ICS).
ble for monitoring the internal control and risk manage-
ment system, including its appropriateness and
effectiveness.

Performance of
independent audits

performance of controls during implementation
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External auditors audit the system for the early identi-
fication of risks, which is integrated in the risk manage-
ment system, for its general suitability to identify risks
threatening the existence of the Group. In addition, in
the context of the audit of the consolidated financial
statements, they report to the Audit Committee and the
Supervisory Board on any significant weaknesses that
have been recognized in the accounting-related internal
control and risk management system.

Risk and opportunity
management system

The risk management system is intended to systemati-
cally and continually identify, assess, control, monitor
and report on risks threatening the Mercedes-Benz
Group’s existence and other material risks jeopardizing
the Group’s success, in order to support the achieve-
ment of corporate targets and to enhance risk aware-
ness at the Group. This also includes risks and opportu-
nities related to environmental and employee issues as
well as social factors (environmental, social and gov-
ernance — ESG).

The opportunity management system at the
Mercedes-Benz Group is based on the risk management
system. The objective of opportunity management is to
recognize the possible opportunities arising in business
activities resulting from positive developments at an
early stage, and to use them in the best possible way
for the Group by taking appropriate measures. By taking

advantage of opportunities, planned targets should be
met or exceeded.

The risk and opportunity management system is inte-
grated into the value-based management and planning
system of the Mercedes-Benz Group and is a fixed com-
ponent of the overall planning, management and
reporting process in the companies, segments and cor-
porate functions.

The responsibility for operational risk management and
for the risk management processes is borne by the first
line and thus by the segments, corporate functions,
organizational units and companies. They report on the
specific risks and opportunities to the next-higher level
unit on a regular basis. Significant unexpected risks
must be reported immediately. Risks and opportunities
are managed within the Group by means of measures
taken by the units responsible. The profitability of a
measure is assessed before its implementation.

The possible impact and probability of occurrence of all
risks and opportunities and the related measures that
have been initiated are continually monitored. This
information is passed on to Group Risk Management for
reporting to the Board of Management, the Audit Com-
mittee and the Supervisory Board. Mercedes-Benz
Group AG monitors implementation by the segments as
part of its legal, regulatory and compliance functions.
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As part of the planning process, risks and opportunities
are recorded within an observation horizon of up to five
years. Matters that have already been fully taken into
account in planning or for which a provision has been
recognized are not considered in connection with the
risk management process. In addition, strategic risks
and opportunities are also taken into account in the risk
management process.

The Risk and Opportunity Report relates to 2024. The
assessment of individual risks and opportunities takes
place on the basis of their probability of occurrence and
possible impact on the Mercedes-Benz Group. Multiply-
ing the probability of occurrence by the possible impact
results in the expected value, which forms the basis for
the classification in risk and opportunity categories. In
principle, the quantification of risks and opportunities in
this report is carried out by summarizing the expected
values of the individual risks and opportunities in cate-
gories. The assessment of the level of risks and oppor-
tunities takes into account both planned and already
effective risk-reducing measures (net view) and is con-
sidered in relation to EBIT, unless otherwise indicated.

Risk and opportunity management is based on the prin-
ciple of completeness. This means that all identified
risks and opportunities are incorporated into the risk
management process via the operating units of the seg-
ments, the significant associated companies, joint ven-
tures and joint operations as well as the corporate
departments. The scope of consolidation for risk and
opportunity management generally corresponds to the
scope of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In order to assess the Group’s risk-bearing capacity,
the potential effects of the risks on earnings, with con-
sideration of correlation effects, are analysed using a
Monte Carlo simulation (confidence level: 99%). The
risks are compared with the reported equity of the
Mercedes-Benz Group as a risk cover.

In identifying sustainability-related risks and oppor-
tunities, Mercedes-Benz Group AG is guided by the
topics identified by the materiality assessment and thus
includes the areas of action of the sustainable business
strategy, for which concrete goals have been assigned.
Sustainability-related risks and opportunities are
understood to be conditions, events or developments
related to environmental and employee issues as well
as social factors (environmental, social and govern-
ance — ESG), the occurrence of which may have an
actual or potential impact on the Mercedes-Benz
Group’s profitability, cash flows and financial position,
as well as on its reputation. ESG-related risks associ-
ated with business activities, business relationships
and products and services, and which are very likely to
have a serious negative impact on non-financial
aspects in accordance with Section 289c¢ of the German
Commercial Code (HGB), are not currently apparent.

Climate-related risks and opportunities in connec-
tion with the recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) are associ-
ated with environmental issues and are thus also iden-
tified and assessed as part of the risk management pro-
cess.

Internal control system

The Mercedes-Benz Group’s internal control system
encompasses, in addition to the accounting-related
internal control system, controls for further business
processes. There are also internal controls for Group-
wide processes of Corporate Security, Global Cyber &
Information Security, and the Group-wide compliance
management system. Sustainability-related aspects are
also part of the internal control system. Moreover, the
structure and processes of the internal control system
are independently checked by Corporate Audit.

The security risk management of Corporate Security is
integrated into the risk management system of the
Mercedes-Benz Group. The aim is to identify and evalu-
ate security-relevant risks at the company’s global loca-
tions on the basis of a risk-oriented view and to control
them by means of mitigating measures. To this end,
Corporate Security implemented internal controls for
various security-related issues. These include the areas
of property security, fire protection and crisis manage-
ment and serve to protect the lives and physical integ-
rity of people and to protect company assets, business
processes and company knowledge.
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The Mercedes-Benz Group operates an Information
Security Management System (ISMS) with the aim of
adequately protecting important information and criti-
cal IT services. The ISMS is based on internationally
recognized standards and is continuously developed
further. Operationally, the ISMS is supported by proac-
tive and reactive operational measures. Proactive oper-
ational measures include, in particular, training and
measures to inform and raise awareness among
employees and functionaries, a comprehensive set of
information security rules and technical and organiza-
tional measures to secure critical IT infrastructures, IT
systems and applications. One focus of the reactive
operational measures is the Cyber Intelligence &
Response Center, which is staffed around the clock to
defend against cyber attacks and deal with cyber secu-
rity incidents.

The compliance management system, which has an
interface to the risk management system, is aligned
with the risk situation of the Mercedes-Benz Group and
aims to promote rule-compliant behaviour within the
company. The compliance management system makes
a significant contribution to the integration of compli-
ance into our operating business units and their pro-
cesses. Further information on the compliance manage-
ment system of the Mercedes-Benz Group can be found
in the Non-Financial Declaration chapter.
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The internal control system with regard to the
accounting process has the objective of ensuring the
appropriateness and effectiveness of accounting and
financial reporting. It is designed in line with the inter-
nationally recognized framework for internal control
systems of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO Internal Control —
Integrated Framework), is continually developed further,
and is an integral part of the accounting and financial
reporting processes in the segments, corporate func-
tions, organizational units and companies. The system
includes principles and procedures as well as preven-
tive and detective controls.

The effectiveness of the internal control system with
regard to the accounting process is systematically eval-
uated. It begins with a risk analysis and a control defini-
tion with the aim of identifying significant risks for the
accounting and financial reporting processes in the
main legal entities and corporate functions. The neces-
sary controls are then defined and documented in
accordance with Group-wide guidelines. In order to
assess the effectiveness of the controls, tests are car-
ried out regularly on the basis of random samples.
These form the basis for a self-assessment of whether
the controls are appropriately designed and effective.
The results of this self-assessment are documented and
reported in a Group-wide IT system. Identified control
weaknesses are eliminated, taking into account their
potential impact. The selected legal entities and corpo-
rate functions confirm the effectiveness of the internal
control system with regard to the accounting process at
the end of the annual cycle. The Board of Management

and the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board are
regularly informed about significant control weaknesses
and the effectiveness of the control mechanisms.

Appropriateness and effectiveness
of the internal control
and risk management system

Continuous monitoring of the processes and systems of
the internal control and the risk management system is
in effect to resolve identified weaknesses in the finan-
cial year and ensure continuous improvement of the
processes and systems. As a result of the complex pro-
cess landscape and the high rate of change of the legal
requirements concerning non-financial information, the
maturity of the internal control system with regard to
the sustainability-relevant aspects in particular is not
yet on the level of the accounting-related internal con-
trol system. As of the reporting date, taking into
account the scope of the business operations and the
risk situation of the company, in all material respects
there are no indications of an overall inappropriateness
or ineffectiveness of the internal control and risk man-
agement system.
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The effectiveness of any risk management and control
system is subject to inherent limitations. No system —
even if it has been assessed as appropriate and effec-
tive — can guarantee that all risks that actually occur
will be detected in advance or that all process viola-
tions will be excluded under all circumstances.

Further Information
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Risks and opportunities

The following section describes risks and opportunities
that could have a significant influence on the profitabil-
ity, cash flows and financial position of the Mercedes-
Benz Group in the year 2024. In general, the reporting
of risks and opportunities not covered in the Outlook
takes place in relation to the individual segments
Mercedes-Benz Cars, Mercedes-Benz Vans and
Mercedes-Benz Mobility. If no segment is explicitly
mentioned, the risks and opportunities described relate
to all the segments. Based on the expected value, the
reported risks and opportunities per category are
aggregated into the levels “low”, “medium” and “high”
for the Mercedes-Benz Group.

Quantification of the risks and opportunities based on the expected
value for each category

Level Expected value
Low <€500 million
Medium > €500 million to €1 billion

High > €1 billion

The following table shows the specific classification of
the aggregated risks and opportunities in the respective
categories based on the above-mentioned interval lim-
its. In addition to the risks and opportunities described
below, risks and opportunities that are not yet known or
classified as not material can also influence profitability,
cash flows and financial position in the future.

Risk and opportunities Mercedes-Benz Group

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Classification of the expected

value for the year 2023

Category

Risk Opportunity

Risk Opportunity

Industry and business risks and opportunities

General market risks and opportunities High High High High
Risks and opportunities relating to the legal and political framework High Low High Low
Procurement market risks and opportunities High Low High Low
Company-specific risks and opportunities

Risks and opportunities from research and development Medium Low Low Low
Production risks and opportunities Low Low Medium Low
Risks and opportunities from purchasing and logistics High Low High Low
Information technology risks and opportunities Medium Low Low Low
Personnel risks and opportunities Low Low Low Low
Risks and opportunities related to equity investments and cooperations

with partnerships Medium Low Medium Low
Financial risks and opportunities

Exchange-rate risks and opportunities Low Low Low Low
Interest-rate risks and opportunities Low Low Low Low
Commodity-price risks and opportunities! - - Low Low
Credit risks Low - Low -
Country risks Medium - High -
Risks of restricted access to capital markets Low - Low -
Risks and opportunities from changes in credit ratings Low Low Low Low
Risks and opportunities relating to pension plans Medium Medium High High
Legal and tax risks and opportunities?

Legal risks High - High -
Tax risks and opportunities Medium Low Medium Low

1 Commodity-price risks and opportunities were reported in the Procurement market risks and opportunities category as of 31 December 2023.
2 The classification of legal risks and tax risks and opportunities is shown in the table for the first time as of 31 December 2023.
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Industry and business risks
and opportunities

General market risks and opportunities

The risks and opportunities for the economic develop-
ment of automotive markets are strongly affected by
the cyclical situation of the global economy. The
assessment of market risks and opportunities is linked
to forecasts about the overall economic conditions and
the development of the automotive markets in which
the Mercedes-Benz Group is active. These assumptions
are described in detail in the “Outlook” section. The
possibility of markets developing better or worse than
in the internal forecasts and assumptions, or of chang-
ing market conditions, generally exists for all segments
of the Group.

Possible declines in vehicle sales may be caused in
particular by an unfavourable macroeconomic environ-
ment for the Mercedes-Benz Group and in the context
of political or economic uncertainties. In addition to
weaker economic growth overall, factors such as high
energy prices, high inflation and interest rates, and vol-
atile exchange rates may lead to market uncertainty or
a loss of purchasing power and have a negative impact
on demand in the automotive sector. A lower-than-ex-
pected market acceptance of electric vehicles can also
lead to risks in the development of unit sales and have
a negative impact on earnings. This could also endanger
the achievement of specific CO, targets. Industrial pol-
icy measures to strengthen local value creation in vari-
ous countries, as well as government purchase

incentives for locally produced electric vehicles, can
result in competitive disadvantages and declining vehi-
cle sales in the respective markets. The development of
markets, unit sales and inventories is continually ana-
lysed and monitored by the automotive segments; if
necessary, specific marketing and sales programmes
are implemented.

Volatilities with regard to market developments can

also lead to the overall market or regional conditions for
the automotive industry developing better than
assumed in the internal forecasts and premises, result-
ing in business opportunities in the market. Opportuni-
ties may also arise from an improvement in the compet-
itive situation or a more positive development of
demand. The utilization of opportunities is supported
by sales and marketing campaigns.

The launch of new products by competitors, more
aggressive pricing policies and less effective pricing for
products such as electric vehicles can lead to increas-
ing competitive and price pressure in the automotive
segments and have a negative impact on profitability.
The discontinuation or reduction of government subsi-
dies for electric vehicles can also negatively affect their
pricing and cut profit margins. There is also a risk of
delayed market introduction of new technologies in
vehicles. Continuous monitoring is carried out in order
to recognize risks at an early stage. Depending on the
situation, product-specific and possibly regionally dif-
ferent measures are taken to support weaker markets.
Opportunities exist in particular in the Mercedes-Benz

Consolidated Financial Statements

146

Further Information

Cars segment due to better-than-planned effective
pricing of vehicles.

In connection with the sale of vehicles, the Mercedes-
Benz Group offers customers a wide range of financ-
ing and leasing options. The resulting risks for the
Mercedes-Benz Mobility segment are mainly due to
borrowers’ worsening creditworthiness, so receivables
might not be recoverable in whole or in part because
of customers’ insolvency (default or credit risk).

The Mercedes-Benz Group counteracts credit risks by
means of creditworthiness checks on the basis of
standardized scoring and rating methods, the collater-
alization of receivables, and effective risk manage-
ment with a firm focus on monitoring both internal
and macroeconomic leading indicators.

In connection with leasing agreements, risks and
opportunities also arise due to the development of the
used vehicle markets. These result when the market
value of a leased vehicle at the end of the agreement
term differs from the residual value that was originally
calculated and forecast on the basis of specific
assumptions at the time the agreement was concluded
and used as a basis for the leasing instalments. Residu-
al-value management processes have been defined to
counteract these risks relating to vehicles’ residual
values. Depending on the region and the current mar-
ket situation, the measures taken generally include con-
tinuous market monitoring as well as, if required,
price-setting strategies or sales promotion measures
designed to regulate vehicle inventories. The quality of
market forecasts is verified by comparisons of internal
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and external sources, and, if required, the determina-
tion of residual values is adjusted and further devel-
oped with regard to methods, processes and systems.

Risks and opportunities relating to the legal and
political framework

Risks and opportunities from the legal and political
framework have a considerable influence on the
Mercedes-Benz Group’s future business success. Regu-
lations concerning vehicles’ emissions, fuel consump-
tion, safety and certification, as well as tariff aspects
and taxes in connection with the sale or purchase of
vehicles or vehicle parts, play an important role. Geo-
political tensions can also have a significant impact on
the business activities of an international company
such as the Mercedes-Benz Group.

The Mercedes-Benz Group constantly monitors the
development of the legal and political framework and
attempts to anticipate foreseeable requirements and
long-term objectives at an early stage in the product
development process. In particular, changes in the legal
and political framework at short notice can be associ-
ated with additional costs or higher investments.

Legal limits on the fuel consumption and/or CO, emis-
sions of car fleets exist in many markets, although the
target values differ from market to market. Non-compli-
ance with regulations applicable in the various markets
might result in significant penalties and reputational
harm, and might even mean that vehicles with conven-
tional drive systems could not or could no longer be
registered in the relevant markets. The Mercedes-Benz
Group counteracts this risk through the transformation
towards electric mobility and the associated realign-
ment of its product portfolio. Mercedes-Benz Cars and
Mercedes-Benz Vans face the described risks with
respect to regulations concerning mandatory targets for
the average fleet fuel consumption and CO, emissions
of new vehicles especially in the markets of China,
Europe and the United States. The Mercedes-Benz
Group gives these targets due consideration in its prod-
uct and sales planning. The market success of alterna-
tive drive systems is greatly influenced not only by cus-
tomer acceptance but also by regional market
conditions such as the battery-charging infrastructure,
state support and tax conditions.
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Political tensions and the associated danger of geopo-
litical conflicts continue to be high and are associ-
ated with far-reaching risks for the business develop-
ment of the Mercedes-Benz Group. A further
escalation of tensions between China and the United
States and between China and the EU, the possible
further escalation of the war between Russia and
Ukraine and, above all, the conflict in the Middle East,
the flare-up of further regional conflicts and a possible
military or non-military escalation in the entire South
China Sea could lead to renewed tensions in supply
chains, even higher energy prices, renewed pressure
on inflation rates and a further deterioration in the
growth outlook. A further escalation and possible geo-
graphical expansion of the Russia-Ukraine war could
especially have a negative impact on purchasing and
logistics processes and on the production and sales
programme. A possible bottleneck in energy supply in
the EU could also lead to potential production losses
at the Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-Benz Vans
plants. The above-mentioned risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis and mitigation measures, such as
substituting other energy sources for gas or imple-
menting energy-saving measures, are initiated accord-
ingly; possible scenarios are continuously adjusted to
the current geopolitical situation and analysed.
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Individual countries may attempt to defend and
improve their competitiveness in the world’s markets by
increasingly resorting to interventionist and protec-
tionist measures. For example, setting up or expanding
production facilities, increasing local purchasing or
introducing a requirement to carry out local research
and development can result in significantly increased
investment or higher running costs. In addition, barriers
to market access such as more difficult or delayed cer-
tification processes or very complicated tariff proce-
dures can make it more difficult to import into those
countries. Investing in those countries can limit the
impact of protectionist measures.

Procurement market risks and opportunities

Risks and opportunities relating to procurement arise
for the automotive segments in particular from fluctua-
tions in prices of commodities, raw materials and
energy. Certain raw materials and components are
required for the manufacture of vehicles and parts and
are purchased on the world market. The level of costs
depends on the price development of commodities,
raw materials and energy, and can result in both oppor-
tunities and risks for the Mercedes-Benz Group.

For 2024, there are still risks from inflation-related
increases in raw material and energy prices, which
could lead to higher procurement costs. Furthermore,
intense competition for specific raw materials in the
course of the introduction of new technologies can lead
to increasing costs or possible shortages in the supply
chain. Raw-material markets can always be impacted
by uncertainties and political crises — combined with

possible supply bottlenecks — as well as by volatile
demand for specific raw materials. The ability to pass
on the higher costs of commodities and other materials
in the form of higher prices for manufactured vehicles is
limited because of strong competitive pressure in the
international automotive markets. Rising raw-material
prices may therefore have a negative impact on the
profit margins of the vehicles sold and thus lead to
lower earnings in the respective segment. In order to
counteract possible loss of revenue, the Mercedes-
Benz Group continuously monitors the development of
raw-material and energy prices and is in close touch
with suppliers.

Company-specific
risks and opportunities

Risks and opportunities from research

and development

Technical developments and innovations are of key
importance for the safe and sustainable mobility of the
future. The transformation towards electric mobility and
the comprehensive digitalization of vehicles has
resulted in ambitious development targets and the mar-
ket launch of new technologies. In addition to the
resulting opportunities, decisions in favour of certain
technologies and the continuously growing scope of
emission, consumption and safety requirements to be
met are associated with risks.
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There are risks that vehicles cannot be developed
within the planned time frame, in the appropriate qual-
ity or at the specified costs. This is particularly the case
with regard to electric mobility and increasing digitali-
zation as well as software in the vehicle architecture.
There is also a risk that certain digital functions could
be launched on the market later than planned. Supply
chain disruptions can also lead to delays in vehicle
development processes and postpone the launch of
individual model series. The Mercedes-Benz Group
counters these risks by continuously and systematically
monitoring all vehicle projects.

In 2020, Mercedes-Benz Group AG and Mercedes-Benz
USA, LLC (MBUSA) reached agreements with various
US authorities to settle civil and environmental claims
regarding emission control systems of certain diesel
vehicles, which have taken legal effect. If the obliga-
tions from the settlements are not complied with, there
will be the risk that cost-intensive measures will have
to be taken and/or significant stipulated penalties will
become due.

The risks from research and development have risen
from “low” to “medium” due to the increasing electrifi-
cation and digitalization of the vehicle portfolio.



Annual Report 2023 |

Mercedes-Benz Group

Contents To Our Shareholders

Combined Management Report

Corporate Governance

Risk and Opportunity Report

Production risks and opportunities

Due to the increasing technical complexity and the goal
of maintaining and constantly enhancing quality stand-
ards for the luxury vehicles of the Mercedes-Benz
Group, both risks and opportunities can arise in the
automotive segments in connection with the launch
and manufacture of products.

The launch of new products involves risks with regard
to the availability of required components, the scope of
equipment and the necessary production capacities —
especially in the course of the transformation toward
electric mobility and the integration of new technology.
To reduce the attendant risks, the related processes are
continuously evaluated and improved.

Warranty and goodwill cases could arise if the quality
of the products or the parts installed in the products
does not meet requirements despite appropriate qual-
ity assurance processes, if regulations are not fully
complied with, or if support cannot be provided in the
required form in the event of problems and product
maintenance. The Mercedes-Benz Group recognizes
appropriate provisions for warranty and goodwill cases.
Nevertheless, it cannot be ruled out that recalls and
field measures will lead to expenses. Possible claims in
connection with such risks are examined and, if neces-
sary, the appropriate measures are initiated for the
affected products.

Possible production interruptions that were still associ-
ated with the Covid-19 pandemic and the related uncer-
tainties have become less likely in the meantime. As a
result, the production risks are reduced from “medium”
to “low”.

Risks and opportunities from purchasing and
logistics

Interruptions in global supply chains, bottlenecks in the
supply of intermediate goods, and production stop-
pages or underutilization of suppliers' production
capacities can have a negative impact on business
activities in the automotive divisions. Opportunities
may arise, for example, through the implementation of
efficiency-enhancing measures in internal logistics pro-
cesses.

Possible interruptions in global supply chains, espe-
cially those caused by bottlenecks for electronic com-
ponents and other important intermediate goods, can
cause bottlenecks at Mercedes-Benz Cars and
Mercedes-Benz Vans. To avoid such bottleneck situa-
tions for intermediate goods, scarce capacities are
countered by planning ahead. Lack of availability and
quality problems with certain vehicle parts can lead to
production downtimes and cause costs that result in
negative effects on profitability. As a globally operating
company with an international production and sales
network, the Mercedes-Benz Group is dependent on
functioning and efficient logistics processes. In particu-
lar, capacity restrictions or surcharges for the transpor-
tation of vehicles can disrupt logistics processes,
increase their costs and have a negative impact on the
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company’s results. Mercedes-Benz Cars and Mercedes-
Benz Vans analyse these risks on an ongoing basis.
Supplier management is undertaken for the prevention
of risks with the aim of ensuring the quantity and qual-
ity of the components required to produce the vehicles.

The financial situation of some suppliers remains diffi-
cult. The reasons for this are continuing uncertainties in
connection with high commodity, raw-material and
energy prices, as well as the lack of availability of com-
ponents. As a result, production stoppages are possi-
ble along the entire supply chain and could prevent
vehicles from being completed and delivered to cus-
tomers on time. Supplier risk management aims to
identify potential financial bottlenecks at suppliers at
an early stage and to initiate suitable countermeasures.
Specifically, depending on the warning signals recorded
and the internal classification, regular reporting dates
on which key performance indicators are reported to
the Mercedes-Benz Group and any support measures
can be determined if necessary, are agreed upon with
suppliers.
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Due to the transformation to electric mobility and
the outsourcing of important components, there is also
a risk that these will not be available on time in the
planned quantity and required quality; this could delay
the start of production of new series. Risks may also
arise from uncertainties in the planned quantities. This
could have negative effects on profitability.

Information technology risks and opportunities
The systematically pursued digitalization strategy ena-
bles the Mercedes-Benz Group to utilize new opportu-
nities to increase customer utility and the value of the
company. Nonetheless, the high degree of penetration
of all business units by information technology (IT) also
harbours risks for our business and production pro-
cesses and the units’ products and services. Extensive
changes in the existing system landscape, for example
the focus on strategic partnerships for the transforma-
tion of the IT infrastructure, can also lead to risks.

The ever-growing threat from cybercrime and the
spread of aggressive malicious code brings risks that
can affect the availability, integrity and confidentiality
of information and IT-supported operating resources.
Despite extensive precautions, in the worst-case sce-
nario this can lead to a temporary interruption of
IT-supported business processes with severe negative
effects on the Group’s earnings. In addition, the loss or
the misuse of sensitive data may under certain circum-
stances lead to a loss of reputation. In particular,
stricter regulatory requirements such as the EU General
Data Protection Regulation and related legislation may,
among other things, give rise to claims by third parties

and result in costly regulatory requirements and penal-
ties with an impact on earnings.

It is essential for the globally active Mercedes-Benz
Group and its wide-ranging business and production
processes that information is available and can be

exchanged in an up-to-date, complete and correct form.

The internal IT security framework is oriented according
to international standards and also draws on industry
standards and good practices for its protective meas-
ures. New regulatory requirements for cyber security
and cyber security management systems are taken into
account in the further development of processes and
policies. Appropriately secure IT systems and a reliable
IT infrastructure must be used to protect information.
Cyber threats must be identified and dealt with as
appropriate for their criticality over the entire life cycle
of the applications and the IT systems. Special atten-
tion is paid to risks that in the event of their occurrence
give rise to an interruption of business processes due
to IT system failures and to the loss and the falsification
of data. The advancing digitalization and networking of
the means of production is accompanied by coordi-
nated technical and organizational security measures.

Due to growing requirements concerning the confiden-
tiality, integrity and availability of data, the Mercedes-
Benz Group has implemented various preventive and
corrective measures so that the related risks, such as
possible reputational damage, are minimized. For exam-
ple, the Group reduces potential disruptions to opera-
tional processes in computer centres by mirroring data,
decentralizing data storage, maintaining off-site data
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backups and configuring IT systems for high availability.
Emergency plans are drawn up and employees are
trained and regularly made aware in order to remain
capable of action. Specific threats are analysed and
countermeasures are coordinated at a globally active
Cyber Intelligence and Response Centre. The protection
of products and services against the danger of hacking
and cybercrime is continually further developed.

The information technology risks are increasing from

“low” to “medium”. The level of digitalization at the

Mercedes-Benz Group and its suppliers is constantly
increasing and is facing an ever greater external threat
situation worldwide. Despite the stringent implementa-
tion of proactive and reactive measures, this leads to
an increased assessment of IT risk.
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Personnel risks and opportunities

Competition for highly qualified staff and management
is still very intense in the industry and the regions in
which the Mercedes-Benz Group operates. The Group’s
future success also depends on the extent to which it
succeeds over the long term in recruiting, integrating
and retaining specialist employees. The established
human resources instruments take such personnel risks
into consideration. One focus of human resources man-
agement is the targeted personnel development and
further training of the workforce. Among other things,
employees benefit from a wide range of training oppor-
tunities and the transparency created within the frame-
work of performance management. In order to remain
successful as a company, the way we work together and
our leadership culture undergo continuous develop-
ment.

Risks exist in particular due to upcoming negotiations
on collective bargaining conditions and the associated
potential loss of production. Besides the demographic
development, the digital transformation also requires
that the company continues to adapt to changes and
derives measures such as securing a qualified next
generation of specialists and managers, especially with
regard to technical developments. This requirement is
addressed through various measures, including tar-
geted qualification. The Mercedes-Benz Group counters
economic, market and competitive fluctuations by
means of established time and flexibility instruments in
order to react appropriately to the situation.

Risks and opportunities related to equity
investments and cooperations with partnerships
Cooperation with partners in shareholdings and part-
nerships is of key importance to the Mercedes-Benz
Group — among other things, in the transformation
towards electric mobility, the associated charging infra-
structure and comprehensive digitalization. Coopera-
tion and investments also make up an important pillar
in connection with the provision of mobility solutions.
Especially with new technologies, these shareholdings
help us utilize synergies and improve cost structures in
order to respond successfully to the competitive situa-
tion in the automotive industry.

The Mercedes-Benz Group generally participates in the
risks and opportunities of shareholdings in line with its
equity interest, and is also subject to share-price risks
and opportunities if such companies are listed on a
stock exchange. After the spin-off and hive-down of the
Daimler commercial vehicle business, this also applies
to the Group’s remaining minority shareholding in
Daimler Truck Holding AG.

The remeasurement of a holding can lead to risks and
opportunities for the segment to which it is allocated.
Furthermore, ongoing business activities, especially the
integration of employees, technologies and products,
can result in risks. In addition, further financial obliga-
tions or an additional financing requirement can arise.
The shareholdings are subject to a monitoring process
so that, if required, decisions can be promptly made on
whether or not measures can be taken to support or
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ensure profitability. The recoverable value of invest-
ments in shareholdings is also regularly monitored.

Financial risks and
opportunities

The following section deals with the financial risks and
opportunities of the Mercedes-Benz Group. These risks
and opportunities can have negative or positive effects
on the profitability, cash flows and financial position of
the Group.

In principle, the Group’s operating and financial risk
exposures underlying its financial risks and opportuni-
ties can be divided into symmetrical and asymmetrical
risk and opportunity profiles. With the symmetrical
risk and opportunity profiles (e.g. currency exposures),
risks and opportunities exist equally, while with the
asymmetrical risk and opportunity profiles (e.g. credit
and country exposures), the risks outweigh the oppor-
tunities.

The Mercedes-Benz Group is generally exposed to risks
and opportunities from changes in market prices such
as currency exchange rates, interest rates and com-
modity prices. Market price changes can have a nega-
tive or positive influence on the Group’s profitability,
cash flows and financial position. The Mercedes-Benz
Group systematically manages and monitors market
price risks and opportunities, primarily directly in the
context of its business operations and financing



Annual Report 2023 |

Mercedes-Benz Group

Contents To Our Shareholders

Combined Management Report

Corporate Governance

Risk and Opportunity Report

activities, and applies derivative financial instruments
for hedging purposes where needed, thus limiting both
market price risks and opportunities. Risks and oppor-
tunities arising from a change in commodity prices are
reported in the “Procurement market risks and opportu-
nities” category since 31 December 2023.

In addition, the Group is exposed to credit-, country-
and liquidity-related risks, risks of restricted access to
capital markets and risks from changes in credit ratings.
As part of the risk management process, the Mercedes-
Benz Group regularly assesses these risks by consider-
ing changes in key economic indicators and market
information. Consideration of the pension plan assets
to cover retirement and healthcare benefits is included
in the section “Risks and opportunities relating to pen-
sion plans”.

Exchange-rate risks and opportunities

The Mercedes-Benz Group’s global orientation means
that its business operations and financial transactions
are connected with risks and opportunities related to
fluctuations in currency exchange rates. This applies in
particular to fluctuations of the euro against the US dol-
lar, Chinese renminbi, British pound and other curren-
cies such as those of growth markets. An exchange-rate
risk or opportunity arises in business operations pri-
marily when revenue is generated in a currency differ-
ent from that of the related costs (transaction risk).
Regularly updated currency risk exposures are succes-
sively hedged with suitable financial instruments (pre-
dominantly currency forwards) in accordance with
exchange-rate expectations, which are continually

reviewed, whereby both risks and opportunities are lim-
ited. Any over-collateralization caused by changes in
exposure is reversed by suitable measures without
delay. Exchange-rate risks and opportunities also exist
in connection with the translation into euros of the net
assets, revenues and expenses of the companies of the
Group outside the euro zone (currency translation risk);
these risks are not generally hedged.

Interest-rate risks and opportunities

Changes in interest rates can create risks and opportu-
nities for business operations as well as for financial
transactions. The Mercedes-Benz Group employs a vari-
ety of interest rate-sensitive financial instruments to
manage the cash requirements of its business opera-
tions on a day-to-day basis. Most of these financial
instruments are held in connection with the financial
services business of Mercedes-Benz Mobility. Inter-
est-rate risks and opportunities arise when fixed-inter-
est periods are not congruent between the asset and
liability sides of the balance sheet. By means of refi-
nancing coordinated with the terms of the financing
agreements, the risk of maturity mismatch is minimized
from both an interest-rate and a liquidity perspective.
Remaining interest-rate risks are managed with the use
of derivative financial instruments. The funding activi-
ties of the industrial business and the financial services
business are coordinated at the Group level. Derivative
interest-rate instruments such as interest-rate swaps
are used to achieve the desired interest-rate maturities
and asset/liability structures (asset and liability man-
agement).
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Credit risks

Credit risk describes the risk of financial loss resulting
from a counterparty failing to meet its contractual pay-
ment obligations. Credit risk encompasses both the
direct risk of default and the risk of a deterioration of
creditworthiness as well as concentration risks.

The Group is exposed to credit risks which result primar-
ily from its financial services activities and from the
operations of its vehicle business. The risks from leasing
and sales financing are dealt with in the General market
risks and opportunities section.

Credit risks also arise from the Group’s liquid assets.
Should defaults occur, this would adversely affect the
Group’s profitability, liquidity and capital resources,
and financial position. The limit methodology for liquid
funds deposited with financial institutions has been
continuously further developed in recent years. In con-
nection with investment decisions, priority is placed on
the borrower’s very high creditworthiness and on bal-
anced risk diversification. Most liquid assets are held in
investments with an external rating of A or better.
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Country risks

Country risk describes the risk of financial loss resulting
from changes in political, economic, legal or social con-
ditions in the respective country, for example due to
sovereign measures such as expropriation or a ban on
currency transfers. The Mercedes-Benz Group is
exposed to country risks that primarily result from
cross-border financing or collateralization for subsidiar-
ies or customers, from investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures, and from cross-border trade receivables.
Country risks also arise from cross-border cash depos-
its at financial institutions. The Group addresses these
risks by setting country limits (e.g. for hard-currency
portfolios of Mercedes-Benz Mobility companies). The
Mercedes-Benz Group also has an internal rating sys-
tem that divides all countries in which it operates into
risk categories. Compared to the previous year, the
country risk has fallen from “high” to “medium” due to
the discontinuation of business activities in Russia.

Risks of restricted access to capital markets
Liquidity risks arise when a company is unable to fully
meet its financial obligations. In the normal course of
business, the Mercedes-Benz Group uses bonds, com-
mercial paper and securitized transactions, as well as
bank loans in various currencies, primarily with the aim
of refinancing its leasing and sales-financing business.
An increase in the cost of refinancing would have a neg-
ative impact on the competitiveness and profitability of
the financial services business to the extent that the
higher refinancing costs cannot be passed on to cus-
tomers; a limitation of the financial services business
would also have negative consequences for the vehicle

business. Access to capital markets in individual coun-
tries may be limited by government regulations or by a
temporary lack of absorption capacity. In addition,
pending legal proceedings as well as the Group’s own
business policy considerations and developments may
temporarily prevent the Group from covering any liquid-
ity requirements by means of borrowing in the capital
markets. Contractually agreed credit lines are available
as refinancing instruments.

Risks and opportunities from changes in

credit ratings

Risks and opportunities exist in connection with poten-
tial downgrades or upgrades to credit ratings by the rat-
ing agencies, and thus to the Mercedes-Benz Group’s
creditworthiness. Downgrades could have a negative
impact on the Group’s financing if such a downgrade
leads to an increase in the costs for external financing
or restricts the Group’s ability to obtain financing. A
credit rating downgrade could also discourage inves-
tors from investing in Mercedes-Benz Group AG or from
purchasing bonds issued by Mercedes-Benz Group AG
or another company of the Group.

Risks and opportunities relating to pension plans
The companies of the Mercedes-Benz Group grant
defined-benefit pension commitments, which are
largely covered by plan assets, as well as healthcare
commitments to a small extent. The balance of pension
obligations less plan assets constitutes the carrying
amount or funded status of those employee benefit
plans. The measurement of pension obligations and the
calculation of net pension expense are based on
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certain assumptions. Even small changes in those
assumptions such as a change in the discount rates or
changed inflation assumptions have a negative or posi-
tive effect on funded status and Group equity in the
current year, and lead to a change in the periodic net
pension expense in the following year. The fair value of
plan assets is determined to a large degree by develop-
ments in the capital markets. Unfavourable or favoura-
ble developments, especially relating to share prices
and fixed-interest securities, reduce or increase the
carrying value of plan assets. Risk management for the
plan assets takes place through broad diversification of
investments, the selection of various asset managers
on the basis of quantitative and qualitative analyses,
and the ongoing monitoring of returns and risks. The
structure of pension obligations is taken into considera-
tion during the determination of the investment strat-
egy for the plan assets in order to reduce fluctuations of
the funded status. Risks and opportunities relating to
pension plans have declined, due mainly to lower vola-
tility levels on the capital market.
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Legal and tax risks and opportunities

The Group continues to be exposed to legal and tax
risks. Provisions are recognized for those risks if and
insofar as they are likely to be utilized and the amounts
of the obligations can be reasonably estimated.

Legal risks

Regulatory risks

The automotive industry is subject to extensive govern-
mental regulations worldwide. Laws in various jurisdic-
tions govern occupant safety and the environmental
impact of vehicles, including emissions levels, fuel
economy and noise, as well as the emissions of the
plants where vehicles or parts thereof are produced.
Furthermore, regulation, particularly in the European
Union, governs the external reporting on ESG topics
(environmental, social or governance topics), whereby
the complexity of such regulation is continuously
increasing. The introduction of certain new regulations
may initially be associated with uncertainties relating to
their interpretation. In case regulations applicable in
the different regions are not complied with, this could
result in significant penalties, damages claims and rep-
utational harm or, in case of regulations applicable to
vehicles, the inability to certify vehicles in the relevant
markets. The cost of compliance with these regulations
is considerable, and in this context, Mercedes-Benz
continues to expect a significant level of costs.

Risks from legal proceedings in general
Mercedes-Benz Group AG and its subsidiaries are con-
fronted with various legal proceedings and claims as
well as governmental investigations and orders (legal
proceedings) on a large number of topics, including
vehicle safety, emissions, fuel economy, financial ser-
vices, dealer, supplier and other contractual relation-
ships, intellectual property rights (especially patent
infringement lawsuits), warranty claims, environmental
matters, antitrust matters (including actions for dam-
ages) as well as investor litigation. Product-related liti-
gation involves among other things claims alleging
faults in vehicles. Some of these claims are asserted by
way of class actions. If the outcome of such legal pro-
ceedings is detrimental to the Mercedes-Benz Group or
such proceedings are settled, the Group may encounter
substantial financial burdens, e.g. from damages pay-
ments or service actions, recall campaigns, monetary
penalties or other costly actions. Some of these pro-
ceedings and related settlements may also have an
impact on the company’s reputation.
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Risks from legal proceedings in connection with
diesel exhaust-gas emissions — governmental
proceedings

The Mercedes-Benz Group is continuously subject to
governmental information requests, inquiries, investiga-
tions, administrative orders and proceedings relating to
various laws and regulations in connection with diesel
exhaust emissions.

The corresponding activities of various authorities
world-wide, which were already reported in the past,
are partly ongoing, as described below. These activities
particularly relate to test results, the emission control
systems used in Mercedes-Benz diesel vehicles and/or
the interactions of the Mercedes-Benz Group with the
relevant authorities as well as related legal issues and
implications, including, but not limited to, under appli-
cable environmental, criminal, consumer protection and
antitrust laws.

In the United States, Mercedes-Benz Group AG and
Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC (MBUSA) reached agreements
in the third quarter of 2020 with various authorities to
settle civil environmental claims regarding the emission
control systems of certain diesel vehicles. These agree-
ments have become final and effective. The authorities
took the position that the Mercedes-Benz Group had
failed to disclose Auxiliary Emission Control Devices
(AECDs) in certain of its US diesel vehicles and that
several of these AECDs were illegal defeat devices.
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As part of these settlements, the Mercedes-Benz Group
has denied the allegations by the authorities and has
not admitted liability, but has agreed to, among other
things, pay civil penalties, conduct an emission modifi-
cation programme for the affected vehicles and take
certain other measures. The failure to meet certain of
those obligations may trigger additional stipulated pen-
alties. In the first quarter of 2021, the Mercedes-Benz
Group paid the civil penalties.

As already reported, in April 2016, the U.S. Department
of Justice (DQJ) requested that the Mercedes-Benz
Group conduct an internal investigation. The Mercedes-
Benz Group conducted such an internal investigation in
cooperation with the DOJ’s investigation; the DOJ’s
investigation remains open. In addition, further US state
authorities have opened investigations pursuant to
both local environmental and consumer protection laws
and have requested documents and information.

In Canada, the environmental regulator Environment
and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) is conducting an
investigation in connection with Diesel exhaust emis-
sions based on the suspicion of potential violations of,
amongst others, the Canadian Environmental Protection
Act as well as potential undisclosed AECDs and defeat
devices. The Mercedes-Benz Group continues to coop-
erate with the investigating authorities.

In Germany, the Stuttgart public prosecutor’s office
issued a fine notice against Mercedes-Benz in Septem-
ber 2019 based on a negligent violation of supervisory
duties, thereby concluding the related administrative

offense proceedings against Mercedes-Benz. In July
2021, the local court of Boblingen issued penal orders
against three Mercedes-Benz employees based on,
amongst others, fraud, which have become final. The
criminal investigation proceedings of the Stuttgart pub-
lic prosecutor’s office against further Mercedes-Benz
employees on the suspicion of, amongst others, fraud
have meanwhile been discontinued.

Between 2018 and 2020, the German Federal Motor
Transport Authority (KBA) issued subsequent auxiliary
provisions for the EC type approvals of certain
Mercedes-Benz diesel vehicles, and ordered mandatory
recalls as well as, in some cases, stops of the first regis-
tration. In autumn 2022 and in December 2023, the KBA
issued further decisions regarding vehicles equipped
with various EU6 or EU5 diesel engines. In each of
those cases, it held that certain calibrations of speci-
fied functionalities are to be qualified as impermissible
defeat devices. Mercedes-Benz has a contrary legal
opinion on this question and has filed timely objections
against the KBA's administrative orders and determina-
tions mentioned above. Insofar as the KBA has not rem-
edied the objections, Mercedes-Benz has filed lawsuits
with the competent administrative court to have the
controversial questions at issue clarified in a court of
law. Irrespective of such objections and the lawsuits
that are now pending, the Mercedes-Benz Group con-
tinues to cooperate fully with the KBA. To a large extent,
the remidial actions requested by the KBA were devel-
oped by the Mercedes-Benz Group and assessed and
approved by the KBA; the necessary recalls were initi-
ated. For some of the vehicles affected by the KBA's
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decision from December 2023, developments, exami-
nations and approvals of the remidial measures are still
pending. It cannot be ruled out that under certain cir-
cumstances, software updates may have to be
reworked, or further delivery and registration stops may
be ordered or resolved by the company as a precau-
tionary measure, also with regard to the used-car, leas-
ing and financing businesses. In the course of its regular
market supervision, the KBA routinely conducts further
reviews of Mercedes-Benz vehicles and asks questions
about technical elements of the vehicles. In addition,
the Group continues to be in a dialogue with the Ger-
man Federal Ministry for Digital and Transport (BMDV)
to conclude the analysis of the diesel-related emissions
matter and to further the update of affected customer
vehicles. In light of the aforementioned administrative
orders issued by the KBA, and continued discussions
with the KBA and the BMDV, it cannot be ruled out
completely that additional administrative orders may be
issued in the course of the ongoing and/or further
investigations. Since 1 September 2020, this also
applies to responsible authorities of other member
states and the European Commission, which conduct
market surveillance under the new European Type
Approval Regulation and can take measures upon
assumed non-compliance, irrespective of the place of
the original type approval, and also to the British mar-
ket surveillance authority DVSA (Driver and Vehicle
Standards Agency).

In addition to the aforementioned authorities, authori-
ties of various foreign states, particularly the South
Korean Ministry of Environment and the South Korean
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competition authority (Korea Fair Trade Commission)
are conducting various investigations and/or proce-
dures in connection with diesel exhaust emissions. In
this context, these South Korean authorities have made
determinations and imposed sanctions against
Mercedes-Benz which Mercedes-Benz has appealed. In
the same context, national antitrust authorities of vari-
ous countries are also conducting investigations,
including the South Korean antitrust authority, which
has made certain findings and imposed fines on some
car manufacturers. In February 2024, the criminal pro-
ceeding in South Korea was concluded.

The Mercedes-Benz Group continues to fully cooperate
with the authorities and institutions. Irrespective of
such cooperation and in light of the past developments,
it is possible that further regulatory, criminal and
administrative investigative and enforcement actions
and measures relating to the Mercedes-Benz Group
and/or its employees will be taken or administrative
orders will be issued. Additionally, further delays in
obtaining regulatory approvals necessary to introduce
new or recertify existing vehicle models could occur.

Regarding the proceedings and processes still in pro-
gress, the Mercedes-Benz Group cannot at this time
make any statement to their outcome. In light of the
legal positions taken by U.S. regulatory authorities and
the KBA as well as the South Korean Ministry of Envi-
ronment, amongst others, it cannot be ruled out that,
besides these authorities, one or more authorities
worldwide will reach the conclusion that other passen-
ger cars and/or vans with the brand name Mercedes-
Benz or other brand names of the Mercedes-Benz
Group ar